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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains express or implied forward-looking statements that are based on our management’s belief and assumptions
and on information currently available to our management. All statements other than statements of historical fact contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K, including statements regarding our future results of operations or financial condition, business strategy, and plans and objectives of management for future
operations, are forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements because they contain words such as “anticipate,”
“believe,” “contemplate,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “forecast,” “if,” “intend,” “likely,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,”
“seek,” “should,” “target,” “will,” or “would” or the negative of these words or other similar terms or expressions.

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks, uncertainties, and assumptions. Actual results may differ
materially from the forward-looking statements we make. Factors that may cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to:

• our expectations regarding our revenue, expenses, and other operating results, including overall transaction volumes, average revenue per unit, active
locations, dollar-based net revenue retention, gross merchandise volume, and gross payment volume;

• our ability to acquire new customers, expand the number of products our existing customers use, and successfully retain existing customers;

• our ability to develop and release new products and services and the success of any new products, including the continued growth of Olo Pay;

• our ability to develop and release successful enhancements, features, and modifications to our existing products and services;

• our ability to increase usage of our platform and upsell and cross sell additional modules, including to our emerging enterprise customers;

• our ability to attain or sustain our profitability;

• future investments in our business, our anticipated capital expenditures, and our estimates regarding our capital requirements;

• our ability to compete effectively with existing competitors and new market entrants;

• our ability to repurchase shares at all or at the times or in the amounts we desire, and the results of our share repurchase program;

• the costs and success of our sales and marketing efforts, and our ability to promote our brand;

• our ability to identify, recruit, and retain skilled personnel;

• our ability to effectively manage our growth, including any international expansion;

• our ability to realize the anticipated benefits of past or future investments, strategic transactions, or acquisitions, and the risk that the integration of these
acquisitions may disrupt our business and management;

• our ability to protect our intellectual property rights and any costs associated therewith;

• the growth rates of the markets in which we compete;

• our ability to successfully combine and integrate the businesses that we acquire, and to realize the synergies and anticipated strategic, financial, and other
benefits from such acquisitions;

• the effects of public health crises, macroeconomic conditions such as inflation and fluctuating interest rates, tariffs, shifts in consumer preferences, changes
in governmental policies and regulations, and overall market uncertainty;

• our ability to successfully defend or resolve any current or future litigation matters, and to discharge those matters without significant financial penalty or
payments, restrictions on our business and operations, or other remedies; and

• other risks and uncertainties, including those listed in the section entitled “Risk Factors.”
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You should not rely on forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K primarily on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our business,
financial condition, and operating results. These statements are based on information available to us as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. While
we believe that information provides a reasonable basis for these statements, that information may be limited or incomplete. Our statements should not be read
to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all relevant information.

The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to risks, assumptions, uncertainties, and other factors described in
the section entitled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing
environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and uncertainties that could have an impact
on the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The results, events, and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking
statements may not be achieved or occur, and actual results, events, or circumstances could differ materially from those described in the forward-looking
statements.

The forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to reflect events or circumstances after the date of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K or to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law. We may not actually
achieve the plans, intentions, or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements, and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking
statements.

Unless the context otherwise indicates, references in this report to the terms “Olo,” “the Company,” “we,” “our,” and “us” refer to Olo Inc.

“Olo” and other trade names and trademarks of ours appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are our property. This Annual Report on Form 10-
K contains trade names and trademarks of other companies, which are the property of their respective owners. We do not intend our use or display of other
companies’ trade names or trademarks to imply an endorsement or sponsorship of us by such companies, or any relationship with any of these companies.
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RISK FACTOR SUMMARY

Our business operations are subject to numerous risks, factors, and uncertainties, including those outside of our control, that could cause our actual
results to be harmed, including risks regarding the following:

Operational Risks

• Our growth may not be sustainable and depends on our ability to attract new customers, retain revenue from existing customers, and increase sales to both
new and existing customers.

• Our limited operating history with our modules in a new and developing market makes it difficult to evaluate our current business and future prospects,
and may increase the risk that we will not be successful.

• Our business could be harmed if we fail to manage our growth effectively.

• We have made and may continue to make acquisitions or enter into joint ventures or other partnerships, which could divert management’s attention, result
in operating difficulties and dilution to our shareholders, and otherwise disrupt our operations and adversely affect our business, operating results, or
financial position.

• Our future success depends in part on our ability to drive the adoption of our platform by international and small-to-medium business customers, and to
expand into new, on-demand digital commerce verticals.

Commercial Risks

• Our sales cycles can be long and unpredictable, and our sales efforts require considerable investment of time and expense. If our sales cycle lengthens, we
invest substantial resources pursuing unsuccessful sales opportunities, or our customers do not timely onboard and deploy our modules, our operating
results and growth may be harmed.

• Our business depends on customers increasing their use of our platform, and any loss of customers or decline in their use of our platform could materially
and adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

• If we fail to continue to improve and enhance the functionality, performance, reliability, design, security, or scalability of our platform, including the
utilization of evolving artificial intelligence, or AI, and machine learning technologies, in a manner that responds to our customers’ evolving needs, our
business may be adversely affected.

• We currently generate significant revenue from our largest restaurant customers, and the loss or decline in revenue from any of these customers could harm
our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

• Our business is highly competitive. We may not be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors.

Financial Risks

• We have a history of losses and we may be unable to achieve or sustain profitability.

• If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results or prevent fraud. As a result, our
stockholders could lose confidence in our financial reporting, which could harm our business and the trading price of our Class A common stock.

Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties

• Our growth depends in part on the success of our strategic relationships with third parties and our ability to integrate with third-party applications and
software.

• Our Dispatch module currently relies on a limited number of delivery service providers.

• Our Rails module currently relies on a limited number of aggregators.

Legal, Regulatory, Compliance, and Reputational Risks

• Security incidents, data breaches, denial of service attacks or other hacking and phishing attacks on our systems, or the systems with which our platform
integrates, could harm our reputation or subject us to significant liability and adversely affect our business and financial results.
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• We may be subject to claims by third parties of intellectual property infringement.

Employee Related Risks

• If we cannot maintain our corporate culture as we grow, our success and our business and competitive position may be harmed.

Industry Risks

• Unfavorable conditions in our industry or the global economy, or reductions in digital ordering transaction volume or technology spending, have in the
past and could in the future adversely impact the health of our customers, limit our ability to grow our business and negatively affect our results of
operations.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock

• We expect fluctuations in our financial results, making it difficult to project future results, and if we fail to meet the expectations of securities analysts or
investors with respect to our results of operations, our stock price and the value of your investment could decline.

• The dual-class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting control with our Class B stockholders, including our executive
officers, directors, and their affiliates, which will limit your ability to influence the outcome of important transactions and to influence corporate
governance matters, such as electing directors, and to approve material mergers, acquisitions, or other business combination transactions that may not be
aligned with your interests.
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BUSINESS

Overview

We are Olo, a leading open SaaS platform for restaurants. We provide restaurant brands with an enterprise-grade, open SaaS platform that powers their
digital ordering, delivery, and full-stack payment programs and enables brands to collect, analyze, and act on data to drive more personalized guest experiences
and profitable traffic. Our platform and application programming interfaces, or APIs, seamlessly integrate with a wide range of solutions, unifying disparate
technologies across the restaurant ecosystem. Leading restaurant brands trust Olo for its capabilities, reliability, security, scalability, and interoperability. Our
platform currently handles, on average, more than 2.5 million orders per day, and more than 95 million guests have transacted on our platform over the last
year. As of December 31, 2024, our customer base included more than 750 restaurant brands, representing approximately 86,000 active locations, across all
industry service models, including quick service, fast casual, casual dining, family dining, and coffee and snack food.

As a result of our ability to meet restaurant brands’ growing needs, gross merchandise volume, or GMV, which we define as the gross value of orders
processed through our platform, has increased on an annual basis, reaching approximately $29 billion during the year ended December 31, 2024. Gross
payment volume, or GPV, which we define as the gross volume of payments processed through the Olo Pay payment processing solution, has reached
approximately $2.8 billion during the year ended December 31, 2024. Management uses GMV and GPV metrics to assess demand for our products. We also
believe these metrics provide investors with useful supplemental information about the financial performance of our business, enable comparison of financial
results between periods where certain items may vary independent of business performance, and allow for greater transparency with respect to key metrics used
by management in operating our business.

Restaurants are an incredibly complex segment of the retail industry. Restaurant operators must manage the intricacies of food production for just-in-
time consumption and comply with strict health and safety regulations while providing a high-quality and consistent guest experience that engenders loyalty
and trust. Most restaurant brands, which we define as a specific restaurant brand or restaurant chain, do not have the expertise or the resources to develop their
own solutions to manage on-demand digital commerce and are more acutely challenged because their in-store technology consists of a fragmented set of legacy
solutions, many of which were developed before the internet. This technology fragmentation is exacerbated by the prevalence of the franchise model in the
restaurant industry, where franchisee operator groups may use different technology vendors for their restaurant locations than those used by a restaurant brand’s
owned and operated locations. At the same time, third-party marketplaces have provided incremental digital orders for brands, but these orders are less
profitable for the brand than their direct orders and the guest relationship and associated transaction data are owned by the marketplace, not the brand. Due to
its unique complexities and challenges, the restaurant industry has historically been one of the lowest-penetrated on-demand digital commerce segments of the
retail industry, with digital orders accounting for only 18% of total restaurant industry orders in 2024, according to data from Circana.

Our open SaaS platform is purpose-built to meet these complex needs and align with the interests of the restaurant industry. We have developed our
platform in collaboration with many of the leading restaurant brands in the United States. We believe our platform is the only independent open SaaS platform
for restaurants to enable hospitality with modern, restaurant-centric solutions. We offer our platform across three product suites:

• Order. A suite of solutions powering restaurant brands’ on-demand digital commerce operations, enabling a unified digital ordering and
delivery experience for guests, and menu and channel management for brands across their fragmented technology stacks;

• Pay. A fully integrated, payments platform, enabling restaurants to improve operations through unified payment processing management and
reporting across digital and on-premise transactions, advanced fraud prevention; and

• Engage. A suite of marketing solutions that enable restaurants to aggregate and store guest data from Olo Order, Olo Pay, and other sources,
segment it based on guest behavior, and deliver personalized marketing messages to guests that help enhance the restaurant’s direct guest
relationship and increase restaurant traffic.

We continually invest in architectural improvements so that our system can scale in tandem with our continued growth. Additionally, both internal
and external security experts frequently test our system for vulnerabilities. We have never
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experienced a material breach of customer or guest data. Our open SaaS platform integrates with over 400 restaurant technology solutions including point-of-
sale, or POS, systems, aggregators, delivery service providers, or DSPs, ordering service providers, or OSPs, payment processors, user experience, or UX, and
user interface, or UI, providers, and loyalty programs, giving our customers significant control over the configuration and features of their distinct digital
offering.

Our contracts typically have initial terms of three years or longer, with continuous one-to-two-year automatic renewal periods, providing visibility into
our future financial performance. We have a highly efficient go-to-market model as a result of our industry thought leadership, partnership approach with our
restaurant customers, and experienced enterprise sales, customer experience, and implementation teams. Unlike other enterprise software businesses, where the
sales team works to add a single location or division and expand to others, we generally enter into relationships at the brand’s corporate level and strive to
secure exclusivity across all locations. This enables us to deploy our modules across all new and existing brand locations without any additional sales and
marketing costs and to upsell new offerings to the brand itself, rather than each individual location. Our dollar-based net revenue retention approximated 115%
for the three months ended December 31, 2024. See the section below entitled “Key Factors Affecting Our Performance” for additional information on how we
calculate dollar-based net revenue retention.

We generate subscription revenue primarily from our Order platform and Engage solutions. In addition, a portion of our customers purchase an
allotment of monthly orders for a fixed monthly fee and pay us an additional fee for each excess order, which we also consider to be subscription revenue. Our
transaction revenue primarily includes revenue generated from our Olo Pay solution, as well as fees charged to aggregators, channel partners, and other service
providers in our ecosystem on a per transaction basis for access to our Rails and Dispatch modules. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022,
45.5%, 44.7%, and 50.9% of our platform revenue was subscription revenue, respectively, and 54.5%, 55.3%, and 49.1% was transaction revenue, respectively.

Other Business and Macroeconomic Conditions

Our business is susceptible to changes in the global economy and industry dynamics. Inflation and rising food and labor costs prompted some
businesses in the restaurant, food, and delivery sectors to raise prices, which led to lower guest traffic and average order size. Additionally, given the
complexity and fragmentation of restaurant technology, some customer implementation cycles can run longer than expected. We can provide no assurance
whether, or to what extent, global economic and industry dynamics impacting menu prices and customer resources will occur in 2025, or at all.

Our Platform and Products

The Olo platform provides restaurant brands with the capabilities necessary to develop, provision, and operate best-in-class, scalable digital ordering
and delivery services, digital payment programs, and guest data and marketing capabilities. Our platform provides digital order processing, in-restaurant order
management, delivery enablement, digital channel management, a payment solution suitable for enterprise, multi-location brands regardless of service model,
food type, and scale of operations, and guest engagement features. We designed our business model to align with our customers’ success, as it includes both
subscription and transaction-based revenue streams.

Our modular platform includes three product suites: Order, Pay, and Engage, which are summarized below. We believe that brands using all three
suites can generate a guest data “flywheel” that can help them increase sales and guest lifetime value, or LTV. More Order and Pay transactions generate more
guest data. More guest data enables Engage to power targeted marketing campaigns, in turn, driving more Order and Pay transactions and increasing guest
LTV.
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Order. A suite of solutions powering restaurant brands’ on-demand digital commerce operations, enabling a unified digital ordering and delivery
experience for guests, and menu and channel management for brands across their fragmented technology stacks. Modules within the Order suite include:

Ordering Module. Our Ordering module enables restaurants to provide a unified, seamless, and fully branded digital ordering program to their guests
and to process, manage, and integrate digital orders from direct and indirect channels into restaurants’ fragmented legacy systems. The key capabilities
include:

Create Customized Ordering Channels

• White-label native mobile applications (iOS and Android), web, phone-in-order-taking applications, and other digital channels that are
customizable to reflect elements of a brand’s identity (Olo Serve).

• User-interface APIs facilitate the development of rich, fully custom guest experiences across digital channels, such as mobile apps, kiosks,
interactive voice applications, and other digital channels.

Manage Complex Menus

• Store and host discrete versions of the restaurant’s menus that include guest-friendly descriptions and high resolution menu item images
intended to be compliant with the Americans with Disabilities Act.

• Synchronize and manage menu item availability, ingredient modifier availability, and prices on a per-location basis, including limited-time or
regional offers, out-of-stock items or modifiers, and prices, with integrations between established POS and menu management systems.

Process and Monitor Orders and Restaurant Operations

• Transmit orders to the restaurant for preparation and order fulfillment via integrations to established in-restaurant systems, including POS,
menu management systems, and kitchen display systems, or KDS.

• Establish and implement distinct ordering rules and limitations for each order type, including by setting minimum and maximum order size,
or by establishing menu item availability for given meal occasions (individual meals, catering), dayparts (breakfast, lunch, dinner), and
handoff methods (drive-thru, delivery, in-restaurant pick-up, curbside pick-up, dine-in), on a brand-wide or per-location basis.

• Complete ordering functionality for commercial food preparation kitchens and virtual branded concepts with no retail dining space.

• Provide easy-to-navigate in-restaurant order management via Expo, our tablet-friendly web application intended for use by restaurant staff,
which offers visibility into past, current, and upcoming digital orders and handoff methods from all direct and indirect digital channels, and
highlights time-sensitive tasks.

• Utilize permission-based administration tools and reporting to both brand management and in-restaurant staff via the Olo Dashboard.

Enhance Guest Engagement and Build Brand Loyalty

• Create and manage one-time and multi-use promotions via the Olo Coupon Manager, which empowers restaurants to create compelling
promotional offers, build brand loyalty, increase guest engagement, and encourage repeat business.

• Retrieve, apply, and integrate with established guest loyalty and rewards platforms.

• Transmit guest and transaction details to established loyalty and customer relationship management, or CRM, platforms via system
integration, API integration, or webhooks.

3
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Password-less, Secure, and Convenient Checkout Solution

• Olo Borderless, a password-less, secure, and convenient checkout solution, enables guests to expedite their checkout process at any
participating restaurant location within the Olo Borderless network.

Rails Module. Our Rails module is a network aggregator and channel management solution, allowing restaurants to control and syndicate menu,
pricing, location data, and availability, while directly integrating and optimizing orders from third-party marketplaces into the restaurant’s POS
system. Customers can implement Rails as a stand-alone module, separate from Ordering. The key capabilities include:

• Syndicate real-time menu, item availability, price, and location attributes to marketplace and channel partners via a robust API integration on
a brand-wide or per-location basis.

• Transmit marketplace orders via APIs to our Ordering module, and subsequently to all relevant in-restaurant systems such as POS and KDS.

• Fully integrate ordering partners into the Olo platform, without significant infrastructure and personnel investment.

• Eliminate the need for standalone order management tablets by direct API integrations.

• Provide permission-based administration tools and consolidated marketplace sales reporting to both brand management and in-restaurant staff
via the Olo Dashboard.

Dispatch Module. Our Dispatch module is a national fulfillment solution that enables delivery directly from the restaurant’s digital ordering program
channels. The module allows restaurants to offer, manage, and expand direct delivery providers while optimizing price, timing, and service quality
through a network of third-party DSPs and a brand’s own delivery couriers, if available. Customers can implement Dispatch as a stand-alone module,
separate from Ordering. The key capabilities include:

Enable Delivery

• Integrate with a nationwide network of third-party DSPs that are operationalized together on a single software platform and cover more than
99% of our customers’ U.S. store locations.

• Evaluate and select a DSP for each order in real time using a number of different criteria, including time, cost or level of service, either on a
brand-wide or per-location basis. With this flexibility, brands are able to partially or wholly subsidize the cost of delivery to the guest.

• Apply preference to specific DSPs and exclude specific DSPs from participating on a brand-wide or per-location basis.

Manage and Optimize Delivery Logistics

• Include seamless integration with our Ordering module and APIs that allow for full integration to any third-party ordering platform, including
direct integration to in-restaurant POS systems.

• Coordinate the arrival of a DSP or internal delivery personnel with the estimated time an order will be available for pick-up in-restaurant to
work to ensure food is of the highest quality by the time it reaches the guest.

• Monitor and communicate status of en-route deliveries through to completion and provide alerts regarding status changes.

• Provide activity reports and consolidated billing for all deliveries with tools to resolve and adjust billing for unsatisfactory or canceled
deliveries on a brand-wide or per-location basis.
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• Offer comprehensive tools for DSPs, allowing them to create their own delivery areas, optimize their participation by geography, time, and
pricing, and expand demand and additional delivery trips for their drivers.

Catering+ Module. Our Catering+ module enables restaurant brands to offer a branded, dedicated digital ordering channel for large order fulfillment.
Customers can implement Catering+ as a stand-alone module, separate from the Ordering module. The key capabilities include:

Fully Integrated, Enterprise-Grade Digital Ordering Solution for Catering

• Enables guests to place digital catering orders directly with the brand, eliminating the need for restaurant staff to manually enter catering
orders in the POS and synchronizes data across customers’ systems.

• Offers menu separation and separate business hours for catering items and provides account management features that enables restaurant
brands to extend a line of credit to their high-value customers as well as authenticate tax-exempt status and apply appropriate pricing for tax-
exempt organizations.

Streamlined Management Across Direct and Indirect Channels

• Manage catering orders in the same dashboard used for restaurant individual meal digital orders, complete with capacity management tools
like throttling for high order volumes and streamlined catering interactions across channels, including direct digital orders, indirect digital
orders through third-party marketplaces, and digitized call-in orders.

Integration with Olo Platform to Provide Enterprise-Grade Functionality

▪ Integrates with Olo’s Rails, Dispatch, and Pay modules to support delivery, indirect ordering, and payment processing to power a fully
integrated, enterprise-grade catering solution for enterprise brands.

Order Suite Add-On Modules

Kiosk Module. Our Kiosk module enables restaurants to create a digital interface optimized for a physical device to be used in restaurants, allowing a
guest to place an order autonomously. Customers with the Ordering module are able to utilize Kiosk as an add-on module.

Network Module. Our Network module expands restaurant brands’ reach and drives more direct orders from other platforms (e.g., Order with Google,
which places restaurant brands’ direct ordering sites alongside third-party listings on Google search results in order to direct more guests to their direct
ordering properties). Customers with the Ordering and/or Rails modules may utilize Network as an add-on module.

Switchboard Module. Our Switchboard module centralizes inbound phone orders, enabling call center and in-house staff to seamlessly process phone
orders, fully integrating into the restaurant brands’ POS systems. Customers with the Ordering module may utilize Switchboard as an add-on module.

Virtual Brands Module. Our Virtual Brands module enables a pick-up and delivery service model that allows restaurant brands to leverage their
operations to maximize revenue per square foot. Use cases include launching new restaurant concepts in the brand’s existing brick-and-mortar
footprint and testing new menu items without retail overhead. Customers with the Ordering and/or Rails modules may utilize Virtual Brands as an
add-on module.

Pay. A fully integrated, payments platform, enabling restaurants to improve operations through unified payment processing management and
reporting across digital and on-premise transactions, and advanced fraud prevention.

Olo Pay Module. The key capabilities include:

Unified Payment Processing Management

• Manage and reconcile all payments—card-present and card-not-present—in one place via the Olo Dashboard.
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• Provides Payment Card Industry reporting on behalf of brands for all transactions processed via Olo Pay.

Driving Sales

• Optimized with authorization rates in mind, with an automatic retry feature called adaptive acceptance that leverages machine learning to
determine when a transaction should be retried to get an approval.

• Frictionless and simple checkout to drive guests to return.

• Increase basket conversion rates through offering payment options such as mobile wallets and cards-on-file, usable across all brand locations.

Powerful Fraud Prevention

• Advanced fraud prevention designed to improve authorization rates for valid transactions and automatically reject suspect transactions
through risk-score-based screening.

• Uses a wide range of fraud signals and machine learning capabilities to analyze each transaction to identify risky orders while reducing false
positives.

• Leverages fraud data across all of a brand’s stores, other Olo restaurants, and the entire network of stores using this fraud prevention tool,
which includes millions of merchants.

Olo Pay is currently available to brands and locations utilizing Olo’s Ordering module. Card-not-present functionality is generally available, and card-
present functionality is currently available through integrations with select ordering kiosk and POS partnerships, and through our payment gateway
partner.

Engage. A suite of marketing solutions that enable restaurants to aggregate and store guest data from Olo Order, Olo Pay, and other sources, segment
it based on guest behavior, and deliver personalized marketing messages to guests that help enhance the restaurant’s direct guest relationship and increase
restaurant traffic. Modules within the Engage suite include:

Guest Data Platform Module. Our GDP module is purpose-built for restaurants, collecting and analyzing guest data that restaurants can use to power
decisions, campaigns, and growth from one centralized hub. The key capabilities include:

• Purpose-built for restaurants to aggregate guest data from the Olo Order and Olo Pay suites as well as from multiple other sources to create a
unified view of behavior and spend across sales channels.

• Disseminates guest data to end platforms that power business decisions, actions, and ultimately brand growth such as culinary, operations,
marketing, and finance.

Host Module. Our Host module is a front-of-house solution, enabling restaurants to streamline the queue of orders from multiple sales channels,
optimize seat utilization in the dining room, and increase the flow-through of reservation and waitlist parties. The key capabilities include:

• Direct to guest, location-specific reservations and waitlists.

• Wait quote algorithms that leverage machine learning to improve quote accuracy over time, ultimately boosting on-premise guest conversion
rates.

• Integrations with POS and our Ordering module to enable efficient management of both the dining room and queue of online orders.

• Two-way text communication with dine-in guests and those who order for pick-up.

• Automated actions that free up hosts to engage with guests and increase operational efficiency.
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Marketing Module. Our Marketing module provides personalized guest engagement through an all-in-one marketing engine. With the Marketing
module, restaurant brands have the power to manage guest data via CRM, personalize communications, and automatically target guests with tailored
messaging to drive repeat visits and to deepen relationships, unlocking business insights such as LTV at scale. The key capabilities include:

• All-in-one CRM built to capture guest interactions with a restaurant brand and trigger mass and automated email and SMS campaigns that
boost guest frequency, spend, and LTV.

• Advanced segmentation produces insights that can be leveraged for campaign targeting on any channel.

• Advanced tools such as our AI creative assistant that leverages generative AI to empower marketers to instantly craft new content.

Sentiment Module. Our Sentiment module is a guest feedback management solution, allowing restaurants to engage with real-time reviews from
multiple sources and spot trends before they impact sales. The key capabilities include:

• Aggregates third-party reviews and direct feedback surveys into one platform used to reply to guests and track satisfaction trends over time.

• Reporting allows restaurants to proactively address a dip in sentiment overall or by specific category (e.g., food, service), which can be a
leading indicator of sales.

Sync Module. Our Sync module is a simplified local listings management product, which enables restaurants to provide up-to-date data that is
automatically synced between Olo and more than 50 digital publishers to help ensure store information is consistent no matter where guests search.

Our Technology

Our managed multi-tenant, multi-partner open SaaS platform is designed to provide our customers with enterprise-grade security, reliability,
scalability, and performance. Because we have historically integrated with disparate and fragmented technology providers, we have invested significant
development resources into connecting a variety of systems using APIs and other solutions. By sharing infrastructure and code across our customer base, we
believe we will be able to further leverage our technology and technical infrastructure investment. The key components of our technology platform include:

• Enterprise-grade security. Our customers trust our platform with their most sensitive guest and business data and many have run security
assessments of our platform to verify that it has robust security capable of protecting their guest data. We also employ in-house Blue and Red
Security Teams that monitor the platform, testing for and addressing vulnerabilities. Our technology also incorporates privacy-safe practices
and tools as an integral and foundational part of our platform’s approach. We aim to embed privacy best practices into our systems and
infrastructure.

• Platform reliability and resilience. Our platform includes fault-tolerant cloud-based servers and aims to ensure that our platform is highly
reliable. Features are equipped with metrics and logging to provide visibility into operations, with alerts configured to automatically notify
our 24/7 on-call rotation in the event of a problem. We utilize peer reviews, automated tests, feature flags, game days, and other quality
assurance measures. Continuous integration, frequent releases, and infrastructure as code are designed to optimize for efficient deployment.
We are also SOC 1, Type 2 and SOC 2, Type 2 compliant.

• Scalable architecture. We designed the components of our platform to scale for high transaction volumes. We use Amazon Web Services, or
AWS, cloud infrastructure, which we autoscale in order to minimize the risk of outages from surges in traffic. If required, we can also
increase our platform’s capacity with AWS. Multiple layers of caching are leveraged to reduce load on downstream components and improve
performance. We use a content delivery network to serve content and data quickly from various geographical points to our customers and
their guests. We build and extract features as modular services to align with the engineering teams that maintain them, and these services are
scaled independently on their own infrastructure. Where possible, we use event-driven, asynchronous workflows to offload work to
background services. Our system undergoes regular automated load tests. The Olo platform is a “single bench” software, which enables all
our brands to be on the latest version of our products. This means that our product development teams are
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not maintaining older versions of the software and our software development lifecycle allows us to quickly distribute software as soon as it is
ready. The open architecture is supported by end-to-end automation and test suites.

• Focus on the restaurant ecosystem allows extensive integrations. To enable our customers to work with their providers of choice, we
designed our platform to integrate with multiple POS providers, loyalty programs, payment processors, front-end developers, aggregators,
and DSPs. Our platform allows our customers to integrate their systems using our APIs, webhooks, and other specifications. We have
published a POS API and loyalty API specifications that have been adopted by many POS and loyalty providers, respectively. We use both
cloud-based APIs and, where necessary, older in-store agent-based technologies. In-store agent software uses our proprietary real-time
protocol, which can operate over low-bandwidth connections and does not require restaurants to open incoming firewall ports. Customers
may also use our fully managed, white-label web and mobile ordering module, or they may build more tailored front-ends on our APIs. In
some circumstances, a restaurant customer may decide it would like to add additional functionality or a new provider to our platform, and in
those circumstances our development support team may assist in integrating a new provider or technology component.

Our open SaaS platform is built with an extensible mindset. Our products offer restaurant brands a highly customizable white-label ordering
application and the flexibility to integrate with a variety of third party partners. Our customers can easily extend using our open APIs which can be accessed
through a development portal. A development support team assists with facilitating extensions, integrations, and certifications. Large enterprise brands have
used our open ecosystem with the flexibility of our software to build differentiating experiences for their guests using our APIs.

Our Customers

As of December 31, 2024, our customer base included more than 750 restaurant brands, representing approximately 86,000 active locations
nationwide, across all service models of the industry, including quick service, fast casual, casual dining, family dining, and coffee and snack food. We
categorize our customers into two groups: Enterprise, or customers with 100 or more locations, and Emerging Enterprise, or customers with 5-99 locations with
growth aspirations. In every customer relationship, we strive to be the exclusive provider of SaaS solutions that power their digital ordering, delivery,
engagement, and payment programs and enable them to collect, analyze, and act on data to drive more meaningful guest experiences. We sell into the brand’s
corporate level, and aim to achieve 100% deployment across the brand’s franchisee locations. Our contracts typically have initial terms of three years or longer,
with continuous one-to-two year automatic renewal periods, providing visibility into our forward performance.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales team is organized into five groups: Enterprise, Emerging Enterprise, Solutions Consulting, Sales Enablement, and Revenue Operations.
The Enterprise and Emerging Enterprise sales teams actively pursue leads and help take prospective customers through an evaluation and purchase process. We
sell our solution primarily to C-level executives at the restaurant brands that make decisions on behalf of all locations. The sales teams also identify cross-sell
opportunities among our current customer base, particularly focused on Pay, Engage, and newly launched features. Our Solutions Consulting team (formerly
known as Sales Engineering) supports our sellers and prospects with education and exploration of highly technical integrated solutions and in-depth product
demos. Our Sales Enablement and Revenue Operations functions provide go-to-market training for new sellers and support ongoing skill-building and analytics
for the broader sales and marketing teams.

Our customer experience team is organized into four groups: Implementation, Customer Success, Professional Services, and Support. Our
Implementation team oversees all aspects of a customer’s deployment, consisting of project managers and dedicated specialists who provide technical expertise
to our customers. The Customer Success team manages the relationships with our deployed customers, serving as the day-to-day contacts that help them grow
their businesses throughout their lifecycle with Olo. Our Customer Success managers monitor sentiment and program performance to confirm that customers
are receiving value in order to drive long-term retention. Additionally, they partner with our sales team to grow relationships over time through increased usage
of our platform and the adoption of additional modules. Our Professional Services and Support teams work with customers to provide additional value-added
services and address technical and billing inquiries, respectively.

Our marketing team is organized into four functions: Brand Marketing & Communications, Product Marketing, Performance Marketing, and
Content & Creative. We focus our marketing efforts on building brand awareness and reputation,
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generating pipeline, educating the market about our solutions, and commercializing our product. We use a robust list of channels and tactics including public
relations, thought leadership, search engine optimization, paid search, earned and paid social media, account-based marketing, voice of customer programs, and
events to generate our pipeline.

Our business development team is organized across three separate functions: Partner Ecosystem, overseeing our 400+ integration and POS
relationships, Product Partners, supporting our Dispatch, Rails and Network business, and Strategic Alliances/Corporate Development. Our business
development team’s focus is centered on expanding our market influence, nurturing partner ecosystem relationships, and advising on product enhancement
opportunities. The team employs a strategic approach to partnership development, evaluating opportunities and prioritizing those that deliver value to the
business and our customers.

Research and Development

Our research and development, or R&D, teams focus development efforts on new product innovation, integrating our various product offerings and
adding new functionality to existing solutions, thereby enhancing the operability of our modules across our platform and other systems. We are building
infrastructure and products that power restaurants with a commerce engine, to help them scale their digital businesses. R&D is currently focused on product
management, product development, product design and user experience research, and data science and engineering to simplify user experiences for brands,
helping them reach higher volumes and margins.

We invest in developing tools that make it easier for partners and brands to build on and extend Olo’s APIs. We continue to deepen the capabilities
of our current products by seeking to release new innovations on a quarterly basis. As a result, we deliver packaged, highly configurable solutions with
increasing functionality.

Although not currently a significant part of our business, data analytics, artificial intelligence, and machine learning are increasingly informing
improvements to our product features. Our team of internal and external data science advisors informs our product strategies by creating algorithms to solve
complex optimization challenges and delivering meaningful, actionable insights for brands and their guests. We develop machine learning and data science
algorithms with critical safeguards in place to ensure privacy, security, and compliance.

Our platform engineering teams are working towards an owner-operator model, enabling product teams to move faster with self-service tooling,
observability, operational support, scaling, security, and reliability. The engineering teams also work to enhance the stability, security, and scale of the customer
environments. A strong focus on cost optimizations as we scale has been another important goal for this group.

Our product and design teams continue to invest in product discovery and user research that help form new ideas and innovation through customer
conversations and developing a deeper understanding of customer pain points. With over 750 restaurant brand customers and approximately 86,000 locations,
our R&D teams leverage customer feedback to constantly iterate and improve upon our product offerings, as well as to develop new products that meet
customers’ needs.

Human Capital Resources

Our culture is driven by our employees’ passion, trustworthiness, and relentless drive to improve. Our employees are the backbone of our success.
As of December 31, 2024, we had 617 employees operating across the United States. We have a history of being a “remote first” workplace with approximately
87% of our employees working remotely as of December 31, 2024. We are proud of our remote distributed work culture, and we have a concerted focus on
fostering culture and community across all of Team Olo. We work hard to make sure that all employees, including those working remotely, are fully engaged
with the company and their respective teams.

We believe that we are well-equipped to continue to support fully remote work without disruption to our business. None of our employees are
represented by a labor union with respect to their employment. We have not experienced any work stoppages, and we consider our relations with our
employees to be strong.

Attraction, Development, and Retention of Personnel

We are committed to building an inclusive culture that promotes growth and equity for all employees and supports and celebrates everyone’s voices
and perspectives.
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We also offer high-quality benefits, wellness initiatives, and a competitive compensation package designed to attract new employees and to retain,
motivate, and reward current employees. We offer all full-time employees the opportunity to participate in an employee stock purchase plan, to foster a strong
sense of ownership and engage our employees in being committed to our long-term success. Our benefits package is available to all employees working 25+
hours per week and includes competitive health, dental, vision, and disability insurance as well as mental health support and holiday pay.

Our learning and development function offers experiences focused on onboarding, management, leadership, and functional-technical, product, and
soft-skills development. In 2024, we enhanced on our manager development offerings, including a development program called GROW | Olo’s Leadership
Development Program; a 7-month cohort-based program aimed at growing the leader, their team, and Olo.

As part of launching Olo for Good in 2021, we joined Pledge 1%, committing 1% of our fully diluted equity outstanding as of immediately prior to
our initial public offering, 1% of our product, and 1% of employee time to social responsibility initiatives. The Olo for Good initiative includes a donor-advised
fund created through our independent donor-advised fund sponsor, Tides Foundation. In 2024, Olo for Good recommended six non-profits to Tides Foundation
to receive our annual grants. Tides Foundation subsequently donated a total of $900,000 in grants to American Farmland Trust, Food Recovery Network,
Emma’s Torch, Giving Kitchen, Heart of Dinner, and Partnership with Native Americans. In addition, through Tides Foundation, Olo for Good also provided
$129,000 in strategic grants to 10 non-profit organizations in response to various social justice issues and natural disasters. Recipients of these strategic grants
include American Lebanese Syrian Association, Angel Armies, Chow Corp., Code.org, Middle East Children’s Alliance, Ocean Foundation, Share our Strength,
The Trevor Project, Women’s Resource Center, and World Central Kitchen.

Our Competition

The markets in which we compete are competitive and evolving rapidly. Our platform combines functionality from numerous product categories,
and we therefore compete in each of these categories:

• with respect to white-label digital ordering solution providers, we primarily compete with companies such as Lunchbox Technologies, Inc.,
Paytronix Systems, Inc., and Tillster, Inc.;

• with respect to restaurant-focused POS platforms that offer digital ordering solutions in the Enterprise space we primarily compete with
companies such as with NCR Voyix Corporation, PAR Technology Corporation, Qu POS Inc., and Xenial, Inc.;

• with respect to restaurant-focused POS platforms that offer digital ordering solutions in the Emerging Enterprise space, we primarily compete
with companies such as Revel Systems, Inc., Square from Block, Inc., and Toast Inc.;

• with respect to aggregators that provide direct digital ordering solutions, we compete with companies such as DoorDash, Inc., Grubhub from
Wonder Group, and Uber Eats from Uber Technologies, Inc.;

• with respect to third party aggregators, we compete with companies such as Checkmate.com Inc. and Deliverect Inc.;

• with respect to custom software, developed internally by restaurants or in partnership with consultancies and enterprise software providers,
we primarily compete with firms such as Accenture PLC, Boston Consulting Group, Inc., Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, and various
development agencies;

• with respect to payments, we primarily compete with traditional horizontal payment processors such as Chase Paymentech from JPMorgan
Chase & Co., Elavon, Inc., Fiserv, Inc., Heartland Payment Systems, LLC, Shift4 Payments, LLC, and Worldpay, LLC;

• with respect to marketing automation, we primarily compete with companies such as Braze, Inc., Iterable, Inc. and Klaviyo, Inc.;

• with respect to guest data platforms, we primarily compete with enterprise data platforms such as mParticle from Rokt Inc., and Segment
from Twilio Inc.; and
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• with respect to on-premise table management software, we primarily compete with companies such as OpenTable, Inc. and Yelp Inc.

We compete on the basis of a number of factors, including:

• the ability to integrate with existing restaurant technology solutions and be flexible enough to integrate with future technology solutions;

• the ability to operationalize in a prescribed timeframe set by the prospective customer;

• the breadth of offering and ability to furnish specific functionality in the manner desired by the prospective customer;

• solution performance, security, scalability, and reliability;

• the ability to operationally implement with a customer’s infrastructure;

• the ability to operate and support all geographic markets specified by the prospective customer;

• the availability and quality of support and other professional services;

• the ability to integrate our systems seamlessly and at low costs; and

• brand recognition, reputation, and the satisfaction of customers.

We believe that we compete favorably with respect to the factors listed above. However, many of our competitors have greater financial, technical,
and other resources, greater brand recognition, larger sales forces and marketing budgets, broader distribution networks, more diverse product and services
offerings, and larger and more mature intellectual property portfolios. They may be able to leverage these resources to gain business in a manner that
discourages customers from purchasing our offerings. Furthermore, we expect our industry to continue attracting new market entrants, including smaller
emerging companies, which could introduce new offerings. We may also expand into new markets and encounter additional competitors in such markets.

Government Regulation

Our business activities are subject to various federal, state, and local laws, rules, and regulations. From time to time, we may launch pilot programs
or early-stage products, which may subject us to additional state or federal laws or regulations. Compliance with existing or future governmental regulations,
including, but not limited to, those pertaining to business acquisitions, consumer and data protection, and taxes, could have a material impact on our business in
subsequent periods. For more information on the potential impacts of government regulations affecting our business, see the section entitled “Risk Factors.”

Intellectual Property

Intellectual property rights are important to our success. We rely on a combination of copyright, trademark, patent and trade secret laws in the
United States and other jurisdictions, as well as license agreements, confidentiality procedures, non-disclosure agreements with third parties, and other
contractual protections, to protect our intellectual property rights, including our proprietary technology, software, know-how, and brand. We use open-source
software in our services.

As of December 31, 2024, we owned 30 registered trademarks in the United States.

We control access to and use of our proprietary technology and other confidential information through the use of internal and external controls,
including contractual protections with employees, contractors, customers, and partners. We require our employees, consultants, and other third parties to enter
into confidentiality and proprietary information and invention assignment agreements, and we control and monitor access to our software, documentation,
proprietary technology, and other confidential information. Our policy is to require all employees and independent contractors to sign agreements assigning to
us any inventions, trade secrets, works of authorship, developments, processes, and other intellectual property generated by them on our behalf and under
which they agree to protect our confidential information. In addition, our
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commercial agreements with our customers and partners include confidentiality provisions. See the section entitled “Risk Factors” for a description of the risks
related to our intellectual property.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in Delaware in June 2005. In January 2020, we changed our name from Mobo Systems, Inc. to Olo Inc. Our principal
executive offices are located at 285 Fulton Street, One World Trade Center, 82nd Floor, New York, New York 10007, and our telephone number is (212) 260-
0895. Our website address is www.olo.com.

Available Information

We make available at no cost, on our “Investor Relations” website at investors.olo.com, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form
10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, including exhibits, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, or Exchange Act, as soon as reasonably practicable after we have electronically filed such material with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC. All such filings are also available on the SEC’s website at sec.gov.

We also make available at no cost on investors.olo.com, the charters of the committees of our Board of Directors, as well as our Corporate
Governance Guidelines, Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, and our Related Person Transactions Policy.

We may announce material business and financial information to the public about us, our products and services, and other matters through a variety
of means, including filings with the SEC, press releases, public conference calls, webcasts, the investor relations section of our website at investors.olo.com,
and our X (formerly Twitter) account at @Olo in order to achieve broad, non-exclusionary distribution of information to the public and for complying with our
disclosure obligations under Regulation FD. We encourage investors, the media, and others interested in Olo to follow the foregoing channels and review the
information that we make available on such channels, in addition to following our filings with the SEC.

Any updates to the list of disclosure channels through which we will announce information will be posted on the investor relations page on our
website. Information on our website is not incorporated by reference herein.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

A description of the risks and uncertainties associated with our business is set forth below. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties
described below, together with all of the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including Part  II,  Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of, or that we currently believe are not material, may also become important
factors that adversely affect our business. If any of the risks actually occur, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects could be
materially and adversely affected. In that event, the trading price of our Class A common stock could decline.

Operational Risks

Our growth may not be sustainable and depends on our ability to attract new customers, retain revenue from existing customers, and increase
sales to both new and existing customers.

We primarily generate subscription revenue from our Order platform and Engage solutions, and transaction revenue from our Olo Pay modules and
fees charged to aggregators, channel partners, and other service providers in our ecosystem on a per transaction basis for access to our Rails and Dispatch
modules. While the number of customers using our platform, the number of modules that each customer uses, and the volume of transactions on our platform
have grown in recent years, there can be no assurance that we will be able to retain these customers or acquire new customers, deploy additional modules to or
onboard additional locations with these customers or continue to increase the volume of transactions on our platform. Our costs associated with subscription
renewals and additional module deployments are substantially lower than costs associated with generating revenue from new customers. Therefore, if we are
unable to retain or increase revenue from existing customers, even if such losses are offset by an increase in new customers or an increase in other revenues,
our operating results could be adversely impacted.

General economic uncertainty, among other factors, may cause our revenue to fluctuate. You should not rely on our revenue or other operating and
liquidity metrics for any previous quarterly or annual period as an indication of our revenue or revenue growth or other operating and liquidity metrics or their
growth in future periods.

We may also fail to attract new customers, increase the volume of transactions on our platform, retain or increase revenue from existing customers, or
increase sales of our modules to both new and existing customers as a result of a number of factors, including:

• reductions in our current or potential customers’ spending levels, whether due to the general economic climate or other factors;
• reduction in the number of transactions using our modules due to a change in guest preference;
• the labor shortage facing the restaurant industry, which may limit the ability of new or existing customers to adopt our modules;
• competitive factors affecting the software as a service, or SaaS, or restaurant brand software applications markets, including the introduction of

competing platforms, discount pricing, and other strategies that may be implemented by our competitors;
• our ability to execute on our growth strategy and operating plans;
• a decline in our customers’ level of satisfaction with our platform and customers’ usage of our platform;
• a decline in the number of customer locations utilizing our services;
• the ability of our customers to switch to a competitor or develop their own internal platform solutions;
• changes in the size and complexity of our customer relationships;
• reduced liquidity of our existing customers, which could negatively impact the collectability of outstanding receivables and our cash flows;
• changes in our relationships with third parties, including our delivery service provider, or DSP, ordering aggregator, customer loyalty, and payment

processor partners;
• failure to maintain compatibility with third party systems or failure to integrate with new systems;
• the timeliness and success of new modules we may develop;
• concerns relating to actual or perceived security breaches;
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• the frequency and severity of any system outages; and
• technological changes or problems.

Additionally, we anticipate that our revenue growth rate will decline over time as the number of customers using our platform increases and we
achieve higher market penetration rates. Furthermore, as our market penetration among larger potential customers increases, we have in the past and may in the
future target smaller customers to maintain our revenue growth rates, which could result in lower gross profits. As our growth rate declines, investors’
perception of our business may be adversely affected and the trading price of our Class A common stock could decline as a result. To the extent our growth rate
slows, our business performance will become increasingly dependent on our ability to retain revenue from existing customers and increase sales to existing
customers.

Our limited operating history with our modules in a new and developing market makes it difficult to evaluate our current business and future
prospects, and may increase the risk that we will not be successful.

Our platform currently includes the following modules: Ordering, Dispatch, Rails, Switchboard, Network, Virtual Brands, Kiosk, Catering+, Sync,
GDP, Marketing, Sentiment, Host, and Olo Pay. While expansion of solutions and modules, our pricing model, and an increase in transaction volumes have
contributed significantly to our recent growth in revenue, we have limited experience with these solutions and modules and our transactional-based pricing
model, which makes it difficult to accurately assess our future prospects. You should consider our future prospects in light of the challenges and uncertainties
that we face, including:

• the fact that our business has grown rapidly and it may not be possible to fully discern the trends that we are subject to, including negative trends we
may experience following changes in guest preferences;

• that we operate in a new and developing market with a rapidly changing competitive landscape;
• that we may be unable to accurately predict our revenue and operating expenses for new modules that we release;
• that we may be unable to enhance or retain our brand among customers and potential customers;
• that we may in the future enter into additional new and developing markets that may not develop as we expect or that our platform or modules may

not adequately address; and
• that elements of our business strategy are new and subject to ongoing development.

We have encountered and will continue to encounter risks and difficulties frequently experienced by growing companies in rapidly changing
industries, including increasing and unforeseen expenses as we continue to grow our business. If our assumptions regarding these risks and uncertainties, which
we use to plan and operate our business, are incorrect or change, or if we do not manage these risks successfully, our reputation, business, results of operations,
and prospects will be harmed.

Our business could be harmed if we fail to manage our growth effectively.

The rapid growth we have experienced in our business places significant demands on our operational infrastructure. The scalability and flexibility of
our platform depends on the functionality of our technology and cloud infrastructure and its ability to handle increased traffic and demand. The growth in the
number of third-party ecosystem partners, customers using our platform, and the number of orders processed, coordinated, and delivered through our modules
has increased the amount of data and requests that we process. Additionally, new modules, solutions, services, and restaurant ecosystem partners that we
integrate may significantly increase the load on our technology infrastructure. Any problems with the transmission or storage of increased data and requests
could result in harm to our brand or reputation. Moreover, as our business grows, we will need to devote additional resources to improving our operational
infrastructure and continuing to enhance its scalability in order to maintain the performance of our platform, including by improving or expanding cloud
infrastructure.

This rapid growth has also placed, and will likely continue to place, a significant strain on our managerial, administrative, operational, financial, and
other resources. As a result, we intend to increase headcount in the future to further expand our overall business, with no assurance that our revenue will
continue to grow. As we grow, we will be required to continue to improve our operational and financial controls and reporting procedures and we may not be
able to do so effectively. In addition, our management team has little experience leading a large, potentially global business operation, so our management may
not be able to lead any such growth effectively.
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We have made and may continue to make acquisitions or enter into joint ventures or other partnerships, which could divert management’s
attention, result in operating difficulties and dilution to our shareholders, and otherwise disrupt our operations and adversely affect our business,
operating results, or financial position.

From time to time, we may evaluate potential strategic acquisition, joint venture or partnership opportunities, such as our acquisitions of Wisely Inc.,
or Wisely, and Omnivore Technologies, Inc., or Omnivore. Any transactions that we enter into could materially affect our business, financial condition, and
results of operations. The process of acquiring and integrating another company or technology could create unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures.
Acquisitions and other partnerships involve a number of risks, such as:

• diversion of management time and focus from operating our business;
• use of resources that are needed in other areas of our business;
• in the case of an acquisition, implementation or remediation of controls, procedures, and policies of the acquired company;
• in the case of an acquisition, difficulty integrating the accounting systems and operations of the acquired company and maintaining the quality and

security standards consistent with our brand, including potential risks to our corporate culture;
• coordination of product, engineering, and selling and marketing functions, including difficulties and additional expenses associated with supporting

legacy services and platform and hosting infrastructure of the acquired company, difficulties remediating cybersecurity or other vulnerabilities in the
technology of acquired companies, and difficulty converting the customers of the acquired company onto our platform and contract terms, including
disparities in the revenue, licensing, support, or professional services model of the acquired company;

• in the case of an acquisition, retention and integration of employees from the acquired company, including any employees outside of the United States;
• unforeseen costs or liabilities, including potential legal liability for violations of applicable law, industry rules or regulations arising from prior or

ongoing acts or omissions by the acquired company or partner that are not discovered by due diligence during the acquisition or partnership process;
• adverse effects on our existing business relationships with partners and/or customers as a result of the acquisition or joint venture;
• the possibility of adverse tax consequences;
• the assumption or incurrence of additional debt obligations or expenses, or use of substantial portions of our cash;
• the issuance of equity securities to finance, or as consideration for, any acquisitions that dilute the ownership of our stockholders;
• the issuance of equity securities to finance, or as consideration for, any acquisitions may not be an option if the price of our common stock is low or

volatile, which could preclude us from completing any such acquisitions;
• litigation or other claims arising in connection with the acquired company or partner; and
• in the case of foreign acquisitions or with respect to employees located outside the United States, the need to integrate operations across different

cultures and languages and to address the particular economic, currency, political, legal, and regulatory risks associated with specific countries.

In addition, a significant portion of the purchase price of companies we acquire may be allocated to acquired goodwill and other intangible assets,
which must be assessed for impairment at least annually. In the future, if our acquisitions do not yield expected returns, we may be required to take charges to
our operating results based on this impairment assessment process, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

We may not be able to identify acquisition or investment opportunities that meet our strategic objectives or, to the extent such opportunities are
identified, we may not be able to negotiate terms with respect to the acquisition or investment that are acceptable to us.

The Wisely Acquisition in November 2021 and Omnivore Acquisition in March 2022 involved the assumption of and exposure to various liabilities
relating to the conduct of the Wisely and Omnivore businesses and have in the past and may in the future create numerous risks and uncertainties, which could
adversely affect our financial condition and operating results. If
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any issues arise, we may not be entitled to sufficient, or any, indemnification or recourse, which could have a materially adverse impact on our business and
results of operations.

Further, the additions of businesses entail many changes, including the integration of each respective business and its technology and products, as well
as changes in systems. These integration activities are complex, and we may encounter unexpected difficulties and incur unexpected costs or experience
business disruptions. In addition, we may be required to spend additional time or money on integration that otherwise would be spent on the development and
expansion of our existing business. There can be no assurance that any of the acquisitions we may make will be successful or will be, or will remain, profitable.

Our future success depends in part on our ability to drive the adoption of our platform by international and small-to-medium business customers,
and to expand into new, on-demand digital commerce verticals.

Although we currently do not derive significant revenue from customer accounts located outside the United States, and do not derive any material
revenue from customer accounts outside of North America, the future success of our business may depend, in part, on our ability to expand our customer base
worldwide. However, because we have limited experience with international customers or in selling our platform internationally, our business model may not
be successful or have the same traction outside the United States. As a result, our investment in marketing our platform to these potential customers may not be
successful. Additionally, our success may depend in part on our ability to increase our partnerships with small-to-medium business customers. These customers
may have different requirements than our larger restaurant brand customers, and therefore may not find our platform to be as attractive as our existing
customers. They may also be unwilling to agree to pay subscription or transactional fees for our platform or modules at the levels required to make these
transactions profitable, we may be exposed to foreign exchange risks, or they may request additional functionality, training, customer service, or software
integrations. We also believe that our platform can be applied to other on-demand digital commerce verticals beyond the restaurant industry, and we plan to
focus on sectors or opportunities that are also undergoing the digital transformations. If we are unable to increase the revenue that we derive from international
and small-to-medium business restaurant customers, or deploy our platform in other on-demand digital commerce verticals, then our business, results of
operations, and financial condition may be adversely affected.

We may be unable to achieve or maintain data transmission capacity.

Our customers often draw significant numbers of guests to their websites and mobile applications over short periods of time, including during key
television events, marketing events, holidays, or during peak delivery times, which significantly increases the traffic on our servers and the volume of
transactions processed on our platform. Our infrastructure or software has in the past and may in the future be unable to achieve or maintain capacity high
enough to handle increased traffic or process transactions in a timely manner. Our failure to achieve or maintain high capacity could significantly reduce
demand for our platform. Further, as we continue to attract restaurant customers, the volume of data stored and transactions processed on our platform will
increase, especially if such customers draw significant numbers of guests over short periods of time. In the future, we may be required to allocate resources,
including spending substantial amounts of money, to build, purchase or lease additional infrastructure in order to handle the increased load. Our ability to
deliver our platform also depends on the development and maintenance of internet and mobile application infrastructure by third parties, including by our cloud
service provider. Such development and maintenance includes the maintenance of reliable networks with the necessary speed, data capacity, and bandwidth. If
one of these third parties suffers from capacity constraints, our business may be adversely affected.

Our business and prospects would be harmed if changes to technologies used in our platform or new versions or upgrades of operating systems or
applications adversely impact the process by which customers and guests interface with our platform.

We believe that our platform’s functionality, simplicity, positive user experience, and ability to integrate with multiple technology partners in the
restaurant ecosystem have helped us to expand and offer our platform to customers who may have limited technical personnel. In the future, providers of
mobile, website or other operating systems or applications could introduce new features, policies or rules that would make it difficult for customers to use our
platform. In addition, mobile devices, websites, operating systems or other applications have in the past and could in the future introduce new features, change
existing operating systems, application programming interfaces, or APIs, or other specifications such that they would be incompatible with our platform, or
prevent delivery or aggregator partners from accessing customers who are using our platform. Any changes to technologies used in our platform, existing
features that we rely on, or operating systems, APIs or applications that make it difficult for customers to access our platform or guests to access our customers’
ordering applications or websites, may make it more difficult for us to maintain or increase our revenue and could adversely impact our business and prospects.
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We experience significant seasonal fluctuations in our financial results, which could cause our stock price to fluctuate.

Our business is highly dependent on the behavior patterns of restaurant brands and guests. We may experience a relative increase or decrease in the
use of our modules depending on the season and customer type, which may be difficult to assess. Additionally, our revenue can also be impacted by sales
cycles and seasonality, which vary depending on customer type. For example, our restaurant customers typically experience a decrease in orders on or around
certain holidays and an increase in orders during the winter months. Finally, even after we have executed a contract with a customer, deployment of our
platform and the related modules is typically lower than average in the fourth quarter. As a result, seasonality will likely cause fluctuations in our financial
results on a quarterly basis, and other seasonality trends may develop that may similarly impact our results of operations.

Failure to meet ESG expectations or standards or achieve our ESG goals could adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial
condition or stock price.

There has been an increased focus from stakeholders on environmental, social, and governance, or ESG, matters, including greenhouse gas emissions
and climate-related risks; diversity, equity, and inclusion, or DEI; responsible sourcing and supply chain; human rights and social responsibility; and corporate
governance and oversight. We actively manage these issues and have established and publicly announced certain goals, commitments, and targets which we
may refine or even expand further in the future. These goals, commitments, and targets reflect our current plans and aspirations and are not guarantees that we
will be able to achieve them. Evolving stakeholder expectations and our efforts and ability to manage these issues, provide updates on them, and accomplish
our goals, commitments, and targets present numerous operational, regulatory, reputational, financial, legal, and other risks, any of which may be outside of our
control or could have a material adverse impact on our business, including on our reputation and stock price. Further, there is uncertainty around the accounting
standards and climate-related disclosures associated with emerging laws and reporting requirements and the related costs to comply with the emerging
regulations. Our failure or perceived failure to achieve our ESG goals, maintain ESG practices or comply with emerging ESG regulations that meet evolving
regulatory or stakeholder expectations could harm our reputation, adversely impact our ability to attract and retain customers and talent, and expose us to
increased scrutiny from the investment community and enforcement authorities.

In addition, in recent years “anti-ESG” sentiment has gained momentum across the U.S., with several states and Congress having proposed or enacted
“anti-ESG” policies, legislation, or initiatives or issued related legal opinions, and President Donald J. Trump issued an executive order discouraging DEI
initiatives in the private sector. Such anti-ESG and anti-DEI-related policies, legislation, initiatives, litigation, legal opinions, and scrutiny could result in
volatility of our stock price and we could face additional compliance obligations or become the subject of investigations and enforcement actions. Our
reputation also may be harmed by the perceptions that our stakeholders have about our action or inaction on ESG and DEI-related issues. Damage to our
reputation and loss of brand equity may reduce demand for our products and services and thus have an adverse effect on our future financial results, as well as
require additional resources to rebuild our reputation and could also reduce our stock price.

Commercial Risks

Our sales cycles can be long and unpredictable, and our sales efforts require considerable investment of time and expense. If our sales cycle
lengthens, we invest substantial resources pursuing unsuccessful sales opportunities, or our customers do not timely onboard and deploy our modules, our
operating results and growth may be harmed.

We have historically incurred significant costs and experienced long sales cycles when selling to customers. In the restaurant market segment, the
decision to adopt our modules may require the approval of multiple technical and business decision makers, including security, compliance, operations, finance
and treasury, marketing, and IT. In addition, before committing to deploy our modules at scale, restaurant customers often require extensive education about
our modules and significant support time with our employees or pilot programs, engage in protracted pricing negotiations, and seek to secure development
resources.

Additionally, sales cycles for restaurant customers in general, and larger restaurants in particular, are inherently complex and unpredictable. These
complex and resource intensive sales efforts could place additional strain on our development and engineering resources. Our standard contracts state that we
will be the exclusive provider of digital ordering services to the restaurant brand, and the restaurant brand must use best efforts to ensure their operators also
use Olo exclusively. However, not all of our contracts that we enter into with restaurant brands provide that we will be the exclusive provider of
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digital ordering services, as we have in the past and may in the future agree to waive exclusivity for various reasons. We strive for exclusivity across all
locations, but because operators are not required to use Olo, we have in the past had and may in the future have some locations of a restaurant brand choose not
to use our platform. Further, even after our restaurant brands contract to use our platform, individual locations or any future new locations may require
extensive integration or deployment resources from us before they become active locations, which have at times extended to multiple quarterly periods
following the execution of an agreement with us.

Because we generally only generate transaction revenue after our platform is deployed, we have in the past and may in the future experience delays in
the deployment of our platform with our customers which has in the past and may in the future harm our results of operations and financial condition. If we are
unsuccessful in closing sales after expending significant funds and management resources, or we experience delays in the deployment of our platform to
customers or incur greater than anticipated costs, our business, financial condition, and results of operations have in the past and may in the future be adversely
affected.

Our business depends on customers increasing their use of our platform, and any loss of customers or decline in their use of our platform could
materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Our ability to grow and generate incremental revenue depends, in part, on our ability to maintain and grow our relationships with existing customers,
to have them increase their deployment and use of our platform and modules, and to increase or maintain transaction volume on our platform. Although our
customers generally have multi-year contracts with us, they generally have the right to elect not to renew by providing at least 90 days’ written notice prior to
the expiration date of the contract. In addition, if our customers do not increase their use of our platform or adopt and deploy additional modules, or if they
reduce the number of locations using our platform, then our revenue may decline and our results of operations may be harmed. Customers in the past have not
renewed, and in the future may not renew their contracts with us or reduce their use of our platform for any number of reasons, including if they are not
satisfied with our platform or modules, the value proposition of our platform or our ability to meet their needs and expectations, security or platform reliability
issues, or if they decide to directly integrate with one or more of our partners, build their own solution internally or temporarily or permanently close their
restaurants in a location.

Additionally, guests have in the past and may in the future change their purchasing habits or reduce their orders from our current customers, which
could harm their business and reduce their use of our platform. We cannot accurately predict our customers’ usage levels and the loss of customers or
reductions in the number of locations that use our platform or their usage levels of our modules may each have a negative impact on our business, results of
operations, and financial condition and may cause our expansion rate to decline. If a significant number of customers cease using, or reduce their usage of our
platform, then we may be required to spend significantly more on sales and marketing than we currently plan to spend in order to maintain or increase revenue
from our customers. Such additional sales and marketing expenditures could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

If we fail to continue to improve and enhance the functionality, performance, reliability, design, security or scalability of our platform, including
the utilization of evolving artificial intelligence, or AI, and machine learning technologies, in a manner that responds to our customers’ evolving needs, our
business may be adversely affected.

The on-demand digital commerce and digital ordering markets are characterized by rapid technological change, frequent new product and service
introductions, and evolving industry standards. Our success has been based on our ability to identify and anticipate the needs of our customers and design and
maintain a platform that provides them with the tools they need to operate their businesses in a manner that is productive and meets or exceeds their
expectations. Our ability to attract new customers, retain revenue from existing customers, and increase sales to both new and existing customers will depend in
large part on our ability to continue to improve and enhance the functionality, performance, reliability, design, security, and scalability of our platform.
Additionally, to achieve and maintain market acceptance for our platform, we must effectively integrate with new or existing software solutions that meet
changing customer demands in a timely manner.

As we expand our platform and services, and as the number of our customers with higher volume sales increases, we expect that we will need to offer
increased functionality, scalability, and support, including to keep our platform, systems, and services secure, which requires us to devote additional resources
to such efforts. To the extent we are not able to enhance our platform’s functionality in order to maintain its utility and security, enhance our platform’s
scalability in order to maintain its performance and availability, or improve our support functions in order to meet increased customer service demands, our
business, operating results, and financial condition could be adversely affected.
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We may experience difficulties with software development that could delay or prevent the development, deployment, introduction or implementation
of new modules and enhancements. Software development involves a significant amount of time, as it can take our developers months to update, code, and test
new and upgraded modules, and integrate those modules into our platform. We must also continually update, test, certify, maintain, and enhance our software
platform. We may make significant investments in new modules or enhancements that may not achieve expected returns. The continual improvement and
enhancement of our platform requires significant investment and we may not have the resources to make such investment. Our improvements and
enhancements may not result in our ability to recoup our investments in a timely manner, or at all. The improvement and enhancement of the functionality,
performance, reliability, design, security, and scalability of our platform is expensive and complex, and to the extent we are not able to perform it in a manner
that responds to our customers’ evolving needs, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be adversely affected.

We currently generate significant revenue from our largest restaurant customers, and the loss or decline in revenue from any of these customers
could harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, our ten largest restaurant customers generated an aggregate of approximately 15% of our revenue. Although
these customers enter into contracts with us, our largest customers have in the past, and may in the future, reduce or terminate their usage of our platform,
reduce the number of locations using our platform, or decide not to renew their agreements with us. Our customers have in the past, and may in the future,
choose to develop their own solutions that do not utilize any or all of our modules. They also may demand price reductions as their usage of our modules
increases, due to competitive pressures, changes in economic conditions or otherwise, which could have an adverse impact on our gross margin. If we are
unable to increase the revenue that we derive from these customers, then our business, results of operations, and financial condition may be adversely affected.

We have lost in the past, and we may lose in the future, one or more of our largest restaurant customers. While no such losses have been material to
date, in the event that any of our largest restaurant customers do not continue to use our platform, use fewer of our modules, use our modules in a more limited
capacity, or not at all, reduce the number of locations using our platform, or if the volume of transactions processed on our platform declines, our business,
results of operations, and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Our business is highly competitive. We may not be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors.

We face competition in various aspects of our business and we expect such competition to intensify in the future, as existing and new competitors,
including some of our current ecosystem partners, introduce new solutions or enhance existing solutions that are directly competitive with our modules. Our
platform combines functionality from numerous product categories, and we may compete against providers in each of these categories including white-label
digital ordering solution providers, restaurant-focused POS platforms, aggregators that provide direct digital ordering solutions, and custom software providers.
Our potential new or existing competitors may be able to develop solutions that are better received by customers or may be able to respond more quickly and
effectively than we can to new or changing opportunities, technologies, regulations or customer requirements. Some ordering aggregators sell solutions that are
competitive with our core platform and they may become more aggressive in their sales tactics, including by bundling competitive solutions with their delivery
or aggregator products. If competitors, many of which are much better capitalized than we are, are successful in providing our customers with a more attractive
solution or pricing, our business and results of operation may be harmed. In addition, as we adopt new modules or expand into new markets, we will continue
to encounter varying competitive dynamics in such markets.

Competition may intensify as current or future competitors enter into business combinations or alliances or raise additional capital, or as established
companies in other market segments or geographic markets expand into our market segments or geographic markets. For instance, current or future competitors
could use strong or dominant positions in one or more markets to gain a competitive advantage against us in areas where we operate, including by integrating
additional or competing platforms or features into solutions they control, such as additional payment, rewards, or delivery platforms or features. In addition,
certain customers may choose to partner with our competitors in a specific geographic market, or choose to engage exclusively with our competitors. Further,
our current ecosystem partners could add features to their solutions, including POS functionality, limit or terminate the availability of their products on our
platform, or directly compete with our solutions by expanding their product offerings. Current and future competitors, including our current ecosystem
partners, may also choose to offer a different pricing model or to undercut prices in an effort to increase their market share. If we cannot compete successfully
against current and future competitors, our business, results of operations, and financial condition could be negatively impacted.
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Mergers of or other strategic transactions by our competitors, our customers, or our partners could weaken our competitive position or reduce our
revenue.

If one or more of our competitors, aggregator partners, or DSPs were to consolidate or partner with another one of our competitors, aggregator
partners, or DSPs, the change in landscape could adversely affect our ability to compete effectively. Our competitors may also establish or strengthen
cooperative relationships with our third party ecosystem partners, thereby limiting our ability to promote our platform. In addition, we may lose customers that
merge with or are acquired by companies using a competitor’s or an internally developed solution. Disruptions in our business caused by these events could
adversely affect our revenue growth and results of operations.

Our pricing decisions and pricing models may adversely affect our ability to attract new customers and retain existing customers.

Our platform currently includes the following modules: Ordering, Dispatch, Rails, Switchboard, Network, Virtual Brands, Kiosk, Catering+, Sync,
GDP, Marketing, Sentiment, Host, and Olo Pay. We began commercially offering Olo Pay in the first quarter of 2022. As a result, we have limited experience
determining the optimal prices for our modules and may be unable to convert existing customers from a flat-fee model to a transactional based pricing model.
We have changed our pricing model from time to time and expect to do so in the future or sell new modules. However, given our limited experience with
selling new modules, it may turn out that the new pricing models, or the pricing for any other modules we may develop, is not optimal, which may result in our
modules not being profitable or not gaining market share. As competitors, including our ecosystem partners, introduce new solutions that compete with ours,
especially in the digital ordering and delivery spaces where we face significant competition, we may be unable to attract new customers at the same price or
based on the same pricing models that we have used historically. Pricing decisions and pricing models may also impact the mix of adoption among our modules
and negatively impact our overall revenue. Moreover, restaurants may be sensitive to price increases or to the prices offered by competitors. As a result, in the
future we may be required to reduce our prices, which could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Financial Risks

We have a history of losses and we may be unable to achieve or sustain profitability.

We have incurred significant losses since inception and we may not achieve or sustain profitability. We incurred net losses of $0.9 million, $58.3
million, and $46.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 respectively. As of December 31, 2024, we had an accumulated deficit of
$216.7  million. These losses and accumulated deficit are a result of the substantial investments we made to grow our business and we expect to make
significant expenditures to expand our business in the future. We may continue to incur losses in the short-term as we increase our operating expenses,
including, without limitation, as a result of expected increases in:

• sales and marketing expenses, as we continue to spend on marketing activities and expand our sales efforts;
• research and development expenses, as we continue to introduce new modules to extend the functionality of our platform;
• expenses related to customer service and support, which is critical to our continued success and ability to maintain a strong reputation for our brand;
• expenses related to the successful integration of any acquired businesses, including sales and marketing, research and development, finance, legal, and

information technologies expenses;
• expenses related to further investments in our network infrastructure in order to support the continued growth of our business and to meet the demands

of continuously changing security and operational requirements; and
• general costs and administrative expenses as a result of our continued growth and the costs associated with being a public company.

These increased expenditures will make it harder for us to achieve or sustain profitability and we cannot predict if we will achieve or sustain
profitability in the short-term or at all. In certain prior years, our costs have increased due to these investments, and we expect to invest substantial resources to
support our anticipated future growth. In addition, the costs associated with acquiring new customers may materially rise in the future, including if we expand
international sales efforts outside of the United States and Canada, increase our efforts to pursue small-to-medium business restaurant brands, or increase sales
efforts to other verticals. If we are unable to generate adequate revenue growth and manage our expenses, we may continue to incur significant losses and may
not achieve or sustain profitability.
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We may also make decisions that would reduce our short-term operating results if we believe those decisions will improve the experiences of our
customers and guests and if we believe such decisions will improve our operating results over the long-term. These decisions may not be consistent with the
expectations of investors and may not produce the long-term benefits that we expect, in which case our business may be materially harmed.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results or prevent fraud. As a
result, our stockholders could lose confidence in our financial reporting, which could harm our business and the trading price of our Class A common
stock.

A material weakness is a deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of our consolidated financial statements would not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. A previously identified
material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting related to the lack of sufficient qualified personnel who possessed an appropriate level of
technical expertise and did not design and maintain effective controls over complex technical accounting matters for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022.
Although this material weakness was subsequently remediated as of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, there can be no assurance that we will not
identify additional material weaknesses in the future, that measures we may take will be sufficient to remediate the material weaknesses, or that such measures
will prevent or avoid potential future material weaknesses.

As our business changes, our internal controls may become more complex and we may be required to expend significantly more resources to ensure
our internal controls remain effective. Failure to implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation, could harm
our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. If we or our independent registered public accounting firm identify additional
material weaknesses, the disclosure of that fact, even if quickly remediated, could reduce the market’s confidence in our financial statements and harm our
stock price. We cannot be certain that our internal control measures will provide in the future adequate control over our financial processes and reporting and
ensure compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, or Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Any failure to develop or maintain effective
controls, or any difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement, could harm our operating results, may result in a restatement of our financial
statements for prior periods, cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations, and could adversely affect the results of periodic management evaluations and
annual independent registered public accounting firm attestation reports regarding the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting that we are
required to include in the periodic reports we will file with the SEC.

Provisions of our financial instruments may restrict our ability to pursue our business strategies.

We currently have a credit facility, which requires us, and any debt instruments we may enter into in the future may require us, to comply with various
covenants that limit our ability to, among other things:

• dispose of or encumber assets;
• complete mergers or acquisitions;
• incur additional indebtedness;
• pay dividends or make other distributions to holders of our shares;
• make specified investments;
• change certain key management personnel;
• engage in transactions with affiliates; and
• engage in any business other than the businesses in which we currently engage.

These restrictions could inhibit our ability to pursue our business strategies. If we default under our credit facility, and such event of default is not
cured or waived, the lender could terminate commitments to lend and cause all amounts outstanding with respect to the debt to be due and payable
immediately. Our assets and cash flow may not be sufficient to fully repay borrowings under our outstanding debt instruments if some or all of these
instruments are accelerated upon a default.

We may also incur additional indebtedness in the future. Any new or refinanced debt may be subject to higher interest rates than we have experienced
in the past, which could adversely affect our financial condition and impact our business. The instruments governing such indebtedness could contain
provisions that are as, or more, restrictive than our existing debt instruments. If we are unable to repay, refinance, or restructure our indebtedness when
payment is due, the lenders could proceed against the collateral granted to them to secure such indebtedness, as applicable, or force us into bankruptcy or
liquidation.
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Changes in our effective tax rate or tax liability may have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

Our effective tax rate has in the past and could in the future increase due to several factors, including:

• changes in the relative amounts of income before taxes in the various jurisdictions in which we operate that have differing statutory tax rates;
• changes in tax laws, tax regulations or tax treaties, or the interpretation of any of them;
• changes to our assessment about our ability to realize our deferred tax assets that are based on estimates of our future results, the prudence and

feasibility of possible tax planning strategies, and the economic and political environments in which we do business;
• the outcome of current and future tax audits, examinations, or administrative appeals; and
• limitations or adverse findings regarding our ability to do business in some jurisdictions.

Any of these developments could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. Additionally, on August 16, 2022, President Joseph
R. Biden signed into law the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, or IRA. The IRA includes a 15% corporate alternative minimum tax for companies with modified
GAAP net income in excess of $1 billion, a 1% excise tax on certain stock repurchases, and numerous environmental and green energy tax credits. The excise
tax law has not had a material impact on our stock repurchase program or our results of operations.

Changes in tax law could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

The rules dealing with U.S. federal, state, and local and non-U.S. taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process,
the Internal Revenue Service, the U.S. Treasury Department, and other taxing authorities. Changes to tax laws or tax rulings, or changes in interpretations of
existing laws (which changes may have retroactive application), could adversely affect us or holders of our common stock. These changes could subject us to
additional income-based taxes and non-income taxes (such as payroll, sales, use, value-added, digital tax, net worth, property, and goods and services taxes),
which in turn could materially affect our financial position and results of operations. Additionally, new, changed, modified, or newly interpreted or applied tax
laws could increase our customers’ and our compliance, operating, and other costs, as well as the costs of our products. In recent years, many such changes
have been made, and changes are likely to continue to occur in the future. As we expand the scale of our business activities, any changes in the U.S. and non-
U.S. taxation of such activities may increase our effective tax rate and harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our ability to use our net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.

As of December 31, 2024, we had approximately $254.0 million of federal net operating losses, or NOLs. Approximately all of the federal NOLs have
an indefinite life. As of December 31, 2024, we had approximately $198.3 million of state NOLs. Of the state NOLs, some may follow the Tax Cut and Jobs
Act and are indefinite-lived and most are definite-lived with various expiration dates beginning in 2025 through 2043. In addition, our federal research and
development tax credits were approximately $1.0 million as of December 31, 2024. The federal research credits will begin to expire in 2039. Under current
law, federal NOLs generated in taxable years ending after December 31, 2017, may be carried forward indefinitely, but the deductibility of such federal NOLs
may be limited to 80% of our taxable income annually for tax years beginning after December 31, 2020. NOLs generated prior to December 31, 2017,
however, have a 20-year carryforward period, but are not subject to the 80% limitation.

In general, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change,” as
defined under Section 382 of the Code and applicable Treasury Regulations, is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change NOLs to offset
taxable income. This limitation would generally apply in the event of a cumulative change in ownership of our company of more than 50% within a three-year
period. We have experienced ownership changes under Section 382 of the Code in the past, including in connection with our initial public offering, or IPO, or
may experience changes in the future, in each case that could affect our ability to utilize our NOLs to offset our taxable income. Furthermore, our ability to
utilize NOLs of companies that we have acquired or may acquire in the future may be subject to similar limitations. There is also a risk that due to regulatory
changes, such as suspensions on the use of NOLs by federal or state taxing authorities or other unforeseen reasons, our existing NOLs could expire or
otherwise be unavailable to reduce future income tax liabilities. For these reasons, we may not be able to utilize a material portion of the NOLs reflected on our
balance sheet, even if we attain profitability, which could potentially result in increased future tax liability to us and could adversely affect our operating results
and financial condition.
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Adverse developments affecting the financial services industry, such as actual events or concerns involving liquidity, defaults, or non-performance
by financial institutions or transactional counterparties, could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Actual events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance, or other adverse developments that affect financial institutions, transactional
counterparties, or other companies in the financial services industry generally, or concerns or rumors about any events of these kinds or other similar risks,
have in the past led and may in the future lead to market-wide liquidity problems. On March 10, March 12, and May 1, 2023, the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation, or the FDIC, took control and was appointed receiver of Silicon Valley Bank, Signature Bank, and First Republic Bank, respectively, after each
bank was unable to continue its operations, which led to market instability. We cannot predict the impact that the high market volatility and instability of the
banking sector more broadly could have on economic activity and our business in particular. The failure of other banks and financial institutions and measures
taken, or not taken, by governments, businesses, and other organizations in response to these events could adversely impact our and our customers’ business,
financial condition, and results of operations.

If the financial institutions with which we do business enter receivership or become insolvent in the future, there is no guarantee that the Department
of the Treasury, the Federal Reserve, and the FDIC will intercede to provide us and other depositors with access to balances in excess of the $250,000 FDIC
insurance limit or that we would be able to (i) access our existing cash, cash equivalents, and investments, (ii) maintain any required letters of credit or other
credit support arrangements, or (iii) adequately fund our business for a prolonged period of time or at all, any of which could have a material adverse effect on
our current or projected business operations and results of operations and financial condition. In addition, if any parties with which we conduct business are
unable to access funds pursuant to such instruments or lending arrangements with such a financial institution, such parties’ ability to continue to fund their
business and perform their obligations to us could be adversely affected, which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

Our reported financial results may be adversely affected by changes in accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, are subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the SEC, and
various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. A change in these principles or interpretations could have a significant
effect on our reported results of operations and could affect the reporting of transactions already completed before the announcement of a change.

If our estimates or judgments relating to our critical accounting policies prove to be incorrect, our results of operations could be adversely
affected.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We base our estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, as provided in the section entitled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Critical Accounting Estimates” included in Part II, Item 7 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. The results of these estimates form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets, liabilities, and equity, and
the amount of revenue and expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources. Significant estimates and judgments involve the valuation of our stock-
based compensation awards, among others. Our results of operations may be adversely affected if our assumptions change or if actual circumstances differ
from those in our assumptions, which could cause our results of operations to fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors, resulting in a
decline in the market price of our Class A common stock.

As a result of being a public company, we are obligated to develop and maintain proper and effective internal controls over financial reporting,
and any failure to maintain the adequacy of these internal controls may adversely affect investor confidence in our company and, as a result, the value of
our Class A common stock.

We are a public company required to comply with the SEC’s rules implementing Sections 302 and 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which requires
management to certify financial and other information in our quarterly and annual reports and provide an annual management report on the effectiveness of
controls over financial reporting. On December 31, 2022, we ceased to be an emerging growth company. As a result, our independent registered public
accounting firm must attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404.
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The process of compiling the system and processing documentation necessary to perform the evaluation needed to comply with Section 404 requires
that we incur substantial expenses and expend significant management efforts. We have hired, and may continue to hire, additional accounting and financial
staff with appropriate public company experience and technical accounting knowledge to remain in compliance with Section 404.

During the evaluation and testing process of our internal controls, if we identify one or more material weaknesses in our internal control over financial
reporting, we will be unable to certify that our internal control over financial reporting is effective. We cannot assure you that there will not be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting in the future. As we have identified a material weakness in the past, any
failure to maintain internal control over financial reporting could severely inhibit our ability to accurately report our financial condition or results of operations.
If we are unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm determines we
have a material weakness or significant deficiency in our internal control over financial reporting, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports, the market price of our Class A common stock could decline, and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by
the SEC or other regulatory authorities. In addition, in connection with the results of such evaluation, we may need to upgrade our systems, including
information technology, implement additional financial and management controls, reporting systems, and procedures, or hire additional staff. Failure to remedy
any material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, or to implement or maintain other effective control systems required of public
companies, could also restrict our future access to the capital markets.

We may require additional capital, which additional financing may result in restrictions on our operations or substantial dilution to our
stockholders, to support the growth of our business, and this capital might not be available on acceptable terms, if at all.

We have financed our operations since inception primarily through sales of our equity securities, including our completed IPO, payments received
from customers, and borrowings under our credit facility. We cannot be certain when or if our operations will generate sufficient cash to fully fund our ongoing
operations or the growth of our business. We intend to continue to make investments to support our business, which may require us to engage in equity or debt
financings to secure additional funds.

Additional financing may not be available on terms favorable to us, if at all. In particular, we are currently operating in a period of economic
uncertainty and capital markets disruption, which has been impacted by high levels of inflation, geopolitical instability, potential implementation of tariffs and
escalation of trade tensions, changing governmental policies and regulations, an ongoing war in Ukraine, and the conflict in Israel, Gaza, and the Middle East.
It is impossible to predict the extent to which our business will be impacted in the short- and long-term, but such uncertainty and disruption may reduce our
ability to access capital and negatively affect our liquidity in the future. Additionally, elevated interest rates have in the past and may in the future reduce our
access to debt capital, which may adversely affect our future business plans and expected growth, and will increase the cost of any future borrowings and our
variable rate borrowings, which would reduce our earnings. If adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable to invest in future
growth opportunities, which could harm our business, operating results, and financial condition. If we incur additional debt, the debt holders would have rights
senior to holders of our equity to make claims on our assets, and the terms of any debt could restrict our operations, including our ability to pay dividends on
our Class A common stock. Furthermore, if we issue additional equity securities, stockholders will experience dilution, and the new equity securities could
have rights senior to those of our Class A common stock. Volatility in equity capital markets has in the past and may in the future also adversely affect market
prices of our securities, which may materially and adversely affect our ability to fund our business through public or private sales of equity securities. Because
our decision to issue securities in the future will depend on numerous considerations, including factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the
amount, timing or nature of any future issuances of debt or equity securities. As a result, our stockholders bear the risk of future issuances of debt or equity
securities reducing the value of our Class A common stock and diluting their interests.

We recognize revenue from customer subscriptions over the term of the subscription agreement and, therefore, a significant downturn in our
business may not be immediately reflected in our operating results.

We recognize revenue from subscription agreements monthly over the terms of these agreements, which is typically three years or longer. As a result,
a significant portion of the revenue we report in each quarter is generated from customer agreements entered into during previous periods. Consequently, a
decline in new subscriptions or renewed subscriptions in any one quarter may not impact our financial performance in that quarter, but has previously and may
in the future negatively affect our revenue in subsequent quarters. If a number of contracts expire and are not renewed in the same quarter, our revenue may
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decline significantly in that quarter and subsequent quarters. Accordingly, the effect of significant declines in sales of our platform or modules may not be
reflected in our short-term results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties

Our growth depends in part on the success of our strategic relationships with third parties and our ability to integrate with third-party applications
and software.

The success of our platform depends, in part, on our ability to integrate third-party applications, software, and other offerings into our platform. We
anticipate that the growth of our business will continue to depend on third-party relationships, including relationships with POS systems, DSPs, ordering
service providers, aggregators, digital agencies, payment processors, loyalty providers, and other partners. In addition to growing our third-party partner
ecosystem, we have entered into agreements with, and intend to pursue additional relationships with, other third parties, such as search engine and social
media, location services, voice ordering, autonomous vehicle, and virtual kitchen providers. Identifying, negotiating, and documenting relationships with third
parties and integrating third-party content and technology requires significant time and resources, and third-party providers may choose to change the
economics of or terminate their relationship with us, compete directly against us, enter into exclusive arrangements with our competitors, or make material
changes to their businesses, solutions, or services that could be detrimental to our business.

Third-party developers may change the features of their offering of applications and software or alter the terms governing the use of their offerings in
a manner that is adverse to us. We may also be unable to maintain our relationships with certain third-parties if we are unable to integrate our platform with
their offerings. In addition, third-parties may refuse to partner with us or limit or restrict our access to their offerings. We may not be able to adapt to the data
transfer requirements of third party offerings. If third-party applications or software change such that we do not, or cannot, maintain the compatibility of our
platform with these applications and software, or if we fail to ensure there are third-party applications and software that our customers desire to add to their
ordering or delivery portals, demand for our platform could decline. If we are unable to maintain technical interoperability, our customers may not be able to
effectively integrate our platform with other systems and services they use. If we fail to integrate our platform with new third-party offerings that our customers
need to operate their businesses, or to provide the proper support or ease of integration our customers require, we may not be able to offer the functionality that
our customers and their guests expect, which would harm our business.

The third party service providers with which we integrate may not perform as expected under our agreements or under their agreements with our
customers, we or our customers may in the future have disagreements or disputes with such providers, or such providers may experience reduced growth,
reduce incentives for our customers’ guests to make delivery orders, or otherwise change their business models in ways that are disadvantageous to us or our
customers. For example, if the DSPs with which we partner for our Dispatch module were to increase prices of delivery to guests, the number of orders made
through our platform could be reduced and our business may be harmed. In addition, if our Rails providers were to reduce incentives for guests to order
through those respective aggregators, our revenue and business may be harmed. If we lose access to solutions or services from a particular partner, or
experience a significant reduction or disruption in the supply of services from a current partner, it could have an adverse effect on our business and operating
results.

Our Dispatch module currently relies on a limited number of DSPs.

The availability of DSPs generally, and of specific DSPs in certain markets, is integral to the value that our Dispatch module provides to our
customers and our ability to generate revenue from orders fulfilled through Dispatch. However, the DSP market is not fully developed and has been and could
in the future be adversely affected by various conditions, including industry consolidation or downturns, changes in labor and independent contractor laws and
pricing models, the success of competitors or competing solutions for customers, and general economic conditions. In general, there is more than one DSP
available to fulfill delivery orders through Dispatch. In certain markets, however, delivery orders are fulfilled by one or a limited number of DSPs, with a
subset of such DSPs being responsible for fulfilling a majority of orders in that market. In addition, certain of these DSPs may be, or may be perceived to be, in
competition with us with respect to some of our offerings and, as a result, may be less incentivized to continue to partner with us. If one or more DSPs that
represents a significant volume of our Dispatch transactions overall, or DSPs that represent a significant volume of our Dispatch transactions in any single
market, are no longer able to continue to provide timely and reliable delivery services, including as a result of a shortage in the labor market or changes in the
labor laws, or if we or a DSP terminate our partnership, we could experience significant interruptions in the delivery of orders through our Dispatch module,
which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
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Our Rails module currently relies on a limited number of aggregators.

Our Rails module integrates with a limited number of digital ordering aggregators to fulfill third-party ordering transactions on our platform. These
aggregators could decide to create new software that is incompatible with our platform, enter into agreements that are exclusive or on terms that are more
favorable than those we offer directly with our customers or potential customers, change the contractual economics of their relationship with us, or enter into
agreements directly with our competitors or potential future competitors of ours that are exclusive or on terms that are more favorable than those we offer to
our customers. Certain of these aggregators may be, or may be perceived to be, in competition with us with respect to some of our offerings and, as a result,
may terminate their relationship with us or be less incentivized to continue to partner with us.

Factors impacting the pricing strategies of our aggregators, including operating costs, legal and regulatory requirements, constraints, or changes, could
also impact our business. For example, in connection with the COVID-19 pandemic, jurisdictions across the United States implemented price controls on some
food delivery logistics platforms. These price controls caused, and may in the future cause, aggregators to increase the fees charged to guests. Such increase in
the fees charged by aggregators could result in reduced demand for services by guests, and our transactional revenue from our Rails module may decline.
Moreover, a number of aggregators have merged or consolidated, and may continue to do so, which could reduce the number of aggregators on our Rails
module, reduce our revenue, and limit the effectiveness of Rails. In the event that any of the largest digital ordering aggregators do not integrate with our
platform, or create software that is incompatible or competes with our platform by directly integrating with one of our customers, our ability to generate
transactional revenue using our Rails module will decline, which could harm our business and results of operations. If we or one or more of these aggregators
that represents a significant volume of our Rails transactions overall terminate our partnership, it could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, Rails module transaction revenue from our largest digital ordering aggregator, DoorDash,
Inc., or DoorDash, accounted for an aggregate of 8.1%, 10.5%, and 11.1%, respectively, of our total combined platform and professional services and other
revenue, and DoorDash accounted for a majority of our transaction revenue from our Rails module for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022.

We rely upon Amazon Web Services and other infrastructure providers to operate our platform, and any disruption of or interference with our use
of these providers would adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

We outsource substantial portions of our cloud infrastructure to Amazon Web Services, or AWS, Cloudflare, and other infrastructure providers. Our
customers need to be able to access our platform at any time, without interruption or degradation of performance. Their failure to access our platform could
make us liable for service credits or, in more severe cases, contractual breaches. We are, therefore, vulnerable to service interruptions at AWS, Cloudflare, and
other infrastructure providers, which could decrease the number of transactions we process on our platform and negatively impact our revenue. We have
experienced, and expect that in the future we may experience interruptions, delays, and outages in service and availability due to a variety of factors, including
infrastructure changes, human or software errors, website hosting disruptions, and capacity constraints, including those related to the complexity and number of
order permutations. Capacity constraints could be due to a number of potential causes, including technical failures, natural disasters, fraud, or security attacks.
In addition, if an infrastructure provider’s security is compromised, or our modules or platform are unavailable or our customers or their guests are unable to
use our platform within a reasonable amount of time or at all, then our business, results of operations, and financial condition could be adversely affected. In
some instances, we may not be able to identify the cause or causes of these performance problems within a period of time acceptable to our customers. It may
become increasingly difficult to maintain and improve our platform performance, especially during peak usage times, as our platform becomes more complex
and the usage of our platform increases. To the extent that we do not effectively address capacity constraints, either through AWS or alternative providers of
cloud infrastructure, our business, results of operations, and financial condition may be adversely affected. In addition, any changes in service levels from AWS
may adversely affect our ability to meet our customers’ requirements.

In addition, AWS provides us with service pursuant to an agreement that continues until terminated by either party. Pursuant to our agreement with
AWS, we have committed to spending approximately $28 million over the three-year period of January 2025 through December 2027. AWS may terminate the
agreement by providing 90 days prior written notice, and it may, in some cases, terminate the agreement immediately for cause upon notice. This agreement
includes a minimum spending commitment, part of which may be forfeited if we were to switch providers. Although we expect that we could receive similar
services from other third parties, arranging alternative cloud infrastructure services could be costly, complicated, and time-
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consuming, and we could experience interruptions on our platform and in our ability to make our modules available to customers.

Any of the above circumstances or events may harm our reputation, cause customers to stop using our platform, impair our ability to increase revenue
from existing customers, impair our ability to grow our customer base, subject us to financial penalties and liabilities under our service level agreements, and
otherwise harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

We rely on software licensed from, and services rendered by, third parties in order to provide our modules and run our business.

We rely on software licensed from, and services rendered by, third parties in order to provide our modules and run our business. Third-party software
and services may not continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Any loss of the right to use, or any failures of, third-party software or
services could result in delays in our ability to provide our modules or run our business until equivalent software or services are developed by us or, if
available, identified, obtained, and integrated, which could be costly and time-consuming and may not result in an equivalent module, any of which could cause
an adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Further, customers could assert claims against us in connection with such service disruption or cease
conducting business with us altogether. Even if not successful, a claim brought against us by any of our customers would likely be time-consuming and costly
to defend and could seriously damage our reputation and brand, making it harder for us to sell our modules.

Legal, Regulatory, Compliance, and Reputational Risks

Security incidents, data breaches, denial of service attacks or other hacking and phishing attacks on our systems, or the systems with which our
platform integrates, could harm our reputation or subject us to significant liability and adversely affect our business and financial results.

We operate in the on-demand digital commerce industry, which is prone to cyber incidents. Cyber incidents have been increasing in sophistication and
frequency. We and our third party vendors are at constant risk of cyber-attacks or cyber intrusions via third parties gaining access to employee or customer data
using stolen or inferred credentials, computer malware, viruses, worms, break-ins, spamming, phishing attacks, hacking, ransomware, denial-of-service attacks,
card skimming code, and other deliberate attacks and attempts to gain unauthorized access (including from both internal and external sources). Because the
techniques used by computer programmers who have in the past and may in the future attempt to penetrate and sabotage our network security or our website
change frequently and may not be recognized until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques. Our Board of Directors reviews
cybersecurity risks brought to its attention by members of senior management who report up to our Board of Directors. We have an established in-house
security team, which is responsible for reviewing and overseeing our cybersecurity program and bringing any cybersecurity risks to the attention of our Board
of Directors and the audit committee at regular meetings of the audit committee. Failure to prevent or mitigate security breaches and improper access to or
disclosure of our data, our customers’ data, or their guests’ data, whether for our systems or the systems of vendors, could result in its loss or misuse or
unauthorized disclosure of confidential information, interruptions, delays or outages of our products, negative publicity, cause our customers and partners to
cease doing business with us, lead to exposure to risk of loss or possible liability due to lawsuits, enforcement actions investigations, regulatory penalties and
sanctions, and could harm our business and reputation. The security measures we have integrated into our systems and processes, which are designed to prevent
or minimize security breaches, have in the past and may in the future not always function as expected or be sufficient to protect our internal networks and
platform against attacks.

Further, our platform also integrates with third-party applications and POS and management systems over which we exercise no control. Such
applications and systems are also susceptible to security breaches, which could directly or indirectly result in a breach of our platform. For example, the failure
of a customer’s third-party front-end provider to adequately protect their systems could result in an attack that we are unable to prevent from the back-end; such
an attack could result in a service outage for all our customers, and may require us to take the affected customer offline to restore service to the platform and
mitigate the breach. Our exposure to security breaches may be heightened because our platform is accessible through hundreds of our customers’ white label
domains and mobile applications.

Our storage and use of our customers’ data concerning their restaurants and guests is essential to their use of our platform, which stores, transmits, and
processes our customers’ proprietary information and information relating to them and guests. If a material security breach were to occur, as a result of third-
party action, employee error, malfeasance, or otherwise, and the confidentiality, integrity, or availability of our customers’ data was disrupted, we could incur
significant liability to
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those customers and their guests. Additionally, because of a security breach our platform could be perceived as less desirable, which could negatively affect our
business. In addition, any loss of customer or individual guest data could create significant monetary damages for us that may harm our ability to operate the
business.

A security vulnerability in our platform or other integrated software could compromise our customers’ in-store networks, which could expose
customer or guest information beyond what we collect through our platform. As a multi-tenant SaaS provider, despite our logical separation of data between
customers, we may also face an increased risk of accidentally commingling data between customers due to employee error, a software bug, or otherwise, which
may result in unauthorized disclosure of data between customers. We have in the past and could in the future be subject to distributed denial of service, or
DDoS, attacks, a technique used by hackers to take an internet service offline by overloading its servers. A DDoS attack could delay or interrupt service to our
customers and their guests and prevent guests from ordering from or otherwise engaging with our customers’ restaurants. We cannot guarantee that applicable
recovery systems, security protocols, network protection mechanisms, and other DDoS-prevention techniques are or will be adequate to prevent network and
service interruption, system failure, or data loss. In addition, computer malware, viruses, hacking, credential stuffing, social engineering, phishing, physical
theft, and other attacks by third parties are prevalent in our industry. We have in the past and could in the future experience such attacks and, as a result of our
increased visibility, we believe that we are increasingly a target for such breaches and attacks. In addition to our own platform and applications, some of the
third parties with which we work may receive information from us, our customers, or customers’ guests through web or mobile applications integrated with
their platforms. If these third parties fail to adhere to adequate data security practices, or in the event of a breach of their networks, our own and our customers’
data may be improperly accessed, used, or disclosed.

Any actual or perceived DDoS attack or security breach of our platform, systems, and networks, or of our integrated partners, could damage our
reputation and brand, expose us to a risk of litigation and possible liability, and require us to expend significant capital and other resources to respond to and
alleviate problems caused by the DDoS attack or security breach. Our ability to retain adequate cyber-crime and liability insurance may be reduced. Some
jurisdictions have enacted laws requiring companies to notify individuals of data security breaches involving certain types of personal data and our agreements
with certain customers and partners require us to notify them in the event of a security incident. In addition, Form 8-K was modified to require the disclosure of
any material cybersecurity incident. Such mandatory disclosures are costly, could lead to negative publicity, and may cause our customers to lose confidence in
the effectiveness of our data security measures. Moreover, if a high-profile security breach occurs with respect to another SaaS provider or one of the service
providers with which we partner, customers may lose trust in the security of the SaaS business model generally, which could adversely impact our ability to
retain revenue from existing customers or attract new ones. Any of these events could harm our reputation or subject us to significant liability, and materially
and adversely affect our business and financial results. Although we maintain cyber liability insurance, we cannot be certain that its coverage will be adequate
for liabilities actually incurred or that insurance will continue to be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all.

We may be subject to claims by third parties of intellectual property infringement.

The software industry is characterized by the existence of a large number of patents and frequent claims and related litigation regarding patents and
other intellectual property rights. Third parties have in the past asserted, and may in the future assert, that our platform, modules, technology, methods, or
practices infringe, misappropriate, or otherwise violate their intellectual property or other proprietary rights. Such claims may be made by our competitors
seeking to obtain a competitive advantage or by other parties. Additionally, non-practicing entities that purchase intellectual property assets for the purpose of
making infringement claims may attempt to extract settlements from us. The risk of claims may increase as the number of modules that we offer and of
competitors in our market increases and overlaps occur. In addition, to the extent that we gain greater visibility and market exposure, we face a higher risk of
being the subject of intellectual property infringement claims.

Any such claims, regardless of merit, that result in litigation could result in substantial expenses, divert the attention of management, cause significant
delays in introducing new or enhanced services or technology, materially disrupt the conduct of our business, and have a material and adverse effect on our
brand, business, financial condition, and results of operations. Although we do not believe that our proprietary technology, processes, and methods have been
patented by any third party, it is possible that patents have been issued to third parties that cover all or a portion of our business. As a consequence of any patent
or other intellectual property claims, we could be required to pay substantial damages, develop non-infringing technology, enter into royalty-bearing licensing
agreements, stop selling or marketing some or all of our modules, or re-brand our modules.

We have also been obligated in the past and may be obligated in the future to indemnify our customers against intellectual property claims; pay
substantial settlement costs, including royalty payments, in connection with any such claim or litigation; and obtain licenses or modify applications, which
could be costly. If it appears necessary, we may seek to secure
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license rights to intellectual property that we are alleged to infringe at a significant cost, potentially even if we believe such claims to be without merit or we
have meritorious defenses. If required licenses cannot be obtained, or if existing licenses are not renewed, litigation could result. Litigation is inherently
uncertain and can cause us to expend significant money, time, and attention, even if we are ultimately successful. Any adverse decision could result in a loss of
our proprietary rights, subject us to significant liabilities, require us to seek licenses for alternative technologies from third parties, prevent us from offering all
or a portion of our modules, and otherwise negatively affect our business and operating results.

If our software contains serious errors or defects, we may lose revenue and market acceptance and may incur costs to defend or settle claims with
our customers.

Software or APIs such as ours have in the past and may in the future contain errors, defects, security vulnerabilities, or software bugs that are difficult
to detect or correct, particularly when first introduced or when new versions or enhancements are released. Despite internal testing, our platform may contain
serious errors or defects, security vulnerabilities, or software bugs that we may be unable to successfully correct in a timely manner. Such defects could result
in lost revenue, significant expenditures of capital, a delay or loss in market acceptance, and damage to our reputation and brand, any of which could have an
adverse effect on our business and results of operations. For example, our payment processing code could contain a software bug or other misconfiguration,
resulting in failure to collect payment for orders that are otherwise fulfilled, which could result in significant refunds to our customers. A software bug could
also result in a customer receiving an item other than what they ordered or an ingredient to which they are allergic, causing reputational harm to us. In addition,
our tax calculation code may also contain errors or defects, which may result in differences payable by us or fines owed by us. Additionally, our fraud detection
software could identify false positives in the system and, in turn, could reduce transactional revenue. Furthermore, our platform allows us to deploy new
versions and enhancements to all of our customers simultaneously. To the extent we deploy new versions or enhancements that contain errors, defects, security
vulnerabilities, or software bugs to all customers, the consequences would be more severe than if such versions or enhancements were only deployed to a
smaller number of our customers.

In addition, our systems are increasingly reliant on machine learning systems, which are complex and may have errors or inadequacies that are not
easily detectable. These systems may inadvertently reduce the efficiency of our systems, or may cause unintentional or unexpected outputs that are incorrect,
do not match our business goals, do not comply with our policies, or otherwise are inconsistent with our brands, guiding principles, and mission. Any errors or
vulnerabilities discovered in our code after release could also result in damage to our reputation, loss of members of our communities, loss of revenue, or
liability for damages, any of which could adversely affect our growth prospects and our business.

Because our customers use our platform for processes that are critical to their businesses, errors, defects, security vulnerabilities, service interruptions,
or software bugs in our platform, APIs, and systems could result in losses to our customers. Although we endeavor to limit our liability in customer agreements,
our customers may be entitled to significant compensation from us in the form of service level credits, pursue litigation against us for any losses they suffer, or
cease conducting business with us altogether. Further, a customer could share information about bad experiences on social media, at industry conferences, or
with peer companies, which could result in damage to our reputation and loss of future sales. There can be no assurance that provisions typically included in
our agreements with our customers that attempt to limit our exposure to such claims would be enforceable or adequate or would otherwise protect us from
liabilities or damages with respect to any particular claim. Even if not successful, such a claim could be time-consuming and distracting to our management
team and costly to defend, and could seriously damage our reputation and brand, making it harder for us to sell our modules.

We and our third-party partners and service providers transmit and store personal information of our customers and guests. We anticipate that
Olo, or our third-party partners and service providers, may be the target of future cybersecurity attacks which may result in personal information,
confidential information, or credit card information being compromised or accessed without or beyond authorization, which could interrupt our business,
result in our reputation being harmed, and expose us to liability and loss of business.

Our business involves the collection, transmission, and storage of the personal information and confidential information of our partners, our customers
and their guests, and guests with whom we have a direct relationship. Cybersecurity incidents or data breaches can originate either externally, through our
customers, our third-party partners, or service providers, or internally. There may in the future be successful attempts by third parties to obtain unauthorized
access to the personal information of our partners, our customers, and guests. This information could also be exposed through human error, malfeasance, or
otherwise. The unauthorized disclosure, unauthorized access, or compromise of this information could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations. Even if such a cybersecurity incident or data breach does not arise out of our actions or inactions, or directly impact our
business, the resulting guest concern arising from a
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customer, partner, or service provider cybersecurity incident or data breach could negatively affect our customers and our business.

We do not proactively monitor or control our customers’ content uploaded to our platform(s) or on our servers, or information made available through
third-party integrations that our customers use in connection with our platform, which may include personal information or confidential information. We
integrate with a number of third-party partners in order to meet our customers’ needs, and although we contractually require our customers to ensure the
security of such partners, a cybersecurity incident or data breach of one of these providers could become negatively associated with our brand or our assistance
in responding to such a breach could tie up our internal resources. Additionally, we use service providers to help deliver services to our customers and guests.
These service providers may handle or store personal information, credit card information, or confidential information. By the nature of the integrations and the
constantly evolving techniques used to obtain access, compromise, or interrupt the integrity of systems, we could get drawn into any resulting lawsuits. We are
also subject to federal, state, provincial, and other laws regarding cybersecurity and data protection. Although we have taken measures to monitor and protect
our systems within our control and ensure that those third parties which have access to our platform maintain adequate security, we cannot guarantee that these
measures will protect our systems from a security incident in the future. Some jurisdictions have enacted laws requiring companies to notify affected
individuals or government agencies of data breaches involving certain types of personal information and our agreements with customers and partners require us
to notify them in the event of certain security incidents. Additionally, an increasing number of jurisdictions, as well as our contracts with certain customers,
require us to maintain industry-standard or reasonable measures to safeguard personal information or confidential information. This includes safeguards related
to credit card information and sensitive authentication data which is transmitted through our platform. We are also required by card networks and our contracts
with payment processors to adhere to the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards.

Our failure to comply with legal, regulatory or contractual requirements, and the rules of payment card networks’ and self-regulatory organizations’
cybersecurity or data protection requirements could lead to significant fines and penalties imposed by regulators and card networks, as well as claims by our
customers, guests or other relevant stakeholders. These claims could force us to spend money in defense or settlement of these proceedings, result in the
imposition of monetary liability or injunctive relief, divert management’s time and attention, increase our costs of doing business, and materially adversely
affect our reputation and the demand for our platform. In addition, if our security measures fail to protect personal information or confidential information,
including payment information, adequately, we could be liable to our partners, our customers, and guests for their losses as well as for statutory damages. As a
result, we could be subject to fines, face regulatory or other legal action, and our customers could lose their confidence with us, which all could negatively
impact our business. There can be no assurance that the limitations of liability in our contracts would be enforceable or adequate or would otherwise protect us
from any such liabilities or damages with respect to any particular claim. We also cannot be sure that our existing insurance coverage and coverage for errors
and omissions will continue to be available on acceptable terms or be available in sufficient amounts to cover one or more large claims, or that our insurers will
not deny or limit coverage as to any future claim. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceeds our available insurance coverage
or changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases, or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could have an adverse
effect on our business and results of operations.

We are subject to stringent and changing privacy laws, regulations and standards, and contractual obligations related to data privacy and security.
Our actual or perceived failure to comply with such obligations could harm our reputation, subject us to significant fines and liabilities, or adversely affect
our business.

In the United States, there are numerous federal and state consumer, privacy and data security laws and regulations governing the collection, use,
disclosure, and protection of personal information, including security breach notification laws. The regulatory framework for privacy and security in the United
States is rapidly evolving. Violating consumers’ privacy rights, using or disclosing personal information in ways that do not match our public commitments or
failing to take appropriate steps to keep personal information secure may constitute deceptive or unfair acts or practices in violation of Section 5(a) of the
Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, Act, 15 U.S.C § 45(a). The FTC has broad powers to investigate and to bring enforcement actions that can result in
binding consent orders and fines, as do states’ attorneys general under comparable state unfair and deceptive act laws. We may also be subject to other laws that
are enforced by regulators and private litigants with fines and statutory damages that can result in significant exposure, including those that govern telephone
and text message marketing (e.g., the Federal Telephone Consumer Protection Act) and email marketing (e.g., the Federal Controlling the Assault of Non-
Solicited Pornography and Marketing Act, and Canada’s Anti-Spam Legislation).
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Additionally, laws in all 50 states require us to provide notice to affected individuals when certain personal information, including payment
information, has been disclosed as a result of a data breach. These laws are frequently inconsistent, and compliance in the event of a widespread data breach is
costly. Moreover, states regularly enact new laws and regulations, which require us to provide consumers with certain disclosures related to our privacy
practices, as well as maintain systems necessary to allow customers to invoke their rights. For example, the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 as
amended by the California Privacy Rights Act, or CCPA, provides consumers with certain rights, including to access, correct, and delete their personal
information and to opt out of certain practices and also imposes operational requirements for covered businesses. The CCPA provides a private right of action
imposing civil penalties against businesses that suffer certain security breaches resulting in exposure of certain sensitive information. The CCPA is already the
subject of active enforcement by the California Attorney General and the California Privacy Protection Agency. The CCPA may increase our compliance costs
and exposure to liability. Numerous other states, including Colorado, Virginia, Connecticut, Utah, Texas, Oregon, New Hampshire, New Jersey, Delaware, and
Iowa have recently enacted new privacy laws similar to the CCPA, and these took effect over the past few months. These new laws will add complexity,
variation in requirements, restrictions and potential legal risks; require additional investment of resources in compliance programs; impact data practices and
the availability of previously useful data; and could result in increased compliance costs and/or changes in business practices and policies.

Additionally, virtually every foreign jurisdiction in which our current or potential future customers may operate has established privacy or data
security laws, rules, and regulations. For example, in Europe, the collection and use of personal information is governed by the European Union’s, or E.U.,
General Data Protection Regulation and the United Kingdom’s, or U.K., implementation of the same, or collectively the GDPR. Among other obligations, the
GDPR regulates transfers of personal information from the E.U. and U.K. to non-E.U./UK countries, such as the United States, and requires businesses to
implement safeguards to protect the security and confidentiality of personal data, provide notification of data breaches, and take certain measures when
engaging third-party processors. Under the GDPR, fines of up to €20 million or up to 4% of the annual global revenue of the noncompliant company,
whichever is greater, could be imposed for violations of certain GDPR requirements. Moreover, individuals may claim damages as a result of GDPR violations.
Other jurisdictions outside the E.U. and U.K. are similarly introducing or enhancing privacy and data security laws, rules, and regulations, which may increase
the risks associated with non-compliance. While we are not currently subject to the GDPR ourselves, many of our customers are subject to the GDPR, and we
may be required to assist such customers with their compliance obligations. Assisting our customers in complying with the GDPR, or complying with the
GDPR ourselves if we expand our business to the E.U. and U.K. in the future, may cause us to incur substantial operational costs or require us to change our
business practices and could increase the cost and complexity of delivering our products and services in some markets and may lead to governmental
enforcement actions, litigation, fines and penalties, or adverse publicity, which could have an adverse effect on our reputation and business.

Payment transactions processed on our platform and through the Olo Pay module may subject us to regulatory requirements and the rules of
payment card networks, and other risks that could be costly and difficult to comply with or could harm our business.

We began commercially offering Olo Pay in the first quarter of 2022. In connection with this offering, the payment card networks require us to comply
with payment card network operating rules, including special operating rules that apply to us as a “payment service provider” that provides payment
processing-related services to merchants and payment processors. The payment card networks set these network rules and they have discretion to interpret them
and change them, including in ways that may limit or alter our ability to offer Olo Pay. We have also agreed, via our contracts with our payment processing
partners, to comply with certain contractual obligations in addition to the payment card network operating rules. Through our offering of Olo Pay, we have
agreed to reimburse our payment processor partners for fines they are assessed by payment card networks as a result of certain rule violations by us or our
customers. We are also required to reimburse guests for chargebacks not funded by our customers. Any changes to or interpretations of the network rules that
are inconsistent with the way we and the payment processors and customers currently operate may require us to make changes to our business that could be
costly or difficult to implement. If we fail to make such changes or otherwise resolve the issue with the payment card networks, they could fine us, cancel or
suspend our registration as a payment service provider, or prohibit us from processing payment cards on their networks, which could have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, and operating results. In addition, violations of the network rules or any failure to maintain good standing with the payment
processing partners and payment card networks as a payment service provider could impact our ability to facilitate payment card transactions on our platform,
increase our costs, or otherwise harm our business. If we were unable to facilitate payment card transactions on our platform or were limited in our ability to do
so, our business would be materially and adversely affected.

If we fail to comply with the rules and regulations adopted by the payment card networks, we could also be in breach of our contractual obligations to
our payment processors, financial institutions, customers, or partners. Such failure to comply
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may subject us to fines, penalties, damages, higher transaction fees, and civil liability, and could eventually prevent us from processing or accepting payment
cards or could lead to a loss of payment processor partners. In the event that we are found to be in violation of any of these legal or regulatory requirements,
our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be harmed.

Currently, we substantially rely on a limited number of third-party payment processors to facilitate payments made by guests and payments made to
customers through the Olo Pay module. While we may develop payment processing relationships with other payment processors, we expect to continue to rely
on a limited number of payment processors for the foreseeable future. In the event that any of our third-party payment processors fail to maintain adequate
levels of support, experience interrupted operations, do not provide high quality service, increase the fees they charge us, discontinue their lines of business,
terminate their contractual arrangements with us, face legal or regulatory challenges, or cease or reduce operations, we may suffer additional costs and be
required to pursue new third-party relationships, which could materially disrupt our operations and our ability to provide our products and services, and could
divert management’s time and resources. In addition, such incidents could result in periods of time during which our platform cannot function properly, and
therefore may not collect payments from customers and their guests, which could adversely affect our relationships with our customers and our business,
reputation, brand, financial condition, and results of operations.

We believe the licensing and registration requirements of the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network and state agencies that regulate banks, money
service businesses, money transmitters, and other providers of electronic commerce services do not apply to us. One or more governmental agencies may
conclude that, under its statutes or regulations, we are engaged in activity requiring licensing or registration. In that event, we may be subject to monetary
penalties and adverse publicity and may be required to cease doing business with residents of those jurisdictions until we obtain the requisite license or
registration.

We have also recently become a payment facilitator. As a payment facilitator, we must comply with additional provisions of the payment card network
operating rules and additional contractual obligations. In addition to the risks described above, being a payment facilitator means that we may be contractually
required to assume more risk on behalf of our customers that use Olo Pay. Specifically, we may be contractually obligated to manage fraud costs to the extent
they are facilitated by our customers through Olo Pay. In addition, we have implemented a process to evaluate the risk posed by potential losses, including but
not limited to losses resulting from data security incidents, instances of fraud, and increased chargebacks by our customers and potential customers to minimize
the risk of onboarding or supporting customers that pose elevated risk of such potential losses. We may be subject to liability from losses caused by such
elevated risk customers. Failure to meet the obligations imposed on payment facilitators could adversely affect our customer relationships, business, reputation,
brand, financial condition, and results of operations.

If we fail to maintain a consistently high level of customer service or if we fail to manage our reputation, our brand, business, and financial
results may be harmed.

We believe our focus on customer service and support is critical to onboarding new customers, retaining our existing customers and growing our
business. As a result, we have invested heavily in the quality and training of our support team, along with the tools they use to provide this service. If we are
unable to maintain a consistently high level of customer service, we may lose existing customers or fail to increase revenue from existing customers. In
addition, our ability to attract new customers is highly dependent on our reputation and on positive recommendations from our existing customers. Any failure
to maintain a consistently high level of customer service, or a market perception that we do not maintain high-quality customer service, could adversely affect
our reputation and the number of positive customer referrals that we receive.

We could incur substantial costs in protecting or defending our intellectual property rights, and any failure to protect our intellectual property or
prevent third parties from making unauthorized use of our technology could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to protect our brand and the proprietary methods and technologies that we develop under the intellectual
property laws of the United States and, potentially in the future, foreign jurisdictions so that we can prevent others from using our inventions and proprietary
information. Although we own 30 registered trademarks in the United States, as of December 31, 2024, we hold no issued patents and therefore would not be
entitled to exert patents to exclude or prevent our competitors from using our proprietary technology, methods, and processes to the extent independently
developed by our competitors.
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We rely primarily on trade secret laws and confidentiality agreements with our business partners, employees, consultants, advisors, customers, and
other current or prospective partners in our efforts to protect our proprietary technology, confidential information, processes, methods, and intellectual property.
These confidentiality agreements may not effectively prevent disclosure of our confidential information or the unauthorized use of our technology, and it may
be possible for unauthorized parties to copy our software or other proprietary technology or information, or to develop similar software independently without
our having an adequate remedy for unauthorized use or disclosure of our confidential information. In addition, others may independently discover our trade
secrets and proprietary information, and in these cases, we would not be able to assert any trade secret rights against those parties. Costly and time-consuming
litigation could be necessary to enforce and determine the scope of our proprietary rights, and failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection could
adversely affect our competitive business position.

In addition, the laws of some countries do not protect intellectual property and other proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the United
States. To the extent we expand our international activities, our exposure to unauthorized copying, transfer, and use of our proprietary technology or
information may increase.

We cannot be certain that our means of protecting our intellectual property and proprietary rights will be adequate or that our competitors will not
independently develop similar technology. If we fail to meaningfully protect our intellectual property and proprietary rights, our business, results of operations,
and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Any current or future litigation against us could be costly and time-consuming to defend.

We have in the past and may in the future become subject to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business, such as claims
brought by our customers, our partners or third parties in connection with commercial disputes or our technology or employment claims made by our current or
former employees or the current or former employees of companies acquired through acquisitions. Litigation has in the past and may in the future result in
substantial costs and may divert management’s attention and resources, which might seriously harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Insurance might not cover such claims, might not provide sufficient payments to cover all the costs to resolve one or more of such claims, and might not
continue to be available on terms acceptable to us. A claim brought against us that is uninsured or underinsured could result in unanticipated costs, potentially
harming our business, financial position, and results of operations.

We use open source software in our platform, which could negatively affect our ability to sell our services or subject us to litigation or other
actions.

We rely on open source software in our proprietary platforms, and we expect to continue to rely on open source software in our platform in the future.
The terms of certain open source licenses to which we are subject have not been interpreted by U.S. or foreign courts, and there is a risk that these licenses
could be construed in a manner that could impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to commercialize our platforms. Certain open source
projects that we use include other open source software, and there is a risk that this software may be subject to licensing terms inconsistent with the licensing
terms of the project, resulting in uncertainties as to the governing terms for the open source software. Moreover, we cannot ensure that we have incorporated
and are currently relying on open source software in our platform in a manner that is consistent with the terms of the applicable license or our current policies
and procedures. Although we employ open source software license screening measures, if we were to combine our proprietary software platform with open
source software in a certain manner, we could, under certain open source licenses, be required to release the source code of our proprietary platform, which
could allow our customers and competitors to freely use such software solutions, without compensation to us.

Additionally, we may from time to time face claims from third parties claiming ownership of, or demanding release of, the open source software or
derivative works that we developed using such software, which could include our proprietary source code, or otherwise seeking to enforce the terms of the
applicable open source license. These claims could result in litigation and we could be required to incur significant legal expenses defending against such
allegations and could be subject to significant damages, required to comply with onerous conditions or restrictions, required to make our proprietary source
code for our platform and any modifications and derivative works developed using such open source software generally available at no cost, purchase a costly
license, or cease offering the implicated services unless and until we can re-engineer them to avoid use of the open source software in dispute, which could
disrupt the business dependent on the affected platforms. This re-engineering process could require significant additional research and development resources,
and we may not be able to complete it successfully.
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In addition to risks related to license requirements, use of certain open source software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial
software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or controls on the origin of software. From time to time, there have been claims
challenging the ownership rights in open source software against companies that incorporate it into their products, and the licensors of such open source
software provide no warranties or indemnities with respect to such claims. As a result, we and our customers could be subject to lawsuits by parties claiming
ownership of what we believe to be open source software. Additionally, some open source projects have known vulnerabilities and architectural instabilities
and are provided on an “as-is” basis, which if not properly addressed, could negatively affect the performance of our platform. Any of these risks could be
difficult to eliminate or manage and, if not addressed, could have a negative effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Our brand is integral to our success. If we fail to effectively maintain, promote, and enhance our brand, our business and competitive advantage
may be harmed.

We believe that maintaining, promoting, and enhancing the Olo brand is critical to expanding our business. Maintaining and enhancing our brand will
depend largely on our ability to continue to provide high-quality, well-designed, useful, reliable, and innovative modules, which we may not do successfully in
the future.

Errors, defects, security incidents, disruptions, or other performance problems with our platform, including with third-party applications, services, or
partners, may harm our reputation and brand. We may introduce new suites of solutions, modules or terms of service that our customers or guests do not like,
which may negatively affect our brand. Additionally, if our customers or guests have a negative experience using our modules or third-party solutions
integrated with our platform, such an experience may affect our brand, especially as and if we continue to attract multi-location restaurant customers to our
platform.

We receive significant media coverage in the United States, especially in the restaurant trade press. Any unfavorable media coverage or negative
publicity about our company, for example stories criticizing the quality and reliability of our platform or our privacy and security practices; describing the loss
or misuse of our customer data or guests’ personal information; negatively discussing our platform changes, litigation, or regulatory activity; or raising negative
actions of our partners or our customers, could seriously harm our reputation. Such negative publicity could also adversely affect the size, demographics,
engagement, and loyalty of our customers, and result in decreased revenue, which could seriously harm our business.

We believe that the importance of brand recognition will increase as competition in our market increases. In addition to our ability to provide reliable
and useful modules at competitive prices, successful promotion of our brand will depend on the effectiveness of our marketing efforts. While we primarily
market our platform through direct sales efforts, our platform is also marketed through a number of free traffic sources, including customer referrals and word-
of-mouth. Our efforts to market our brand have involved significant expenses, which we intend to increase, and as our market becomes increasingly
competitive, these marketing initiatives may become increasingly difficult and expensive. Our marketing spend may not yield increased revenue and, even if it
does, any increased revenue may not offset the expenses we incur in building and maintaining our brand.

Activities of customers or partners or the content of our customers’ websites or mobile applications could damage our brand, subject us to liability,
and harm our business and financial results.

Our terms of service and acceptable use policy prohibit our customers and partners from using our platform to engage in illegal or otherwise
prohibited activities, and our terms of service and acceptable use policy permit us to terminate a customer’s or partner’s account if we become aware of such
use. Customers or partners may, nonetheless, engage in prohibited or illegal activities, including in connection with their use of our products and services,
which could subject us to civil or governmental liability or enforcement. We do not proactively monitor or review the appropriateness of the content of our
customers’ websites or mobile applications, and we do not have control over such content or our customers’ activities. The safeguards we have in place may not
be sufficient for us to avoid liability, including through litigation, or avoid harm to our brand, especially if such inappropriate or illegal use is high profile,
which could adversely affect our business and financial results. In addition, if we expand internationally, we may be subject to similar actions in foreign
jurisdictions alleging that customers’ store content violates laws in foreign jurisdictions.

Our DSPs and other partners may be subject to pricing, licensing, and data regulations, which may impact our business.

Our DSPs and other partners’ revenue is dependent on the pricing models they use to calculate earnings. In particular, the DSPs’ pricing models have
been, and will likely continue to be, challenged, banned, limited in emergencies, and capped in

34



Table Of Contents

certain jurisdictions. An increasing number of municipalities have proposed delivery network fee caps with respect to DSPs’ delivery offerings. For example, in
2022, New York City began requiring DSPs to obtain a license in order to do business within the city; instituted a percentage cap on service, transaction, and
other fees that DSPs may charge food service establishments; and began allowing food delivery workers to unilaterally cap the distances they are required to
travel for delivery. Additional regulation of the DSPs, including with regard to licensing, sharing of end user data, and classifying workers as employees or
independent contractors, could increase their operating costs and adversely affect their business, which may in turn adversely affect our business. For instance,
the Department of Labor’s “Final Rule: Employee or Independent Contractor Classification Under the Fair Labor Standards Act, RIN 1235-AA43,” or other
applicable law, could be interpreted or applied to deem DSPs employees rather than independent contractors. Furthermore, our partners may be forced to
change their pricing models, or otherwise limit or abandon their business operations altogether, in jurisdictions where laws or regulations significantly impact
their business, which could ultimately harm our revenue.

We may use artificial intelligence in our business, and challenges with properly managing its use could result in reputational harm, competitive
harm, and legal liability, and adversely affect our results of operations.

We have in the past and may in the future incorporate machine learning and AI solutions into our platform, modules, services, and features, and these
applications have become and may continue to become increasingly important in our operations over time. For example, OrderReady AI is our machine-
learning-based solution that is built to enable brands to provide more accurate quote times. Our competitors or other third parties may incorporate AI into their
products more quickly or more successfully than us, which could impair our ability to compete effectively and adversely affect our results of operations.
Additionally, if the content, analyses, or recommendations that AI applications assist in producing are or are alleged to be deficient, inaccurate, or biased, our
business, financial condition, and results of operations may be adversely affected. AI technologies, including generative AI, may create content that appears
correct but is factually inaccurate or flawed, or contains copyrighted or other protected material, and if our customers or others use this flawed content to their
detriment, we may be exposed to brand or reputational harm, competitive harm, and/or legal liability. Developing, testing, and deploying AI systems may also
increase the cost profile of our offerings due to the nature of the computing costs involved in such systems. In addition, the use of AI applications has resulted
in, and may in the future result in, cybersecurity incidents that implicate the personal data of end users of such applications. Any such cybersecurity incidents
related to our use of AI applications could adversely affect our reputation and results of operations. AI also presents emerging ethical issues and if our use of AI
becomes controversial, we may experience brand or reputational harm, competitive harm, increased research and development costs, or legal liability. The
rapid evolution of AI, including potential government regulation of AI, has in the past and will in the future require significant resources to develop, test, and
maintain our platform, modules, services, and features to help us implement AI ethically in order to minimize unintended, harmful impact.

A growing number of legislators and regulators are adopting laws and regulations and have focused enforcement efforts on the adoption of AI, and use
of such technologies in compliance with safety requirements, intellectual property and privacy laws, ethical standards and societal expectations. These
developments may increase our compliance burden and costs in connection with use of AI and lead to legal liability if we fail to meet evolving legal standards
or if use of such technologies results in harms or other causes of action we did not predict. For example, the E.U.’s Artificial Intelligence Act, or AI Act, entered
into force on August 1, 2024, with most provisions becoming effective on August 2, 2026. This legislation imposes significant obligations on providers and
deployers of AI systems, and encourages them to account for E.U. safety, legal, and ethical principles in their development and use of these systems. The scope
of these new requirements depends on legal and risk determinations that rely on novel legal provisions that have not yet been interpreted by courts or
regulators, and non-compliance can lead to significant fines. Likewise, in the U.S., several states, including Colorado and California, passed laws that will take
effect in 2026, to regulate various uses of AI, including to make consequential decisions. If we develop or use AI systems governed by these laws or
regulations, we will need to meet higher standards of data quality, transparency, monitoring and human oversight, and we would need to adhere to specific and
potentially burdensome and costly ethical, accountability, and administrative requirements, with the potential for significant enforcement or litigation in the
event of any perceived non-compliance.

Employee Related Risks

If we cannot maintain our corporate culture as we grow, our success and our business and competitive position may be harmed.

We believe that a key contributor to our success to date has been our corporate culture, which is based on transparency, innovation, and entrepreneurial
spirit. Any failure to preserve our culture could negatively affect our ability to retain and recruit personnel, which is critical to our growth, and to effectively
focus on and pursue our corporate objectives. In
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June 2023 and September 2024, we announced workforce reductions impacting approximately 11% and 9% of our workforce, respectively, as part of our
efforts to reorganize our business units to better focus our investments on customer needs and to support our long-term growth objectives, or Restructuring
Plans. The workforce reductions may make it more difficult to preserve our company culture and may negatively impact employee morale. In addition,
anticipated headcount growth and our policy permitting all of our employees, inclusive of those local to our New York City headquarters, to elect whether to
work remotely or from the office may make it difficult to maintain important aspects of our culture. If we fail to maintain our corporate culture, or if we are
unable to retain or hire key personnel, our business and competitive position may be harmed.

We are dependent on the continued services and performance of our senior management and other key employees, the loss of any of whom could
adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition. We may also engage the services of third parties who provide consulting services to
support our business and the failure to identify and/or retain such third parties could adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial
condition.

Our future performance depends on the continued services and contributions of our senior management, including our Founder and Chief Executive
Officer, Noah H. Glass, and other key employees to execute on our business plan, keep our platform stable and secure, and identify and pursue new
opportunities and platform innovations. The failure to properly manage succession plans or the loss of services of senior management or other key employees
could significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our strategic objectives. From time to time, there may be changes in our senior management team
resulting from the hiring or departure of executives, which could disrupt our business. We do not maintain key person life insurance policies on any of our
employees with the exception of Noah H. Glass, our Founder and Chief Executive Officer. The loss of the services of one or more of our senior management or
other key employees for any reason could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and operating results, and require significant amounts of time,
training, and resources to find suitable replacements and integrate them within our business, and could affect our corporate culture.

We engage the services of third parties who provide us with certain consulting services to support our business. Any failure to identify and/or retain
such third parties could adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition and could require significant amounts of time and resources to
find suitable replacements.

If we are unable to hire, retain, and motivate qualified personnel, our business may be adversely affected.

Our future success depends, in part, on our ability to continue to attract and retain highly skilled personnel. Competition for certain of these personnel
is substantial, especially for engineers experienced in designing and developing SaaS or on-demand digital commerce applications, products managers and
designers, and experienced enterprise sales professionals.

Further, our ability to increase our customer base, especially among restaurant brands, small-to-medium businesses, potential international customers,
and other customers we may pursue, or to achieve broader market acceptance of our platform will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively organize, focus,
and train our sales, marketing, and customer success personnel.

Our ability to convince restaurant brands to use our platform or adopt additional modules will depend, in part, on our ability to attract and retain sales
personnel with experience selling to large enterprises. We believe that there is significant competition for experienced sales professionals with the skills and
technical knowledge that we require. Our ability to achieve revenue growth in the future will depend, in part, on our ability to recruit, train, and retain a
sufficient number of experienced sales professionals, particularly those with experience selling to restaurant brands or large enterprises. In addition, even if we
are successful in hiring qualified sales personnel, new hires require significant training and experience before they achieve full productivity, particularly for
sales efforts targeted at restaurant brands and new territories. Our recent hires and planned hires may not become as productive as quickly as we expect and we
may be unable to hire or retain sufficient numbers of qualified individuals in the future in the markets where we do business.

In the past we have experienced, and we expect to continue to experience, difficulty in hiring employees with appropriate qualifications. In many
markets, competition for qualified individuals is substantial and we may be unable to identify and attract a sufficient number of individuals to meet our
growing needs, especially in markets where our brand is less established. As a result, because we aim to hire top talent, we may be required to pay higher
wages or provide increased levels of benefits. Our commitment to taking care of our team may cause us to incur higher labor costs compared to other
technology companies. We also place a heavy emphasis on the qualification and training of our team members, and spend a significant amount of time and
money training our team members. Any inability to recruit and retain qualified individuals may result in higher turnover and increased labor costs, and could
compromise the quality of our service, all of which could adversely affect
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our business. Many of the companies with which we compete for experienced personnel have greater resources than we have. If we hire employees from
competitors or other companies, their former employers may attempt to assert that these employees or we have breached their legal obligations, resulting in
additional costs and a diversion of our time and resources. The workforce reductions we have implemented as part of our Restructuring Plans may negatively
impact our ability to attract, integrate, retain, and motivate highly qualified employees, and may harm our reputation with current or prospective employees. In
addition, prospective and existing employees often consider the value of the equity awards they receive in connection with their employment. Capital markets
have been volatile, which may cause the perceived value of our equity awards to decline and cause prospective employees to believe there is limited upside to
the value of our equity awards, which would adversely affect our ability to recruit and retain key employees. If we fail to attract new personnel or fail to retain
and motivate our current personnel, our business and future growth prospects could be harmed.

Industry Risks

Unfavorable conditions in our industry or the global economy, or reductions in digital ordering transaction volume or technology spending, have
in the past and could in the future adversely impact the health of our customers, limit our ability to grow our business, and negatively affect our results of
operations.

Our results of operations have in the past and may in the future vary based on the impact of changes in our industry or the global economy on us or
our customers and potential customers. In recent months, we have observed increased economic uncertainty in the United States and abroad. Negative
conditions in the general economy both in the United States and abroad, including conditions resulting from changes in gross domestic product growth,
decreases in restaurant and digital ordering spending, inflationary pressures, elevated interest rates, lower consumer confidence or uneven or lower spending,
volatile capital markets, the impact of a housing crisis and other conditions in the residential real estate and mortgage markets, gasoline prices, energy and other
utility costs, inclement weather, health care costs, access to credit, disposable consumer income, governmental efforts, changes in governmental policies and
the downsizing of government agencies, financial and credit market fluctuations, international trade relations, restrictive governmental action related to tariffs,
trade agreements, or policies, and protectionist or retaliatory measures taken by foreign governments, political turmoil, natural catastrophes, epidemics,
warfare, including the ongoing war in Ukraine, conflict in Israel, Gaza, and the Middle East, and terrorist attacks on the United States, Canada, or elsewhere,
could cause a reduction in customer locations and digital ordering transaction volumes, a decrease in business investments, including spending on technology,
or business interruptions, and negative impacts to the growth of our business, revenue, and earnings.

More specifically, we are heavily reliant on the restaurant, food, and delivery industries, and any downturn or shift in those industries could
significantly impact our results. In poor or uncertain economic conditions, restaurant guest traffic could be adversely impacted if guests choose to dine out or
order less frequently or reduce the amount they spend on meals. In addition, inflation and the rising costs of food and labor have caused some businesses in the
restaurant food and delivery industries to raise their prices which, for some businesses, has caused a decline in guest traffic. Further, to the extent there is a
sustained general economic downturn and our solutions are perceived by existing and potential restaurant customers as costly, or too difficult to deploy or
migrate to, our revenue may be disproportionately affected by delays or reductions in on-demand digital commerce spending. For example, we have in the past
observed elongated sales cycles. Competitors may respond to market conditions by lowering prices and attempting to lure away our customers. Additionally,
reports, whether true or not, of foodborne illnesses and injuries caused by food tampering have severely injured the reputations of participants in the food
business and the restaurant industry generally, and could continue to do so in the future, and those reports could harm our business and results of operations.
The potential for acts of terrorism on the United States’ food supply also exists and, if such an event occurs, it could harm our business and results of
operations.

In addition, we contract directly with our DSPs to provide delivery services to our restaurant customers through our Dispatch module and then invoice
our restaurant customers for the cost associated with DSP services. As a result, we may be required to make payments to DSPs prior to receiving payment from
our restaurant customers for DSP transactions, which could reduce the amount of cash and cash equivalents we have available for the period between payment
to the DSPs and receipt of payment from the restaurant customer. In addition, restaurant customers have in the past and could in the future go out of business,
become insolvent, or otherwise be unable to pay for DSP transactions, and we are responsible for making payments to the DSPs that our customers otherwise
would have made, which adversely affects our business. Furthermore, our DSPs and other vendors, suppliers or partners may raise prices due to inflation, rising
costs, or changing regulations. If this occurs, we may not be able to pass on these increased costs to our restaurant customers. This may materially and
adversely affect our business, including our competitive position, market share, revenues, and earnings.
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Lastly, the increased pace of consolidation in the restaurant industry, the loss of partners that may have gone out of business or may have merged with
other of our partners, or of the acquisition of our customers by other companies that do not use our solutions, may result in reduced overall spending on our
platform. We cannot predict the timing, strength, or duration of any economic slowdown, instability, or recovery, generally or within the restaurant industry. If
the economic conditions of the general economy or markets in which we operate worsen, our business, results of operations, and financial condition could be
materially and adversely affected.

Increases in food, labor, rent, energy, and occupancy costs could adversely affect results of operations.

Our financial success is dependent, in part, on the ability of our restaurant customers to increase digital ordering and maintain profitability. These
customers have in the past and may in the future experience increased operating costs, including as a result of changes to food, labor, rent, energy, occupancy,
insurance, and supply costs, and they may be unable to recover these costs through increased menu prices, and as a result, may cease operations. Additionally,
if our restaurant customers raise prices in light of these factors, order volume may decline, which could harm our revenue and results of operations.

Various factors beyond our control, including government regulations relating to independent contractor classifications, price controls on food
delivery logistics platforms, labor shortages, supply constraints, inflation, and minimum wage increases, may also affect the total cost of digital food orders to
guests. The overall cost environment for food commodities can also be volatile due to domestic and worldwide agricultural supply and demand and other
macroeconomic factors that are outside of our control. If our current or future customers and partners are unable to maintain or increase digital orders or
maintain profitability, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be harmed.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock

We expect fluctuations in our financial results, making it difficult to project future results, and if we fail to meet the expectations of securities
analysts or investors with respect to our results of operations, our stock price and the value of your investment could decline.

Our quarterly operating results, including our revenues, operating margin, profitability, cash flow, number of locations, and transaction volumes have
in the past and may in the future vary significantly and period-to-period comparisons of our operating results may not be meaningful. Accordingly, the results
of any one quarter should not be relied upon as an indication of future performance. Our quarterly financial results may fluctuate as a result of a variety of
factors, many of which are outside of our control, and as a result, may not fully reflect the underlying performance of our business. Fluctuations in our
quarterly results and related impacts to any earnings guidance we may issue from time to time, including any modification or withdrawal thereof, may
negatively impact the value of our securities. Additional factors that may cause fluctuations in our quarterly financial results include, without limitation, those
listed below:

• fluctuations in demand for or pricing of our platform or any of our modules, including any governmental regulations that restrict the amount we can
charge;

• fluctuations in usage of our platform or any of our modules;
• our ability to attract new customers;
• our ability to retain our existing customers;
• our ability to retain and increase revenue, locations, and transaction volumes from existing customers;
• delays in our customers’ adoption of new products, including Olo Pay;
• the timing of our customer purchases and deployments;
• the amount of time it takes for our customers to be onboarded to our platform and modules;
• customer expansion rates and the pricing and quantity of subscriptions renewed and transactions processed through our platform;
• competition and the actions of our competitors, including pricing changes and the introduction of new products, services, and geographies;
• reductions in pricing or customer locations, including as a result of negotiations with our larger customers;
• changes in the size and complexity of our customer relationships;
• actions by our customers related to implementation of internal or competitive products and tools that may displace their need for our services;
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• changes in spending by our existing or prospective customers and their guests;
• pricing our platform subscriptions effectively so that we are able to attract and retain customers without compromising our profitability;
• customer renewal rates and the amounts for which agreements are renewed;
• timing and amount of our investments to expand the capacity of our third-party cloud infrastructure providers;
• the investment in and success of new modules relative to our existing infrastructure and platform;
• fluctuations or delays in purchasing decisions in anticipation of new modules or enhancements by us or our competitors;
• changes in customers’ budgets and in the timing of their budget cycles and purchasing decisions;
• our ability to control costs, including our operating expenses;
• the amount and timing of payment for operating expenses, particularly research and development and sales and marketing expenses, including sales

commissions;
• the amount and timing of non-cash expenses, including stock-based compensation, goodwill or other asset impairments, if any, and other non-cash

charges;
• the amount and timing of costs associated with recruiting, training, and integrating new employees, and retaining and motivating existing employees;
• the effects of acquisitions and their integration;
• the inability to execute on our share repurchase program as planned, including failure to meet internal or external expectations around the timing or

price of share repurchases, and any reductions or discontinuations of repurchases thereunder;
• general economic conditions, both domestically and internationally, as well as economic conditions (including elevated and fluctuating inflation and

interest rates) specifically affecting industries in which our customers participate;
• health epidemics or pandemics;
• the impact of new accounting pronouncements;
• changes in regulatory or legal environments that may cause us to incur, among other elements, expenses associated with compliance;
• changes in the competitive dynamics of our market, including consolidation among competitors or customers; and
• significant security breaches of, technical difficulties with, or interruptions to, the delivery and use of our modules and platform capabilities or third-

party applications or POS or management systems with which our platform integrates.

Any of these and other factors, or the cumulative effect of some of these factors, may cause our results of operations to vary significantly. If our results
of operations or key performance indicators fall below the expectations of investors and securities analysts who follow our stock, the price of our Class A
common stock could decline substantially, and we could face costly lawsuits, including securities class action suits, such as the class action lawsuit filed on
September 26, 2022. A description of our legal proceedings can be found in “Legal Proceedings” included in Part I, Item 3, and “Note 14—Commitments and
Contingencies” of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The dual-class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting control with our existing stockholders, executive officers,
directors, and their affiliates, which will limit your ability to influence the outcome of important transactions and to influence corporate governance
matters, such as electing directors, and to approve material mergers, acquisitions, or other business combination transactions that may not be aligned with
your interests.

Our Class B common stock has ten votes per share, whereas our Class A common stock has one vote per share. As of December 31, 2024, holders of
our Class B common stock collectively owned shares representing approximately 81% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock. As of December
31, 2024, our directors and executive officers and their affiliates collectively beneficially owned, in the aggregate, shares representing approximately 82% of
the voting power of our outstanding capital stock.

As a result, the holders of our Class B common stock are able to exercise considerable influence over matters requiring stockholder approval,
including the election of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our company or our assets, even if their
stock holdings represent less than a majority of the outstanding shares of
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our capital stock. This concentration of ownership limits the ability of other stockholders to influence corporate matters and may cause us to make strategic
decisions that could involve risks to you or that may not be aligned with your interests. This control may adversely affect the market price of our Class A
common stock.

Further, future transfers by holders of our Class B common stock will generally result in those shares converting into shares of our Class A common
stock, subject to limited exceptions, such as certain transfers effected for tax or estate planning purposes. The conversion of shares of our Class B common
stock into shares of our Class A common stock will have the effect, over time, of increasing the relative voting power of those holders of Class B common
stock who retain their shares in the long-term.

In addition, while we do not expect to issue any additional shares of Class B common stock, any future issuances of Class B common stock would be
dilutive to holders of Class A common stock. Such issuances would also reduce the voting power of our Class A common stock as compared to Class B
common stock and could further concentrate the voting power of holders of our Class B common stock relative to holders of our Class A common stock.

We may not realize the anticipated long-term stockholder value of our stock buyback programs, and any failure to repurchase our Class A
common stock after we have announced our intention to do so may negatively impact our stock price. Share repurchases could also increase the volatility
of our stock price and diminish our cash reserves.

We have authorized stock buyback programs in the past and may authorize other stock buyback programs in the future to repurchase shares of our
Class A common stock. On April 30, 2024, the Board of Directors authorized the 2024 Buyback Program. Such repurchases may be made from time to time on
a discretionary basis through open market repurchases, privately negotiated transactions, block purchases, or other means, and will be structured to occur in
compliance with applicable securities laws. The 2024 Buyback Program does not have an expiration date or obligate us to repurchase any specific dollar
amount or acquire any specific number of shares. Further, the 2024 Buyback Program may be modified, suspended or terminated at any time by the Board of
Directors at its discretion.

Any failure to repurchase our Class A common stock after we have announced our intention to do so may negatively impact our reputation and
investor confidence in us and may negatively impact our stock price.

The existence of any stock buyback programs, including the 2024 Buyback Program, could cause our stock price to trade higher than it otherwise
would. Although the programs are intended to enhance long-term stockholder value, there is no assurance they will do so because the market price of our Class
A common stock may decline below the levels at which we repurchased shares and short-term stock price fluctuations could reduce the effectiveness of the
programs.

Repurchasing our Class A common stock will reduce the amount of cash we have available to fund working capital, capital expenditures, strategic
acquisitions, or business opportunities, and other general corporate purposes, and we may fail to realize the anticipated long-term stockholder value of any such
stock buyback program, including the 2024 Buyback Program. Furthermore, the timing and amount of any repurchases, if any, will be subject to liquidity,
market and economic conditions, compliance with applicable legal requirements such as Delaware surplus and solvency tests, and other relevant factors.

If our operating and financial performance in any given period does not meet the guidance that we provide to the public or the expectations of
investment analysts, the market price of our Class A common stock may decline.

We may, but are not obligated to, continue to provide public guidance on our expected operating and financial results for future periods. Any such
guidance will comprise forward-looking statements, subject to the risks, assumptions, and uncertainties described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in
our other public filings and public statements. Our ability to provide this public guidance, and our ability to accurately forecast our results of operations, may
be impacted by changes in the macroeconomic and geopolitical environment. In addition, various news sources, bloggers, and other publishers often make
statements regarding our historical or projected business or financial performance, and you should not rely on any such information even if it is attributed
directly or indirectly to us. Our actual results may not always be in line with or exceed any guidance we have provided or the consensus of third parties, and
may differ materially from such projections, especially in times of economic uncertainty, such as the current macroeconomic and geopolitical environment, the
war in Ukraine, conflict in Israel, Gaza, and the Middle East, fluctuating interest rates and inflation, potential recessionary factors and other factors. Factors
that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those identified in these Risk Factors, some or all of which are not predictable
or in our control. For example, if we fail to predict the impacts that the evolution of macroeconomic conditions will have on our business and the duration of
these impacts, the guidance and other forward-looking statements we provide may also be incorrect or incomplete. Other unknown or unpredictable factors
also could adversely
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impact our performance, and we undertake no obligation to update or revise any projections, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Guidance is necessarily speculative in nature, and it can be expected that some or all of the assumptions underlying the guidance furnished by us will
not materialize or will vary significantly from actual results. Accordingly, our guidance is only an estimate of what management believes is realizable as of the
date of release. Actual results may vary from our guidance and the variations may be material. In light of the foregoing, investors are urged not to rely upon our
guidance in making an investment decision regarding our common stock. Any failure to successfully implement our operating strategy or the occurrence of any
of the events or circumstances set forth in this Risk Factors section in this report could result in the actual operating results being different from our guidance,
and the differences may be adverse and material. If our operating or financial results for a particular period do not meet any guidance we provide or the
expectations of investment analysts, or if we continue to reduce our guidance for future periods, the market price of our Class A common stock may decline.
While we currently issue public guidance, there can be no assurance that we will continue to do so in the future.

Our stock price may be volatile, and the value of our Class A common stock may decline.

The market price of our Class A common stock may be highly volatile and may fluctuate or decline substantially as a result of a variety of factors,
some of which are beyond our control, including:

• price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time, including fluctuations due to general economic uncertainty or negative
market sentiment, fluctuating inflation, and interest rates;

• actual or anticipated fluctuations in our financial condition or results of operations;
• variance in our financial performance from expectations of securities analysts;
• changes in the pricing and adoption rates of our modules;
• changes in our projected operating and financial results;
• changes in laws or regulations applicable to our platform and modules;
• investor sentiment and the public’s reaction to announcements by us or our competitors of significant business developments, acquisitions, or new

offerings;
• the trading volume of our Class A common stock;
• future sales of our Class A common stock by us or our stockholders;
• our involvement in litigation;
• significant data breaches;
• disruptions to or other incidents involving our software;
• changes in senior management or key personnel;
• investors’ perceptions that our internal controls are inadequate;
• changes in the anticipated future size and growth rate of our markets; and
• general economic conditions and slow or negative growth of our markets.

Broad market and industry fluctuations, as well as general economic, political, regulatory, and market conditions, may also negatively impact the
market price of our Class A common stock. In addition, the stock market in general, and the market for technology companies in particular, has experienced
extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. Broad market and
industry factors may seriously affect the market price of our Class A common stock, regardless of our actual operating performance.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market price of a particular company’s securities, securities class action
litigation has often been instituted against these companies. Securities litigation against us, such as the class action lawsuit filed on September 26, 2022, could
result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and resources from our business, and, if the claims are successful, our business could be
harmed. This risk could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition. A description of our legal proceedings can be
found in “Legal Proceedings” included in Part I, Item 3, and “Note 14—Commitments and Contingencies” of the notes to our consolidated financial statements
included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The occurrence of one or more of the foregoing and other factors may cause our results of
operations to vary significantly. In addition, a significant percentage of our operating expenses is fixed in nature and is based on forecasted revenue and trends.
Accordingly, in the event of a revenue shortfall, we may not be able to mitigate the negative impact on our income (loss) and margins in the short-term. If
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we fail to meet or exceed the expectations of investors or securities analysts as a result of a revenue shortfall or otherwise, then the trading price of our Class A
common stock could fall substantially.

We cannot predict the impact our dual-class structure may have on the market price of our Class A common stock.

We cannot predict whether our dual-class structure, combined with the concentrated control of our stockholders who held our capital stock prior to the
completion of our IPO, including our executive officers, employees, and directors and their affiliates, will result in a lower or more volatile market price of our
Class A common stock or in adverse publicity or other adverse consequences. For example, certain index providers have previously implemented, and may in
the future determine to implement, restrictions on including companies with multiple class shares in certain of their indices. For example, from July 2017 to
April 2023, S&P Dow Jones excluded companies with multiple share classes from the S&P Composite 1500 (composed of the S&P 500, S&P MidCap 400, and
S&P SmallCap 600). Indices have discretion to reassess and implement such policies with respect to multi-class differing voting right structures. Under any
such policies, our dual class capital structure would make us ineligible for inclusion in any of these indices. Given the sustained flow of investment funds into
passive strategies that seek to track certain indexes, exclusion from stock indexes would likely preclude investment by many of these funds and could make our
Class A common stock less attractive to other investors. As a result, the market price of our Class A common stock could be adversely affected.

Future sales of our Class A common stock in the public market could cause the market price of our Class A common stock to decline.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our Class A common stock in the public market, or the perception that these sales might occur, could depress
the market price of our Class A common stock and could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities. Many of our existing
equity holders have substantial unrecognized gains on the value of the equity they hold, and therefore they may take steps to sell their shares or otherwise
secure the unrecognized gains on those shares. We are unable to predict the timing of or the effect that such sales may have on the prevailing market price of
our Class A common stock.

We have registered all of the shares of Class A common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options or other equity incentives we may grant in
the future, for public resale under the Securities Act. The shares of Class A common stock will become eligible for sale in the public market to the extent such
options are exercised, subject to compliance with applicable securities laws.

As of December 31, 2024, holders of a substantial number of shares of our capital stock outstanding as of such date, had rights, subject to some
conditions, to require us to file registration statements covering the sale of their shares or to include their shares in registration statements that we may file for
ourselves or other stockholders.

Our issuance of additional capital stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, our equity incentive plans, or otherwise will
dilute all other stockholders.

We expect to issue additional capital stock in the future that will result in dilution to all other stockholders. We expect to grant equity awards to
employees, directors, and consultants under our equity incentive plans. We may also raise capital through equity financings in the future. As part of our
business strategy, we may acquire or make investments in companies, products, or technologies and issue equity securities to pay for any such acquisition or
investment. For example, in connection with the consummation of the Wisely Acquisition, we issued shares of our Class A Common Stock to Wisely security
holders. Any such issuances of additional capital stock may cause stockholders to experience significant dilution of their ownership interests and the per share
value of our Class A common stock to decline.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future and, as a result, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will depend on
appreciation in the price of our Class A common stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock, and we do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any
determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors. Accordingly, you may need to rely on sales of our Class A
common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on your investment.
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Our management team has limited experience managing a public company.

Our management team has limited experience managing a publicly-traded company, interacting with public company investors and securities analysts,
and complying with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies. These new obligations and constituents require significant attention from
our management team and could divert their attention away from the day-to-day management of our business, which could harm our business, results of
operations, and financial condition.

We incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management is required to devote substantial time to compliance
with our public company responsibilities and corporate governance practices.

As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting, and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the listing requirements of the NYSE, and other applicable securities rules and regulations
impose various requirements on public companies. Our management and other personnel devote a substantial amount of time to compliance with these
requirements. Moreover, these rules and regulations increase our legal and financial compliance costs and make some activities more time-consuming and
costly.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of our company more difficult, limit
attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management, and limit the market price of our Class A common stock.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, as amended, or Charter, and amended and restated bylaws, or Bylaws, may have
the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control or changes in our management. Our Charter and Bylaws include provisions that:

• authorize our Board of Directors to issue, without further action by the stockholders, shares of undesignated preferred stock with terms, rights, and
preferences determined by our Board of Directors that may be senior to our common stock;

• require that any action to be taken by our stockholders be affected at a duly called annual or special meeting and not by written consent;
• specify that special meetings of our stockholders can be called only by our Board of Directors, the chairperson of our Board of Directors, or our Chief

Executive Officer;
• establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting, including proposed nominations of persons

for election to our Board of Directors;
• establish that our Board of Directors is divided into three classes, with each class serving three-year staggered terms;
• prohibit cumulative voting in the election of directors;
• provide that our directors may be removed for cause only upon the vote of at least 66 2/3% of our outstanding shares of common stock;
• provide that vacancies on our Board of Directors may be filled only by a majority of directors then in office, even though less than a quorum; and
• require the approval of our Board of Directors or the holders of at least 66 2/3% of our outstanding shares of voting stock to amend our Bylaws and

certain provisions of our Charter.

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult
for stockholders to replace members of our Board of Directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management. In addition, because we
are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally, subject to certain
exceptions, prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any “interested” stockholder for a period of
three years following the date on which the stockholder became an “interested” stockholder. Any of the foregoing provisions could limit the price that investors
might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our Class A common stock, and they could deter potential acquirers of our company, thereby reducing the
likelihood that you would receive a premium for your shares of our Class A common stock in an acquisition.
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Our Charter designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the federal district courts of the United States of America as the
exclusive forums for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders, which may restrict our stockholders’ ability to choose the judicial forum
for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or employees.

Our Charter provides that, unless we consent in writing to an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum
for the following types of claims or causes of action under Delaware statutory or common law: any derivative claims or causes of action brought on our behalf;
any claims or causes of action for breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director, officer, or other employee of ours; any action asserting a
claim arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law, our Charter, or our Bylaws; any claim or cause of action seeking to interpret, apply, enforce,
or determine the validity of our Charter or our Bylaws; any claim or causes of action as to which the Delaware General Corporation Law confers jurisdiction on
the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware; or any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine; provided, however,
that these provisions do not apply to claims or causes of action brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the Securities Act. In
addition, our Charter provides that the federal district courts of the United States of America will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a
cause of action arising under the Securities Act. In addition, our amended and restated articles of incorporation provide that any person or entity purchasing or
otherwise acquiring any interest in any security of ours is deemed to have notice of and consented to these provisions; provided, however, that stockholders
cannot and will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.

These choice of forum provisions may impose additional litigation costs on stockholders in pursuing such claims, and may limit a stockholder’s ability
to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or other employees, which may discourage the filing of
lawsuits against us and our directors, officers, and employees, even though an action, if successful, might benefit our stockholders. In addition, while the
Delaware Supreme Court and other states courts have upheld the validity of federal forum selection provisions purporting to require claims under the Securities
Act be brought in federal court, there is uncertainty as to whether other courts will enforce our federal forum provision. If a court were to find either choice of
forum provision contained in our Charter to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such
matters.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity.

Cybersecurity Risk Management

Cybersecurity risk management is a significant part of our overall risk management process. Our cybersecurity risk management program is informed
by security frameworks and standards, such as PCI DSS, ISO 27001, and CIS Controls. We have designed and implemented various information security
processes that are intended to protect the confidentiality, integrity, security, and availability of our critical systems and information and provide a cross-
functional framework for identifying, preventing, and mitigating cybersecurity threats and incidents, including threats and incidents associated with the use of
applications developed and services provided by third-party service providers.

Our cybersecurity risk management program includes:

• an internal security team, led by our Chief Information Security Officer, or CISO, which is responsible for, among other matters, monitoring our
platform through penetration testing and vulnerability scanning, managing our cybersecurity risk assessment processes, and implementing our security
controls;

• an annual risk assessment performed by our internal security team designed to identify material cybersecurity risks to our critical systems,
information, products, services, and our broader enterprise IT environment;

• a cybersecurity incident response plan, or IRP, that establishes an organizational framework and guidelines to assist us in identifying, responding to,
and recovering from cybersecurity incidents;

• the use of external service providers, where appropriate, to assess, test, or otherwise assist with other services, such as performing third-party
penetration testing, assisting with incident response, and facilitating adversary simulations;
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• annual cybersecurity awareness training for our employees and additional training for engineers, technical team members, members of the
cybersecurity incident response team, or CSIRT, and our Board of Directors;

• a third-party risk management process for service providers and vendors, which includes review by the internal security team at onboarding and, for
certain significant vendors, an annual security review; and

• an insurance policy to help mitigate, in certain circumstances, potential liabilities resulting from cybersecurity incidents and other cyber issues.

To date, risks from cybersecurity threats have not materially affected, and we do not believe they are reasonably likely to materially affect, us, our
business strategy, results of operations or financial condition. However, despite our efforts, we cannot eliminate all risks from cybersecurity threats or incidents.
For more information about cybersecurity-related risks, please refer to the section entitled “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Cybersecurity Governance

Our Board of Directors exercises oversight over our risk management process directly, as well as through its various standing committees that address
risks inherent in their respective areas of oversight. In particular, our Board of Directors delegates cybersecurity risk management oversight to the audit
committee of the Board of Directors. The audit committee oversees our cybersecurity processes and policies on risk identification, management, and
assessment. The audit committee also reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of such policies, as well as the steps taken by management to mitigate or
otherwise control these cybersecurity exposures and to identify future risks. The audit committee receives periodic reports from our CISO and Chief Legal
Officer, or CLO, on material cybersecurity risks, developments in cybersecurity, key cybersecurity initiatives, ongoing priorities and work of the governance,
risk, and compliance committee, or the GRC Committee, updated risk assessments of our cybersecurity program, and mitigation strategies.

Our cybersecurity risk management processes are implemented, assessed, and managed by certain members of Olo management, including our CISO
and CLO. Our CISO has 25 years of experience in information technology and risk management at various companies, such as Yum Brands, Inc. and Domino’s
Pizza, Inc. He is also an ISC2 Certified Information Systems Security Professional. Our CLO has 16 years of experience and received a cybersecurity oversight
certification from the National Cybersecurity Center. Both act as chairs of our GRC Committee. The GRC Committee provides direction, oversight, and
management of our cybersecurity and privacy programs with a focus on business objectives, the protection of customer and employee data, safeguarding our
systems, and complying with applicable laws, regulations, and contractual obligations. Cross-functional leaders within Olo, including members from our
information technology, data science, finance, legal, and people & culture teams, are part of the committee. Our GRC Committee meets periodically to align
cybersecurity and privacy strategy with business needs and risk appetite, monitor the execution of key cybersecurity initiatives, and serve as an escalation point
for any related issues.

Olo’s IRP is also designed to escalate certain cybersecurity incidents to members of management, depending on the circumstances. Our internal
security team, among others, works with our CSIRT to help assess, mitigate, and remediate cybersecurity incidents of which they are notified. Our CLO, as the
CSIRT leader, directs and coordinates CSIRT’s activities, in consultation with the CISO and other members of management. In addition, the IRP includes
processes for reporting to the audit committee and our Board of Directors certain cybersecurity incidents.

Item 2. Properties.

Our principal executive offices are located in New York City, where we lease approximately 36,100 square feet at 285 Fulton Street, One World Trade
Center, 82nd Floor, New York, New York 10007 under a lease that expires in May 2030.

We use the current facility for our single operating segment and believe that it is adequate to meet our needs for the immediate future.

45



Table Of Contents

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

A description of our legal proceedings is included in and incorporated by reference to “Note 14—Commitments and Contingencies” of the notes to our
consolidated financial statements included in Part 2, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Certain Information Regarding the Trading of Our Common Stock

Our Class A common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “OLO” on March 17, 2021. Prior to that date, there was
no public trading market for our Class A common stock.

Our Class B common stock is not listed or traded on any stock exchange.

Holders of Record

As of February 18, 2025, there were approximately 27 stockholders of record of our Class A common stock. The number of stockholders of record is
based upon the actual number of holders registered on this date and does not include holders of common stock in “street name” by brokers or other entities on
behalf of stockholders.

As of February 18, 2025, there were approximately 8 stockholders of record of our Class B common stock.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and future earnings, if any, to
fund the development and expansion of our business, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. In addition, our loan and
security agreement with Pacific Western Bank (now known as Banc of California) contains restrictive covenants that prohibit us, subject to certain exceptions,
from paying dividends on our Class A common stock and Class B common stock, and future debt securities or other financing arrangements could contain
similar or more restrictive negative covenants. Any future determination regarding the declaration and payment of dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of
our Board of Directors and will depend on then-existing conditions, including our financial condition, operating results, contractual restrictions, including in
our then-existing debt arrangements, capital requirements, business prospects, and other factors our Board of Directors may deem relevant.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

None.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by Item 5 of Form 10-K regarding equity compensation plans is incorporated herein by reference to Item 12 of Part III of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On September 7, 2022, we announced a program to repurchase up to $100 million of our Class A common stock, or the 2022 Stock Buyback Program.
The 2022 Stock Buyback Program was completed as of June 30, 2024. On April 30, 2024, the Board of Directors authorized a program to repurchase up to
$100 million of our Class A common stock, or the 2024 Buyback Program. The 2024 Buyback Program has no expiration date and may be modified, suspended
or terminated at any time by our Board of Directors at its discretion. The remaining authorization under the 2024 Buyback Program is $100 million, as there
have been no share repurchases under this program to date.

Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or
otherwise subject to the liabilities under that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Olo Inc. under the Securities
Act or the Exchange Act.

The following graph compares the cumulative total return to stockholders on our Class A common stock with the cumulative total returns of the
Russell 2000, the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index, or the S&P 500, and the S&P 500 Information Technology Sector Index, or the S&P 500 IT. An investment of
$100 is assumed to have been made in our Class A common stock and in each index on March 17, 2021, the date our Class A common stock began trading on
the New York Stock Exchange, and its relative performance is tracked through December 31, 2024, the last trading date of fiscal year 2024. The graph uses the
closing market price on March 17, 2021 of $34.75 per share as the initial value of our Class A common stock.

The returns shown are based on historical results and are not intended to suggest future performance.

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form  10-K. The discussion contains forward-looking statements,
including, but not limited to, statements with respect to our transaction volumes, our net revenue retention, our costs and expenses, and new and existing
customer adoption of multi-modules, that are based on the beliefs of management, as well as assumptions made by, and information currently available to, our
management. Actual results could differ materially from those discussed in or implied by forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including
those discussed below and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, particularly in the sections entitled “Risk Factors” and “Special Note Regarding
Forward-Looking Statements.” We have omitted discussion of fiscal year 2023 compared to fiscal year 2022 where it would be redundant to the discussion
previously included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with the SEC, on February 21, 2024.

Overview

We are Olo, a leading open SaaS platform for restaurants. We provide restaurant brands with an enterprise-grade, open SaaS platform that powers
their digital ordering, delivery, and full-stack payment programs and enables brands to collect, analyze, and act on data to drive more personalized guest
experiences and profitable traffic. Our platform and application programming interfaces, or APIs, seamlessly integrate with a wide range of solutions, unifying
disparate technologies across the restaurant ecosystem. Leading restaurant brands trust Olo for its capabilities, reliability, security, scalability, and
interoperability. Our platform currently handles, on average, more than 2.5 million orders per day, and more than 95 million guests have transacted on our
platform over the last year. As of December 31, 2024, our customer base included more than 750 restaurant brands, representing approximately 86,000 active
locations, across all industry service models, including quick service, fast casual, casual dining, family dining, and coffee and snack food.

As a result of our ability to meet restaurant brands’ growing needs, gross merchandise volume, or GMV, which we define as the gross value of
orders processed through our platform, has increased on an annual basis, reaching approximately $29 billion during the year ended December 31, 2024. Gross
payment volume, or GPV, which we define as the gross volume of payments processed through the Olo Pay payment processing solution, has reached $2.8
billion during the year ended December 31, 2024. Management uses GMV and GPV metrics to assess demand for our products. We also believe these metrics
provide investors with useful supplemental information about the financial performance of our business, enable comparison of financial results between periods
where certain items may vary independent of business performance, and allow for greater transparency with respect to key metrics used by management in
operating our business.

Restaurants are an incredibly complex segment of the retail industry. Restaurant operators must manage the intricacies of food production for just-
in-time consumption and comply with strict health and safety regulations while providing a high-quality and consistent guest experience that engenders loyalty
and trust. Most restaurant brands, which we define as a specific restaurant brand or restaurant chain, do not have the expertise or the resources to develop their
own solutions to manage on-demand digital commerce and are more acutely challenged because their in-store technology consists of a fragmented set of legacy
solutions, many of which were developed before the internet. This technology fragmentation is exacerbated by the prevalence of the franchise model in the
restaurant industry, where franchisee operator groups may use different technology vendors for their restaurant locations than those used by a restaurant brand’s
owned and operated locations. At the same time, third-party marketplaces have provided incremental digital orders for brands, but these orders are less
profitable for the brand than their direct orders and the guest relationship and associated transaction data are owned by the marketplace, not the brand. Due to
its unique complexities and challenges, the restaurant industry has historically been one of the lowest-penetrated on-demand digital commerce segments of the
retail industry, with digital orders accounting for only 18% of total restaurant industry orders in 2024, according to data from Circana.

Our open SaaS platform is purpose-built to meet these complex needs and align with the interests of the restaurant industry. We have developed our
platform in collaboration with many of the leading restaurant brands in the United States. We believe our platform is the only independent open SaaS platform
for restaurants to enable hospitality with modern, restaurant-centric solutions. We offer across three product suites:

• Order. A suite of solutions powering restaurant brands’ on-demand digital commerce operations, enabling a unified digital ordering and
delivery experience for guests, and menu and channel management for brands across their fragmented technology stacks.
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• Pay. A fully integrated, payments platform, enabling restaurants to improve operations through unified payment processing management and
reporting across digital and on-premise transactions, and advanced fraud prevention; and

• Engage. A suite of marketing solutions that enable restaurants to aggregate and store guest data from Olo Order, Olo Pay, and other sources,
segment it based on guest behavior, and deliver personalized marketing messages to guests that help enhance the restaurant’s direct guest
relationship and increase restaurant traffic.

We continually invest in architectural improvements so that our system can scale in tandem with our continued growth. Additionally, both internal
and external security experts frequently test our system for vulnerabilities. We have never experienced a material breach of customer or guest data. Our open
SaaS platform integrates with over 400 restaurant technology solutions including point-of-sale, or POS, systems, aggregators, DSPs, ordering service providers,
or OSPs, payment processors, user experience, or UX, and user interface, or UI, providers, and loyalty programs, giving our customers significant control over
the configuration and features of their distinct digital offering.

Our contracts typically have initial terms of three years or longer, with continuous one-to-two-year automatic renewal periods, providing visibility
into our future financial performance. We have a highly efficient go-to-market model as a result of our industry thought leadership, partnership approach with
our restaurant customers, and experienced enterprise sales, customer experience, and implementation teams. Unlike other enterprise software businesses, where
the sales team works to add a single location or division and expand to others, we generally enter into relationships at the brand’s corporate level and strive to
secure exclusivity across all locations. This enables us to deploy our modules across all new and existing brand locations without any additional sales and
marketing costs and upsell new offerings to the brand itself, rather than each individual location. Our dollar-based net revenue retention approximated 115% for
the three months ended December 31, 2024. See the section below entitled “Key Factors Affecting Our Performance” for additional information on how we
calculate dollar-based net revenue retention.

We generate subscription revenue primarily from our Order platform and Engage solutions. In addition, a portion of our customers purchase an
allotment of monthly orders for a fixed monthly fee and pay us an additional fee for each excess order, which we also consider to be subscription revenue. Our
transaction revenue primarily includes revenue generated from our Olo Pay solution, as well as fees charged to aggregators, channel partners, and other service
providers in our ecosystem on a per transaction basis for access to our Rails and Dispatch modules.

Key Factors Affecting Our Performance

The following summarizes selected key performance indicators for the year ended, or as of, each of the dates presented:
Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Average Revenue Per Unit $ 3,387  $ 2,702 
Ending Active Locations 86,000  80,000 

Expand Within Our Existing Customer Base

Our large base of enterprise customers represent an opportunity for further revenue expansion from the sale of additional modules and the addition
of new restaurant locations. We form unique, trusted partnerships with our restaurant brands, which we leverage to inform the development of our products. We
use average revenue per unit as a key measure of our ability to grow within our customer base through the development of our products. We calculate our
average revenue per unit by dividing the total platform revenue in a given period by the average active locations in that same period. Our ability to retain and
increase revenue from existing customers will depend on a number of factors, including fluctuations in our customers’ spending levels, our customers’ ability to
deploy our modules, fluctuations in the number of transactions processed by our customers on the platform, the average number of active locations, and the
ability of our customers to switch to a competitor or develop their own internal platform solutions.

Another metric we use to demonstrate the propensity of our customers to continue to work with and expand their relationship with us over time is
our dollar-based net revenue retention, which compares our revenue from the same set of active customers in one period to the prior year period. An active
customer is a specific restaurant brand that utilizes one or
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more of our modules in a given quarterly period. We calculate dollar-based net revenue retention as of a period-end by starting with the prior period revenue,
defined as platform revenue, from the cohort of all active customers as of 12 months prior to such period-end. We then calculate the platform revenue from
these same customers as of the current period-end, or the current period revenue. Current period revenue includes any expansion and is net of contraction or
attrition over the last 12 months, but excludes platform revenue from new customers in the current period. We then divide the total current period revenue by
the total prior period revenue to arrive at the point-in-time dollar-based net revenue retention. We believe that net revenue retention is an important metric to
our investors, demonstrating our ability to retain our customers and expand their use of our modules over time, proving the stability of our revenue base and the
long-term value of our customer relationships. For the quarter ended December 31, 2024, net revenue retention was approximately 115%. We have maintained
a net revenue retention in excess of 100% throughout the past several years, and expect to continue this trend in the near term as customers continue to adopt
additional product modules such as Olo Pay, GDP, Marketing, Sentiment, and Catering+.

We believe that, in the near term, average revenue per unit and net revenue retention will be greater drivers of growth than total active locations.
This is due to the potential opportunity for further multi-module penetration and continued growth in digital ordering across our existing customer base.
Additionally, because multi-module penetration can vary across active locations, fluctuations in active locations may not be a clear indication of performance.
An example of this would be when a brand has transitioned from our platform and the associated total revenue or revenue per unit of that brand is not material
or less than our average.

Add New Large Multi-Location and High-Growth Restaurant Brands

We believe there is a substantial opportunity to continue to grow our customer base across the U.S. restaurant industry, adding to our over 750
existing brands across approximately 86,000 active locations as of December 31, 2024. We define an active location as a unique restaurant location that is
utilizing or subscribed to one or more of our modules in a quarterly period (depending on the module). Given this definition, active locations in any one quarter
may not reflect: (i) the future impact of new customer wins as it can take some time for their locations to go live with our platform, or (ii) the customers who
have indicated their intent to reduce or terminate their use of our platform in future periods. Of further note, not all of our customer locations may choose to
utilize our products, and while we aim to deploy all of a customer’s locations, not all locations may ultimately deploy. We intend to continue to drive new
customer growth by leveraging our brand and experience within the industry and expanding our sales and marketing efforts. We have also historically pursued
and will continue to target the most well-capitalized, fastest-growing restaurant brands in the industry. Our ability to attract new customers will depend on a
number of factors, including our ability to innovate, the effectiveness and pricing of our new and existing modules, the growth of digital ordering, and the
success of our marketing efforts.

From 2023 to 2024, we experienced an increase in penetration of our product modules, with brands utilizing 3.7 modules per active location on
average as of December 31, 2024, as compared to 3.5 modules as of December 31, 2023. We believe this demonstrates an opportunity to further increase
revenue within our existing customer base by expanding and deploying additional modules. We believe that we are well-positioned to upsell our remaining
customers, as our modules provide significant value, are simple to add, and operate seamlessly together. In addition, we intend to continue to work with our
existing brand customers in implementing their digital strategies, which we expect will promote continued growth. We believe this demonstrates our ability to
grow within our customer base through the development of our products that our customers value.

We work to build relationships with the fastest growing restaurant brands in the industry, enabling us to grow our revenue as our customers scale
their locations. As our customers expand locations, we are well positioned to expand to new locations beyond the existing 86,000 active locations that we serve.
Our contracts with our customers provide that our modules may be implemented across an entire restaurant chain, growing as our customers expand locations.
Our ability to increase sales to existing customers will depend on a number of factors, including our customers’ satisfaction with our platform, competition,
pricing, and the overall shift in the market to digital ordering and delivery.

Investment in Innovation and Growth

We have invested and intend to continue to invest in expanding the functionality of our current platform and broadening our capabilities to address
new market opportunities, particularly around payments, data analytics, and on-premise dining. We also intend to continue to invest in enhancing awareness of
our brand and developing more modules, features, and functionality that expand our capabilities to facilitate the extension of our platform to new use cases and
industry verticals. We believe this strategy will provide new avenues for growth and allow us to continue to deliver differentiated, high-value outcomes to both
our customers and stockholders. Specifically, we intend to invest in research and development to expand our
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existing modules and build new modules, sales and marketing to promote our modules to new and existing customers and in existing and expanded
geographies, professional services to ensure the success of our customers’ implementations of our platform, and other operational and administrative functions
to support our expected growth. For example, as Olo Pay continues to scale and we realize expanded Olo Pay adoption, we expect to experience increased
processing and personnel-related costs. We also intend to continue to evaluate strategic acquisitions and investments in businesses and technologies to drive
product and market expansion. Our future success is dependent, in part, on our ability to successfully develop, market, and sell new and existing modules to
new and existing customers.

Grow Our Ecosystem

We plan to expand our current ecosystem of third-party partners to better support our customers. Our platform is highly configurable and deeply
embedded into our customers’ disparate existing infrastructures. Our platform seamlessly integrates with technology providers across the restaurant ecosystem,
including most POS systems, DSPs, OSPs, aggregators, payment processors, loyalty programs, on-premise ordering providers, kitchen display systems, labor
management providers, inventory management providers, and reservation and customer relationship management platforms. We believe that we can leverage
these unique partnerships to deliver additional value to our customers. We see opportunity to continue to invest and expand our ecosystem of compatible third-
party technology providers to allow us to service a broader network of restaurant brands. We believe that these technology partnerships make us a critical
component for restaurant brands looking to enhance their digital ordering and delivery platforms. Our future success is dependent on our ability to continue to
integrate with third-party technology providers in the restaurant ecosystem.

Expand Our Longer-Term Market Opportunity

While we have not made any significant investments in this area to date, we believe there is an opportunity to partner with small- and medium-sized
businesses to enable their on-demand digital commerce presence. Additionally, as many of our customers operate internationally, we believe there is a
significant opportunity to expand the usage of our platform outside of the United States. We also believe that our platform can be applied to other commerce
verticals, beyond the restaurant industry, that are undergoing a similar digital transformation to deliver real-time experiences and on-demand fulfillment to
guests. For example, we currently partner with a number of grocery chains who use our Ordering module to help their guests order ready-to-eat meals and may
potentially expand these or other partnerships in the future. Our decision to pursue these opportunities could result in an increase in operating expenses as a
result of these initiatives and, in some cases, have short-term negative impacts on our operating margin.
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Components of Results of Operations

Revenue

We generate revenue primarily from platform fees and professional services.

Platform

Platform revenue primarily consists of fees that provide customers access to one or more of our modules and standard customer support. Our
contracts typically have initial terms of three years or longer, with continuous one-to-two-year automatic renewal periods. We generally bill monthly in arrears.
Our platform revenue is derived from our Order, Pay, and Engage product suites.

Professional Services and Other

Professional services and other revenue primarily consists of fees paid to us by our customers for the implementation of our platform. The majority
of our professional service fees are billed on a fixed fee basis upon execution of our agreement.

Cost of Revenue

Platform

Platform cost of revenue primarily consists of costs directly related to our platform services, including expenses for customer support and
infrastructure personnel, including salaries, payroll taxes, benefits, bonuses, and stock-based compensation, which we refer to as personnel costs, third-party
software licenses, hosting, amortization of capitalized internal-use software and developed technology, payment processing, and allocated overhead.

Professional Services and Other

Professional services and other cost of revenue primarily consists of the personnel costs of our deployment team associated with delivering these
services and allocated overhead.

Gross Profit

Gross profit, or revenue less cost of revenue, has been, and will continue to be, affected by various factors, including revenue fluctuations, our mix
of revenue associated with various modules, the timing and amount of investments in personnel, increased hosting capacity to align with customer growth, and
third-party licensing costs.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses consist of research and development, general and administrative, sales and marketing expenses, and restructuring charges.
Personnel costs are the most significant component of operating expenses.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses primarily consist of engineering and product development personnel costs and allocated overhead costs.
Research and development costs exclude capitalized internal-use software development costs, as they are capitalized as a component of property and
equipment, net and amortized to platform cost of revenue over the term of their estimated useful life.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses primarily consist of personnel costs and contractor fees for finance, legal, human resources, information
technology, and other administrative functions. In addition, general and administrative expenses include litigation costs, net of recoveries, amortization of
trademarks, travel-related expenses, and allocated overhead.
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Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of sales and marketing costs, personnel costs for our sales and marketing teams, sales commissions,
amortization of customer relationships acquired through business combinations, promotional activities, and allocated overhead costs. Sales commissions earned
by our sales force are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected benefit period.

Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges are comprised of severance costs, payroll taxes, benefits, and stock-based compensation expense associated with the
accelerated vesting of equity awards. These charges were incurred as a result of separate workforce reductions in the third quarter of 2024 and the second
quarter of 2023.

Other Income (Expenses), Net

Other income (expenses), net consists primarily of income earned on our investments and money-market funds in cash and cash equivalents,
partially offset by interest expense related to our credit facility.

Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes

Provision (benefit) for income taxes primarily relates to U.S. state income taxes where we conduct business.
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Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented:

Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
(in thousands)

Revenue:
Platform $ 281,554  $ 225,179  $ 181,293 
Professional services and other 3,384  3,110  4,111 

Total revenue 284,938  228,289  185,404 
Cost of revenue:

Platform 125,245  85,195  52,634 
Professional services and other 3,270  4,128  5,832 

Total cost of revenue 128,515  89,323  58,466 
Gross Profit 156,423  138,966  126,938 
Operating expenses:

Research and development 68,483  73,914  74,203 
General and administrative 51,543  85,098  70,356 
Sales and marketing 53,142  48,190  34,043 
Restructuring charges 2,396  6,848  — 

Total operating expenses 175,564  214,050  178,602 
Loss from operations (19,141) (75,084) (51,664)
Other income, net:

Interest income 19,280  17,237  4,592 
Interest expense (113) (208) (185)
Other income (expense), net 35  (3) 7 

Total other income, net 19,202  17,026  4,414 
Income (loss) before income taxes 61  (58,058) (47,250)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 958  229  (1,282)
Net loss attributable to Class A and Class B common stockholders $ (897) $ (58,287) $ (45,968)

Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Cost of revenue - platform $ 5,240  $ 6,838  $ 5,457 
Cost of revenue - professional services and other 356  672  630 
Research and development 11,432  15,055  14,053 
General and administrative 19,962  20,813  20,339 
Sales and marketing 6,411  7,756  5,545 
Restructuring charges —  1,728  — 

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 43,401  $ 52,862  $ 46,024 

(1) (2)

(1) (2)

(1) (2)

(1) (2)

(1) (2)

(1)

(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows (in thousands):

(2) Reclassifications were made to conform the year ended December 31, 2022 to the current year presentation and had no effect on previously reported operating loss, net loss, or accumulated deficit. See
“Note 2—Significant Accounting Policies” to our consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information on the reclassifications.
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The following table sets forth our statements of operations data expressed as a percentage of total revenue for the periods presented:

Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Revenue:

Platform 98.8 % 98.6 % 97.8 %
Professional services and other 1.2  1.4  2.2 

Total revenue 100.0  100.0  100.0 
Cost of revenue:

Platform 44.0  37.3  28.4 
Professional services and other 1.1  1.8  3.1 

Total cost of revenue 45.1  39.1  31.5 
Gross Profit 54.9  60.9  68.5 
Operating expenses:

Research and development 24.0  32.4  40.0 
General and administrative 18.1  37.3  37.9 
Sales and marketing 18.7  21.1  18.4 
Restructuring charges 0.8  3.0  0.0 

Total operating expenses 61.6  93.8  96.3 
Loss from operations (6.7) (32.9) (27.9)
Other income, net:

Interest income 6.8  7.6  2.5 
Interest expense 0.0  (0.1) (0.1)
Other income (expense), net 0.0  0.0  0.0 

Total other income, net 6.7  7.5  2.4 
Income (loss) before income taxes 0.0  (25.4) (25.5)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 0.3  0.1  (0.7)
Net loss attributable to Class A and Class B common stockholders (0.3)% (25.5)% (24.8)%
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

Revenue

Year Ended
December 31, Change

2024 2023 $ %
(in thousands, except percentages)

Revenue:
Platform $ 281,554  $ 225,179  $ 56,375  25.0 %
Professional services and other 3,384  3,110  274  8.8 

Total Revenue $ 284,938  $ 228,289  $ 56,649  24.8 %

Platform

Total platform revenue increased $56.4 million, or 25.0%, to $281.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 from $225.2 million for the year
ended December  31, 2023. This increase was primarily the result of increases in Olo Pay adoption and volume, combined with higher additional module
adoption from existing customers and higher transaction volume. Annual average revenue per unit increased to approximately $3,387 for the year ended
December 31, 2024 from approximately $2,702 for the year ended December 31, 2023. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, 45.5% and 44.7% of
our platform revenue was subscription revenue, respectively, and 54.5% and 55.3% was transaction revenue, respectively. Active locations increased to
approximately 86,000 as of December 31, 2024 from approximately 80,000 as of December 31, 2023 due to new location additions from new and existing
customers.

Total professional services and other revenue increased $0.3 million, or 8.8%, to $3.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 from $3.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023. This increase was driven by an increase in deployments during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit, and Gross Margin

Year Ended
December 31, Change

2024 2023 $ %
(in thousands, except percentages)

Cost of revenue:
Platform $ 125,245  $ 85,195  $ 40,050  47.0 %

Percentage of total revenue 44.0 % 37.3 %
Professional services and other 3,270  4,128  (858) (20.8)

Percentage of total revenue 1.1 % 1.8 %
Total cost of revenue $ 128,515  $ 89,323  $ 39,192  43.9 %

Percentage of total revenue 45.1 % 39.1 %
Gross Profit $ 156,423  $ 138,966  $ 17,457  12.6 %
Gross Margin 54.9 % 60.9 %

Platform

Total platform cost of revenue increased $40.1 million, or 47.0%, to $125.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 from $85.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023. This increase was primarily the result of higher transaction processing costs associated with the increased adoption of Olo Pay
and increased amortization of capitalized internal-use software.

Professional Services and Other

Total professional services and other cost of revenue decreased $0.9 million, or 20.8%, to $3.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 from
$4.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. This decrease was primarily the result of reduced third party consulting costs and a decrease in stock-based
compensation costs during the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Gross Profit

Gross profit increased $17.5 million to $156.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 from $139.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2023. Gross margin decreased to 54.9% for the year ended December 31, 2024 from 60.9% for the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase in gross profit
was due to an increase in platform revenue, as discussed above. The decrease in gross margin was driven by higher transaction processing costs associated with
increased Olo Pay adoption and increased costs from amortization of capitalized internal-use software.

Operating Expenses

Research and Development
Year Ended

December 31, Change
2024 2023 $ %

(in thousands, except percentages)
Research and development $ 68,483  $ 73,914  $ (5,431) (7.3)%

Percentage of total revenue 24.0 % 32.4 %

Research and development expense decreased $5.4 million, or 7.3%, to $68.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 from $73.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023. This decrease was primarily the result of reduced personnel costs stemming from our workforce reductions in 2024 and
2023. This was partially offset by increases in hosting costs. As a percentage of total revenue, research and development expenses decreased to 24.0% for the
year ended December 31, 2024 from 32.4% for the year ended December 31, 2023.

General and Administrative
Year Ended

December 31, Change
2024 2023 $ %

(in thousands, except percentages)
General and administrative $ 51,543  $ 85,098  $ (33,555) (39.4)%

Percentage of total revenue 18.1 % 37.3 %

General and administrative expense decreased $33.6 million, or 39.4%, to $51.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 from $85.1 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023. This decrease was primarily driven by higher litigation-related expenses recorded during the year ended December 31,
2023, combined with the impact of $12.1 million of litigation-related insurance recoveries recorded during the year ended December 31, 2024. Refer to “Note
14—Commitments and Contingencies” of our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional
information. As a percentage of total revenue, general and administrative expenses decreased to 18.1% for the year ended December 31, 2024 from 37.3% for
the year ended December 31, 2023.

Sales and Marketing
Year Ended

December 31, Change
2024 2023 $ %

(in thousands, except percentages)
Sales and marketing $ 53,142  $ 48,190  $ 4,952  10.3 %

Percentage of total revenue 18.7 % 21.1 %

Sales and marketing expense increased $5.0 million, or 10.3%, to $53.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 from $48.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023. This increase was primarily the result of additional compensation costs, including commission costs, due to an increase in sales and
marketing headcount. As a percentage of total revenue, sales and marketing expense decreased to 18.7% for the year ended December 31, 2024 from 21.1% for
the year ended December 31, 2023.
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Restructuring Charges
Year Ended

December 31, Change
2024 2023 $ %

(in thousands, except percentages)
Restructuring charges $ 2,396  $ 6,848  $ (4,452) Not meaningful

Percentage of total revenue 0.8 % 3.0 %

Restructuring charges were $2.4 million and $6.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The charges were comprised
of severance costs, payroll taxes, other employee benefits, and stock-based compensation expense associated with the accelerated vesting of equity awards.
These charges were incurred as a result of our separate corporate reorganizations in the third quarter of 2024 and second quarter of 2023, each of which
entailed workforce reductions.

Other Income (Expenses), net

Year Ended
December 31, Change

2024 2023 $ %
(in thousands, except percentages)

Other income, net:
Interest income $ 19,280  $ 17,237  $ 2,043  11.9 %

Percentage of total revenue 6.8 % 7.6 %
Interest expense (113) (208) 95  (45.7)%

Percentage of total revenue — % (0.1)%
Other income (expense), net 35  (3) 38  (1266.7)%

Percentage of total revenue — % — %
Total other income, net $ 19,202  $ 17,026  $ 2,176  12.8 %

Percentage of total revenue 6.7 % 7.5 %

Other income for the year ended December  31, 2024 was primarily driven by income earned on our investments and money-market funds. The
increase in interest income for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023 is primarily driven by growth in our
investment portfolio.

Provision for Income Taxes
Year Ended

December 31, Change
2024 2023 $ %

(in thousands, except percentages)
Provision for income taxes $ 958  $ 229  $ 729  318.3 %

Percentage of total revenue 0.3 % 0.1 %

Provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2024 primarily consists of state income taxes. We maintain a full valuation allowance on
our net federal and state deferred tax assets as we have concluded that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

General

As of December 31, 2024, our principal sources of liquidity were cash and cash equivalents and short-term and long-term investments in marketable
securities totaling $403.1 million, which was held for working capital purposes and to fund repurchases of our Class A common stock (as described more fully
below), as well as the available balance of our revolving line of credit, described further below.

We have financed our operations primarily through payments received from customers and sales of our equity securities.

On September 7, 2022, the Board of Directors authorized the 2022 Stock Buyback Program. During the year ended December  31, 2024, we
repurchased 4.2  million shares of our Class A common stock for approximately $22.1  million under the 2022 Stock Buyback Program, completing this
program.

On April 30, 2024, the Board of Directors authorized the 2024 Buyback Program. Under the 2024 Buyback Program, we may repurchase shares of our
Class A common stock from time to time on a discretionary basis through open market repurchases, privately negotiated transactions, block purchases or other
means, and such repurchases will be structured to occur in compliance with applicable securities laws. The timing and actual number of shares repurchased, if
any, will be determined by the Board of Directors or a committee established by the Board of Directors, depending on a variety of factors, including the Class
A common stock price, trading volume, market conditions, our cash flow and liquidity profile, the capital needs of the business, and other considerations. We
expect to fund repurchases with existing cash on hand. The 2024 Buyback Program has no expiration date and may be modified, suspended, or terminated at
any time by the Board of Directors at its discretion. We have not made any repurchases under the 2024 Buyback Program.

We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, and amounts available under our outstanding credit facility will be sufficient
to support our working capital and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next twelve months and thereafter for the foreseeable future. Our future
capital requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to, our obligation to repay any balance under our credit facility if we were to
borrow against the facility in the future, our platform revenue growth rate, receivable and payable cycles, and the timing and extent of investments in research
and development, sales and marketing, and general and administrative expenses.

Credit Facility

On June 10, 2022, we entered into the Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement with Pacific Western Bank (now known as Banc
of California) related to a revolving credit and term loan facility, or the Second Amended and Restated LSA.

The Second Amended and Restated LSA amended and restated the Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated February 11, 2020, as
amended, or the Prior LSA, to, among other things, increase our available aggregate borrowing limit to $70.0 million and to provide the ability to request Banc
of California to enter into commitments to increase the credit extensions available to us under the Second Amended and Restated LSA to up to $125.0 million,
or the Accordion Facility. The agreement is set to expire on May 12, 2025, however we intend to execute a new amendment to renew the agreement prior to
this expiration.

Borrowings under the Second Amended and Restated LSA accrue interest at a variable annual rate equal to (i) in the case of Formula Advances (as
defined in the Second Amended and Restated LSA), the greater of the variable rate of interest, per annum, most recently announced by Banc of California, or
the Prime Rate, or 3.25% or (ii) in the case of Term Loans (as defined in the Second Amended and Restated LSA), the greater of the Prime Rate plus 0.25% or
3.50%. The Second Amended and Restated LSA provides for a success fee payable upon an acquisition of Olo or termination of the Second Amended and
Restated LSA, or a Success Fee Trigger, in an amount equal to: (i) $400,000, if the Success Fee Trigger occurs prior to June 10, 2025; (ii) $200,000, if the
Success Fee Trigger occurs on or after June 10, 2025 and prior to June 10, 2026; and (iii) $0, if the Success Fee Trigger occurs on or after June 10, 2026. We
are also required to pay a fee of 1.0% of the difference between (i) the highest outstanding principal balance during the term of the Second Amended and
Restated LSA and (ii) $3.5 million if a Liquidity Event (as defined in the Second Amended and Restated LSA) occurs during the term and or within 24 months
after the termination of the Second Amended and Restated LSA. Our obligations under the Second Amended and Restated LSA are secured by substantially all
of our assets, including certain securities owned by us in any subsidiary.
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As of December 31, 2024, we had $68.6 million of commitments available under the Second Amended and Restated LSA, after consideration of
$1.4 million in our letter of credit on the lease of our corporate headquarters at One World Trade Center. As of December 31, 2024, we had no outstanding
borrowings under the line of credit, and no amounts have been drawn against any of our letters of credit.

The Second Amended and Restated LSA includes a financial covenant requiring compliance with certain minimum revenue amounts. In addition, the
Second Amended and Restated LSA contains representations and warranties generally consistent with the Prior LSA, as well as certain non-financial
covenants, including, but not limited to, limitations on our ability to incur additional indebtedness or liens, pay dividends, or make certain investments. We
were in compliance with these covenants as of December 31, 2024, and expect to remain in compliance for at least the upcoming twelve months.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods presented:

Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2023
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 39,688  $ (6,568)
Net cash used in investing activities (16,872) (19,490)
Net cash used in financing activities (14,277) (45,797)

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2024, net cash used in operating activities was $39.7 million, primarily due to net loss of $0.9 million adjusted for
non-cash charges of $64.5 million, and a net decrease attributable to our operating assets and liabilities of $23.9 million. The non-cash adjustments primarily
relate to stock-based compensation charges of $43.4 million, depreciation and amortization expense of $14.4 million, and a provision for expected credit losses
of $4.5 million. The net decrease attributable to our operating assets and liabilities was primarily driven by a $16.2 million decrease in accrued expenses and
other current liabilities related to the relief of a liability related to an accrued legal settlement, payment of fees owed to delivery service providers, vendors, and
the payment of accrued compensation as well as an increase of $4.9 million in prepaid expenses and other current assets primarily related to purchase activity
to support future Olo Pay transactions, a $3.2 million decrease in accounts payable, and a $2.8 million decrease in our operating lease liabilities. This was
partially offset by an decrease in accounts receivable of $4.2 million due to increased collections efforts.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash used in operating activities was $6.6 million, primarily due to net loss of $58.3 million adjusted for
non-cash charges of $67.6 million, and a net decrease attributable to our operating assets and liabilities of $15.9 million. The non-cash adjustments primarily
relate to stock-based compensation charges of $52.9 million and depreciation and amortization expense of $10.3 million. The net decrease attributable to our
operating assets and liabilities was primarily driven by an increase in accounts receivable of $25.0 million due primarily to a change in billing timing starting in
2023, whereby billings are processed near the end of the month and collected early in the next month, rather than being processed and collected in the same
month as was the case in 2022. Also contributing to the increase in accounts receivable was growth in revenue. This was partially offset by a $15.9 million
increase in accrued expenses and other current liabilities related primarily to an accrued legal settlement and fees related thereto, the timing of certain employee
compensation payments, and a liability related to cash received on behalf of the subtenant of our former corporate headquarters at One World Trade Center in
advance of certain future rental obligations that will be due from the subtenant.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities was $16.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to $11.8 million for the development of
capitalized internal-use software to support further product development and $4.2 million of net purchases of investments.

Cash used in investing activities was $19.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to $13.0 million for the development of
internal use software and $6.4 million of net purchases of investments.
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Net Cash Used in Financing Activities

Cash used in financing activities was $14.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily driven by $22.2 million of stock repurchases
under the Stock Buyback Program, partially offset by $7.9 million of net proceeds from the exercise of stock options and the employee stock purchase plan.

Cash used by financing activities was $45.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily driven by $58.1 million of stock repurchases
under the Stock Buyback Program, partially offset by $12.3 million of net proceeds from the exercise of stock options and the employee stock purchase plan.

Material Cash Requirements

The following table sets forth the amounts of our significant contractual obligations and commitments with definitive payment terms as of
December 31, 2024:

Payment Due by Period
Total Less than 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years More than 5 years

(in thousands)
Operating lease obligations $ 16,180  $ 3,106  $ 5,920  $ 5,920  $ 1,234 
Unconditional purchase obligations 35,530  12,100  23,430  —  — 

Total $ 51,710  $ 15,206  $ 29,350  $ 5,920  $ 1,234 

The commitment amounts in the table above are associated with contracts that are enforceable and legally binding and that specify all significant
terms, including fixed or minimum services to be used, fixed, minimum or variable price provisions, and the approximate timing of the actions under the
contracts. The table does not include obligations under agreements that we can cancel without a significant penalty.

See “Note 14—Commitments and Contingencies” and “Note 10—Leases” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item
8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information regarding contractual obligations and commitments.

Certain Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We report our financial results in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, or GAAP. To supplement our
financial statements, we provide investors with non-GAAP operating income and free cash flow, each of which is a non-GAAP financial measure, and certain
key performance indicators, including GMV, GPV, net revenue retention, average revenue per unit, and active locations.

Management uses these non-GAAP financial measures and key performance indicators, in conjunction with financial measures prepared in accordance
with GAAP for planning purposes, including in the preparation of our annual operating budget, as a measure of our core operating results and the effectiveness
of our business strategy, and in evaluating our financial performance. These measures provide consistency and comparability with past financial performance
as measured by such non-GAAP figures, facilitate period-to-period comparisons of core operating results, and assist shareholders in better evaluating us by
presenting period-over-period operating results without the effect of certain charges or benefits that may not be consistent or comparable across periods or
compared to other registrants’ similarly named non-GAAP financial measures and key performance indicators.

 (1)

(1) Unconditional purchase obligation relates to cloud-based services to support our infrastructure.
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We adjust our GAAP financial measures for the following items to calculate one or more of our non-GAAP financial measures (other than free cash
flow): stock-based compensation expense (non-cash expense calculated by companies using a variety of valuation methodologies and subjective assumptions)
and related payroll tax expense, equity expense related to charitable donation of our Class A common stock, certain litigation-related expenses, net of
recoveries (which relate to legal and other professional fees associated with litigation-related matters that are not indicative of our core operations and are not
part of our normal course of business), non-cash impairment charges, loss on disposal of assets, capitalized internal-use software and intangible amortization,
restructuring charges, certain severance costs, and transaction costs (typically incurred within one year of the related acquisition and inclusive of the related tax
aspects of such acquisitions). Management believes that it is useful to exclude certain non-cash charges and non-core operational charges from our non-GAAP
financial measures because: (1) the amount of such expenses in any specific period may not directly correlate to the underlying performance of our business
operations and we believe does not relate to ongoing operational performance; and (2) such expenses can vary significantly between periods.

Free cash flow represents net cash provided by or used in operating activities, reduced by purchases of property and equipment and capitalization of
internal-use software. Free cash flow is a measure used by management to understand and evaluate our liquidity and how it can be used to generate future
growth. Free cash flow excludes items that we do not consider to be indicative of our liquidity and facilitates comparisons of our liquidity on a period-to-period
basis. Management believes providing free cash flow provides useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating the strength of our
liquidity and future ability to generate cash that can be used for strategic opportunities or investing in our business from the perspective of our management and
Board of Directors.

Our use of non-GAAP financial measures and key performance indicators has limitations as an analytical tool, and these measures should not be
considered in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of financial results as reported under GAAP. Because our non-GAAP financial measures and key
performance indicators are not calculated in accordance with GAAP, they may not necessarily be comparable to similarly titled measures employed by other
companies.

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Operating Income to GAAP Operating (Loss) Income

The following table presents a reconciliation of non-GAAP operating income to GAAP operating (loss) income, the most directly comparable GAAP
measure, for the following periods:

Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
(in thousands, except percentages)

Operating income (loss) reconciliation:
Operating loss, GAAP $ (19,141) $ (75,084) $ (51,664)
Plus: Stock-based compensation expense and related payroll tax expense 44,337  52,666  46,865 
Plus: Charitable donation of Class A common stock 823  1,136  1,406 
Plus: Certain litigation-related expenses, net of recoveries (11,431) 21,590  — 
Plus: Non-cash impairment charge and costs associated with former corporate headquarters
and sublease of corporate headquarters 563  —  3,272 
Plus: Loss on disposal of assets —  38  — 
Plus: Non-cash capitalized internal-use software impairment 637  —  475 
Plus: Capitalized internal-use software and intangible amortization 14,018  9,878  5,446 
Plus: Restructuring charges 2,396  6,848  — 
Plus: Certain severance costs 742  830  2,359 
Plus: Transaction costs —  358  1,600 

Operating income, non-GAAP $ 32,944  $ 18,260  $ 9,759 
Percentage of revenue:

Operating margin, GAAP (7)% (33)% (28)%
Operating margin, non-GAAP 12 % 8 % 5 %
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Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Free Cash Flow to Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities

The following table presents a reconciliation between non-GAAP free cash flow and net cash provided by (used in) operating activities, the most
directly comparable GAAP measure, for each of the periods indicated:

Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 39,688  $ (6,568) $ 2,344 
Purchase of property and equipment (883) (93) (517)
Capitalization of internally developed software (11,811) (13,011) (8,480)
Non-GAAP free cash flow $ 26,994  $ (19,672) $ (6,653)

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires us to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, equity, revenue, expenses, and related disclosures. We base our estimates
on past experience and other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, and we evaluate these estimates on an ongoing basis. Actual
results may differ from those estimates.

We believe that the assumptions and estimates associated with both stock-based compensation and accounting for business combinations, including
purchase price allocations and valuations of acquired intangible assets and goodwill, have the greatest potential impact on our consolidated financial
statements. Therefore, we consider these to be our critical accounting estimates. For further information on all of our significant accounting policies, see “Note
2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

Stock-Based Compensation

Accounting for stock-based compensation requires us to make a number of judgments, estimates, and assumptions. If any of our estimates prove to be
inaccurate, our net loss and operating results could be adversely affected.

We measure compensation expense for all stock-based payment awards, including stock options, restricted stock units, or RSUs, and performance-
based restricted stock units, or PSUs, granted to employees, directors, and non-employees, as well as stock purchased under our 2021 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan, or ESPP, based on the estimated fair value of the awards on the date of grant. Compensation expense associated with stock options and RSUs is
recognized ratably in earnings, generally over the period during which an employee is required to provide service. Compensation expense associated with
PSUs is recognized either (i) ratably in earnings, generally over the period during which an employee is required to provide service, or (ii) using the accelerated
attribution method over the period we expect the service and performance conditions under the award will be achieved. Compensation expense associated with
our ESPP is recognized over the offering period for the purchase rights issued under the plan. We adjust compensation expense based on actual forfeitures as
necessary.

We estimate the fair value of stock options and ESPP shares granted to employees using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which requires the
input of subjective assumptions, including (1) the expected stock price volatility, (2) the expected term of the award, (3) the risk-free interest rate, and (4)
expected dividend yield.

We estimate the fair value of our market-based PSUs on the grant date through a lattice option pricing model that utilizes a Monte Carlo analysis with
inputs including the closing market price at grant date, share price threshold, performance period term and assumptions regarding the risk-free interest rate and
expected volatility of our common stock based on historical volatility.

Additional information regarding the assumptions used to value stock-based compensation awards is provided in “Note 12—Stock-based
Compensation” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Business Combinations

We account for our business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting, which requires, among other things, allocation of the fair value
of purchase consideration to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their estimated fair values on the acquisition date. The excess
of the fair value of purchase consideration over the values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. When determining the fair value of
assets acquired and liabilities assumed, we make significant estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets.

Our estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable, and as a
result, actual results may differ materially from estimates. During the measurement period, not to exceed one year from the date of acquisition, we may record
adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with a corresponding offset to goodwill if new information is obtained related to facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period or final determination of the fair value of assets acquired
or liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations. Acquisition costs, such as
legal and consulting fees, are expensed as incurred.

Determining the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired is judgmental in nature and can involve the use of significant estimates and
assumptions. The significant judgments include estimation of future cash flows, which is dependent on forecasts; estimation of the long-term rate of growth;
estimation of the useful life over which cash flows will occur; and determination of a risk-adjusted weighted average cost of capital. When appropriate, our
estimates of the fair values of assets and liabilities acquired include assistance from independent third-party appraisal firms. Valuation methodologies used to
measure fair value include multiple-period excess earnings method under the income approach and the relief-from-royalty method of the income approach. The
judgments made in determining the estimated fair value assigned to the assets acquired, as well as the estimated life of the assets, can materially impact our
consolidated statements of operations in periods subsequent to the acquisition through amortization, and in certain instances through impairment charges, if the
asset becomes impaired in the future.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See “Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K for all recently issued standards impacting our consolidated financial statements.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position
due to adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. Our market risk exposure is primarily a result of exposure to potential changes in interest rates. We
do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes and have not used any derivative financial instruments to manage our interest rate risk
exposure.

Interest Rate Risk

Our primary market risk exposure is changing interest rates in connection with our investments and the Second Amended and Restated LSA with
Pacific Western Bank (now known as Banc of California). Interest rate risk is highly sensitive due to many factors, including U.S. monetary and tax policies,
U.S. and international economic factors, and other factors beyond our control.

As of December 31, 2024, advances under the formula revolving line of the Second Amended and Restated LSA bear interest equal to the greater of
(A) the Prime Rate then in effect; or (B) 3.25%. As of December 31, 2024, advances under the term loans bear interest equal to the greater of (A) 0.25% above
the Prime Rate then in effect; or (B) 3.50%. As of December 31, 2024, we had no outstanding borrowings under our credit facility.

Our interest-earning instruments also carry a degree of interest rate risk. Our cash and cash equivalents have a relatively short maturity, and are
therefore relatively insensitive to interest rate changes. As of December 31, 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents of $286.8 million. We invest in money
market funds, U.S. and municipal government agency securities, corporate bonds and notes, certificates of deposit, and commercial paper. Our current
investment policy seeks first to preserve principal, second to provide liquidity for our operating and capital needs, and third to maximize yield without putting
our principal at risk. As of December 31, 2024, we invested $133.7 million in money market funds and $116.4 million in other securities, of which $74.0
million was classified as short-term. Because the majority of our investment portfolio is short-term in nature, we do not believe an immediate 10% increase in
interest rates would have a material effect on the fair market value of our portfolio, and therefore we do not expect our results of operations or cash flows to be
materially affected by a sudden change in market interest rates.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risks

Our revenue and costs are generally denominated in U.S. dollars and are not subject to foreign currency exchange risk. However, to the extent we
commence generating revenue outside of the United States that is denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, our results of operations could be
impacted by changes in exchange rates. A hypothetical 10% strengthening or weakening in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to the foreign currencies in
which our revenues and expenses are denominated would not result in a material impact to our consolidated financial statements.

Inflation Risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a direct material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. Nonetheless, if persistent
higher inflation leads to consumers reducing their spend on dining out, or if our personnel-related costs were to become subject to significant inflationary
pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higher costs through price increases. Our inability or failure to do so could harm our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Olo Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Olo Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the
related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 25, 2025, expressed an unqualified opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to
assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to
be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial
statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on
the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Platform Revenue – Refer to Notes 2 and 3 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company’s revenue primarily consists of both subscription fees from customers for access to its platform and transaction-based fees made up of a
significant volume of low-dollar transactions, sourced from multiple systems and databases. The Company’s process for revenue is automated as it relates to
the initiation and processing of transactions, while the calculation of revenue in accordance with ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and
the recording of revenue to the general ledger is manual.

We identified revenue as a critical audit matter due to the high volume of individually-low-monetary-value transactions, for which the calculation of revenue is
dependent upon the effective design and operation of the system interface controls as well as controls over the accuracy and completeness of revenue. This is
due to the fact that the process to extract information from systems and databases is manual. Because of these factors, performing audit procedures to evaluate
whether revenue was appropriately recorded required a high degree of auditor judgement and an increased extent of audit effort.
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How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to revenue included the following, among others:

• With the assistance of our IT specialists, we:

– Identified the significant systems used to process revenue transactions and tested the general IT controls over each of these systems, including
testing of user access controls, change management controls, and IT operations controls.

– Performed testing of system interface controls and automated controls within the relevant revenue streams, as well as the controls designed to
ensure the accuracy and completeness of revenue.

• We tested internal controls within the relevant revenue business processes, including those in place to reconcile the subledger to the general ledger.

• For a sample of revenue transactions, we performed the following:

– Agreed the amounts recognized to source documents and tested the mathematical accuracy of the recorded revenue.

– Obtained contracts to verify the occurrence of revenue.

– Evaluated the appropriateness of the classification of revenue within the Company’s disclosures of disaggregated revenue by type and
disaggregated revenue by timing of recognition.

• For a sample of platform revenue transactions derived from location activation, we verified revenue was recognized only after access had been
appropriately provided to the customer.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
New York, New York
February 25, 2025

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2022.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Olo Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Olo Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework (2013)  issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established
in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024, of the Company and our report dated February 25, 2025, expressed an unqualified
opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the
PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
New York, New York
February 25, 2025
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OLO INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

As of December 31,

2024 2023
ASSETS    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents $ 286,757  $ 278,218 
Short-term investments 73,978  84,331 
Accounts receivable, net 61,589  70,264 
Contract assets 892  412 
Deferred contract costs 5,635  4,743 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 19,470  12,769 

Total current assets 448,321  450,737 
Property and equipment, net 26,318  22,055 
Intangible assets, net 13,797  17,738 
Goodwill 207,781  207,781 
Contract assets, noncurrent 826  352 
Deferred contract costs, noncurrent 5,621  5,806 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 9,709  12,529 
Long-term investments 42,376  25,748 
Other assets, noncurrent 27  73 

Total assets $ 754,776  $ 742,819 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 1,431  $ 4,582 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 53,894  68,240 
Unearned revenue 1,869  1,533 
Operating lease liabilities, current 2,400  2,859 

Total current liabilities 59,594  77,214 
Unearned revenue, noncurrent 375  57 
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent 11,584  13,968 
Other liabilities, noncurrent —  109 

Total liabilities 71,553  91,348 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)
Stockholders’ equity:

Class A common stock, $0.001 par value; 1,700,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2024 and 2023;
115,635,624 and 108,469,679 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Class B
common stock, $0.001 par value; 185,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively;
50,307,240 and 54,891,834 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively

166  163 

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively —  — 
Additional paid-in capital 899,754  867,152 
Accumulated deficit (216,726) (215,829)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 29  (15)

Total stockholders’ equity 683,223  651,471 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 754,776  $ 742,819 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Revenue:

Platform $ 281,554  $ 225,179  $ 181,293 
Professional services and other 3,384  3,110  4,111 

Total revenue 284,938  228,289  185,404 
Cost of revenue:

Platform 125,245  85,195  52,634 
Professional services and other 3,270  4,128  5,832 

Total cost of revenue 128,515  89,323  58,466 
Gross Profit 156,423  138,966  126,938 
Operating expenses:

Research and development 68,483  73,914  74,203 
General and administrative 51,543  85,098  70,356 
Sales and marketing 53,142  48,190  34,043 
Restructuring charges (Note 17) 2,396  6,848  — 

Total operating expenses 175,564  214,050  178,602 

Loss from operations (19,141) (75,084) (51,664)
Other income, net:

Interest income 19,280  17,237  4,592 
Interest expense (113) (208) (185)
Other income (expense), net 35  (3) 7 

Total other income, net 19,202  17,026  4,414 
Income (loss) before income taxes 61  (58,058) (47,250)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 958  229  (1,282)

Net loss attributable to Class A and Class B common stockholders $ (897) $ (58,287) $ (45,968)

Net loss per share attributable to Class A and Class B common stockholders:

Basic $ (0.01) $ (0.36) $ (0.28)

Diluted $ (0.01) $ (0.36) $ (0.28)

Weighted-average Class A and Class B common shares outstanding:

Basic 162,608,353  162,993,686  161,303,397 

Diluted 162,608,353  162,993,686  161,303,397 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands)

Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Net loss $ (897) $ (58,287) $ (45,968)
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Unrealized gain (loss) on investments 44  238  (253)

Total other comprehensive income (loss) 44  238  (253)
Comprehensive loss $ (853) $ (58,049) $ (46,221)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
(in thousands, except share and share data)

Class A and Class B Common
Stock

Additional
Paid In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total
Stockholders'

Equity
Shares Amount

Balance as of December 31, 2021 157,700,189  $ 158  $ 813,166  $ (111,574) $ —  $ 701,750 
Issuance of common stock in connection with
charitable donation 172,918  —  1,406  —  —  1,406 

Issuance of common stock under the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan 349,623  —  2,692  —  —  2,692 
Issuance of common stock on exercise of
stock options 6,076,639  6  9,796  —  —  9,802 

Vesting of restricted stock units 832,940  1  (1) —  —  — 
Repurchase of common stock (2,687,592) (3) (20,051) —  —  (20,054)
Stock-based compensation —  —  48,241  —  —  48,241 
Other comprehensive loss —  —  —  —  (253) (253)
Net loss —  —  —  (45,968) —  (45,968)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 162,444,717  $ 162  $ 855,249  $ (157,542) $ (253) $ 697,616 
Issuance of common stock in connection with
charitable donation 172,918  —  1,136  —  —  1,136 

Issuance of common stock under the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan 459,836  1  2,462  —  —  2,463 

Issuance of common stock on exercise of
stock options 5,694,748  6  9,910  —  —  9,916 

Vesting of restricted stock units 3,438,926  3  (3) —  —  — 
Repurchase of common stock (8,849,632) (9) (58,071) —  —  (58,080)
Stock-based compensation —  —  56,469  —  —  56,469 
Other comprehensive loss —  —  —  —  238  238 
Net loss —  —  —  (58,287) —  (58,287)
Balance as of December 31, 2023 163,361,513  $ 163  $ 867,152  $ (215,829) $ (15) $ 651,471 
Issuance of common stock in connection with
charitable donation 172,918  —  823  —  —  823 

Issuance of common stock under the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan 461,194  1  1,777  —  —  1,778 

Issuance of common stock on exercise of
stock options 2,380,648  2  6,087  —  —  6,089 

Vesting of restricted and performance-based
restricted stock units 3,740,590  4  (4) —  —  — 

Repurchase of common stock (4,173,999) (4) (22,177) —  —  (22,181)
Stock-based compensation —  —  46,096  —  —  46,096 
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  —  44  44 
Net loss —  —  —  (897) —  (897)
Balance as of December 31, 2024 165,942,864  $ 166  $ 899,754  $ (216,726) $ 29  $ 683,223 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

74



Table Of Contents
OLO INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Operating activities    
Net loss $ (897) $ (58,287) $ (45,968)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 14,436  10,289  6,020 
Stock-based compensation 43,401  52,862  46,024 
Charitable donation of Class A common stock 823  1,136  1,406 
Provision for expected credit losses 4,458  2,874  283 
Non-cash lease expense 2,258  2,726  2,388 
Deferred income tax benefit —  —  (1,519)
Loss on disposal of assets —  38  — 
Non-cash impairment charges 1,199  —  2,806 
Other non-cash operating activities, net (2,052) (2,328) (1,135)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 4,217  (25,009) (5,642)
Contract assets (954) (187) 377 
Prepaid expenses and other current and noncurrent assets (4,890) (969) (5,191)
Deferred contract costs (706) (3,527) (839)
Accounts payable (3,151) 2,324  (130)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (16,155) 15,891  7,308 
Operating lease liabilities (2,844) (2,905) (2,535)
Unearned revenue 654  (1,597) (1,243)
Other liabilities, noncurrent (109) 101  (66)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 39,688  (6,568) 2,344 
Investing activities

Purchases of property and equipment (883) (93) (517)
Capitalized internal-use software (11,811) (13,011) (8,480)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired —  —  (49,241)
Purchases of investments (118,528) (130,428) (151,723)
Sales and maturities of investments 114,350  124,042  51,478 

Net cash used in investing activities (16,872) (19,490) (158,483)
Financing activities

Cash received for employee payroll tax withholdings 9,860  15,528  9,094 
Cash paid for employee payroll tax withholdings (9,823) (15,527) (9,094)
Payment of deferred offering costs —  —  (423)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and purchases under the employee stock purchase
plan 7,867  12,282  12,244 

Repurchase of common stock (22,181) (58,080) (20,054)
Net cash used in financing activities (14,277) (45,797) (8,233)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 8,539  (71,855) (164,372)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 278,218  350,073  514,445 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 286,757  $ 278,218  $ 350,073 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid for income taxes, net $ 270  $ 73  $ 292 
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities $ —  $ —  $ 20,168 

Capitalization of stock-based compensation for internal-use software $ 2,700  $ 3,607  $ 2,208 

Vesting of early exercised stock options $ —  $ 97  $ 232 

Employee receivables for options exercised $ —  $ —  $ 18 

Purchase of property and equipment $ —  $ 7  $ 7 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Business

Olo Inc. was formed on June 1, 2005 in Delaware and is headquartered in New York City. On January 14, 2020, our Board of Directors and
stockholders approved our name change from Mobo Systems, Inc. to Olo Inc. Unless the context otherwise indicates or requires, references to “we,” “us,”
“our,” and “the Company” shall refer to Olo Inc.

We are an open SaaS platform for restaurants. Our platform powers restaurant brands’ on-demand digital commerce operations, enabling digital
ordering, delivery, engagement, and payments, while further strengthening and enhancing restaurants’ direct guest relationships. We provide restaurants with a
business-to-business-to-guest, enterprise-grade, open SaaS platform to manage their complex digital businesses and enable fast and more personalized
experiences for their guests. Our platform and application programming interfaces seamlessly integrate with a wide range of solutions, unifying disparate
technologies across the restaurant ecosystem. Restaurant brands rely on us to increase their digital omni-channel sales, maximize profitability, establish and
maintain direct guest relationships, and collect, protect, and leverage valuable customer data.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) and in accordance with the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Olo Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation.

Reclassifications

Effective January 1, 2023, we began allocating certain employee-related costs to platform cost of revenues, professional services and other cost of
revenues, sales and marketing, and research and development expenses. Previously, such costs had been presented within general and administrative expenses
on our consolidated statement of operations. These costs are allocated based on each department’s proportionate share of total employee headcount. We
determined that these changes would better reflect industry practice and provide more meaningful information as well as increased transparency of our
operations.

The following employee-related cost reclassifications were made to conform to the current year presentation and had no effect on previously
reported operating loss, net loss, or accumulated deficit for the year ended December 31, 2022:

• For the year ended December 31, 2022, $2.7 million was reclassified from general and administrative expense as follows: $0.8 million into
platform cost of revenue, $0.1 million into professional services and other cost of revenue, $0.4 million into sales and marketing expenses,
and $1.3 million into research and development expenses.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.

We regularly assess these estimates, including but not limited to, stock-based compensation including the determination of the fair value of our
equity awards, realization of deferred tax assets, estimated life of our long-lived assets, purchase price allocations for business combinations, valuation of the
acquired intangibles purchased in a business combination, valuation of goodwill, and the adequacy of reserves associated with accounts receivable. We base
these estimates
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

on historical experience and on various other market-specific and relevant assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results
could differ from these estimates and such differences could be material to our financial position and results of operations.

Segment Information

An operating segment is defined as a component of an enterprise for which discrete financial information is evaluated regularly by the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM”). We define the CODM as the Chief Executive Officer, as his role is to make decisions about allocating resources and
assessing performance. Our business operates in one operating segment, which we have also determined to be one reporting unit for goodwill impairment
testing, as all of our offerings operate on a single platform and are deployed in an identical way with our CODM evaluating our financial information,
resources, and performance of these resources on a consolidated basis. Please refer to “Note 15—Business Segments” of our consolidated financial statements.

Concentrations of Business and Credit Risk

We are exposed to concentrations of credit risk primarily through our cash, cash equivalents, and short- and long-term investments held by financial
institutions. We primarily deposit our cash, cash equivalents, and investments with financial institutions that management believes are of high credit quality and
the amounts on deposit may exceed federally insured limits at various times. We have not experienced any significant losses in such accounts and believe we
are not exposed to any significant risk. For the years ended December  31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, one customer accounted for 9%, 12%, and 12% of our
revenue, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at fair value. We consider all short-term, highly liquid investments, with an original maturity of three months or
less, to be cash equivalents. In 2023, we received restricted cash on behalf of the subtenant of our corporate headquarters at One World Trade Center in advance
of certain rental obligations that were due from the subtenant. The remaining balance we received on behalf of the subtenant of $2.0 million is included in cash
and cash equivalents in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2023. See “Note 10—Leases” for more details.

Investments

Management determines the appropriate classification of investments at the time of purchase based upon management’s intent with regard to such
investments. Our investments are classified as available-for-sale at the time of purchase, and we reevaluate such classification as of each balance sheet date. We
consider all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of 90 days or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. Investments with remaining
contractual maturities of one year or less from the balance sheet date, which are not considered cash equivalents, are classified as short-term investments, and
those with remaining contractual maturities greater than one year from the balance sheet date are classified as long-term investments. All investments are
recorded at their estimated fair value, and any unrealized gains and losses, net of taxes, are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss, which is
reflected as a separate component of stockholders’ equity in the consolidated balance sheets. Realized gains and losses on sales and maturities of investments
are determined based on the specific identification method and are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations.

We perform periodic evaluations to determine whether any declines in the fair value of investments below cost are other-than-temporary. The
evaluation consists of qualitative and quantitative factors regarding the severity and duration of the unrealized loss, as well as our ability and intent to hold the
investments until a forecasted recovery occurs. The impairments are considered to be other-than-temporary if they are related to deterioration in credit risk or if
it is likely that the underlying securities will be sold prior to a full recovery of their cost basis. Other-than-temporary fair value impairments, if any, are
determined based on the specific identification method and are reported in other (expense) income, net in the consolidated statements of operations.

Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable, net are stated at net realizable value and include unbilled receivables. Unbilled receivables arise primarily from transactional
services provided in advance of billing. Accounts receivable are net of an allowance for credit
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losses, are not collateralized, and do not bear interest. Payment terms vary by contract type but are generally due within 30 days. The accounts receivable
balance at December 31, 2024 and 2023 included unbilled receivables of $1.0 million and $0.7 million, respectively.

We assess the collectability of outstanding accounts receivable on an ongoing basis and maintain an allowance for credit losses for accounts
receivable deemed uncollectible. Upon adoption of Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326):
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, we analyzed our accounts receivable portfolio for significant risks, historical activity, and an estimate
of future collectability to determine the amount that will ultimately be collected. This estimate is analyzed for expected credit losses annually and updated
periodically as necessary or upon certain triggering events, based on the financial condition of customers, which includes the delinquency level, historical
write-off experience, customer type, and other assumptions such as the current economic environment.

The following summarizes our allowance for credit losses activity (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Beginning balance $ 2,785  $ 612  $ 657 

Provision for expected credit losses 4,458  2,874  283 
Writeoffs (2,651) (701) (328)

Ending balance $ 4,592  $ 2,785  $ 612 

Deferred Contract Costs

We capitalize the incremental costs of obtaining a revenue contract, including sales commissions for new and renewal revenue contracts, certain
related incentives, and associated payroll tax and fringe benefit costs. Capitalized amounts are recoverable through future revenue streams under customer
contracts.

We allocate costs capitalized for contracts to the related performance obligations and amortize these costs on a straight-line basis over the expected
period of benefit of those performance obligations. We determined that commissions paid on renewals are commensurate with commissions paid on initial
contracts. Accordingly, we amortize commissions on initial contracts over the contract period which is generally three years. We also amortize commissions on
renewal contracts over the renewal contract period, which are generally between one to three years. Amounts expected to be recognized within one year of the
balance sheets date are recorded as current deferred contract costs. The remaining portion is recorded as non-current deferred contract costs in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Amortization of costs capitalized to obtain revenue contracts is included in sales and marketing expense in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

We periodically evaluate whether there have been any changes in our business, market conditions, or other events which would indicate that the
amortization period should be changed, or if there are potential indicators of impairment. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, we have not
identified any potential indicators of material impairment.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net is recorded at cost, and presented net of accumulated depreciation. Cost and the related accumulated depreciation are
deducted from the accounts upon retirement. Significant additions or improvements extending the useful life of an asset are capitalized, while repairs and
maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the term of the lease, or the
useful life of the assets. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets.

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or asset
group may not be recoverable. If circumstances require a long-lived asset or asset group to be tested for possible impairment, we first compare undiscounted
cash flows expected to be generated by that asset or asset group to its carrying value. If the carrying value of the long-lived asset or asset group is not
recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow basis, an impairment is recognized to the extent that the carrying value exceeds its fair value. See “Note 5—Property
and Equipment” for additional information on long-lived asset impairments.
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Capitalized Internal-Use Software

We capitalize certain qualified costs incurred in connection with the development of internal-use software. We evaluate the costs incurred during the
application development stage of internal use software to determine whether the costs meet the criteria for capitalization. Costs related to preliminary project
activities and post implementation activities are expensed as incurred. See “Note 5—Property and Equipment” for additional information on our capitalized
internal-use software.

Business Combinations

We account for acquisitions using the acquisition method of accounting and determine whether a transaction constitutes a business and is treated as
a business combination or if the transaction does not constitute a business and is treated as an asset acquisition. The acquisition method of accounting requires,
among other things, allocation of the fair value of purchase consideration to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their estimated
fair values on the acquisition date. The results of businesses acquired in a business combination are included in our consolidated financial statements from the
date of acquisition.

Determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed requires management to use significant judgment and estimates, including
estimates of future revenue and adjusted earnings before interest and taxes and discount rates. Our estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed
to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ materially from estimates. Our estimates
associated with the accounting for business combinations may change as additional information becomes available regarding the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. Any change in facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and impacts our estimates is recorded to goodwill if identified within the
measurement period. Subsequent to the measurement period or our final determination of fair value of assets and liabilities, whichever is earlier, the
adjustments will affect our earnings.

Transaction related expenses incurred in a business combination are not included as a component of consideration transferred, but are accounted for
as an expense in the period in which the costs are incurred.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognized for non-controlling interest, if any, over
the fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. We have no intangible assets, other than goodwill, with
indefinite useful lives.

Intangible assets other than goodwill are comprised of acquired developed technology, customer relationships, and trademarks. At initial
recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination or asset acquisition are recognized at their fair value as of the date of acquisition. Following
initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at acquisition date fair value less accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if any, and are amortized on
a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. We assess the impairment of intangible assets whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

We review goodwill for impairment annually during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that an impairment may exist. In conducting our annual impairment test, we review qualitative factors (including macroeconomic conditions, industry and
market considerations, cost factors, and overall financial performance) to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is
less than its carrying amount. This step is referred to as the “Step Zero” assessment. If factors indicate that it is more likely than not (a likelihood of more than
50%) that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, we proceed to a quantitative (“Step One”) assessment to determine the existence
and amount of any goodwill impairment. In performing a Step One assessment, the fair value of the reporting unit is determined by using a discounted cash
flow method where we analyze the expected present value of future cash flows. If the carrying value of the reporting unit continues to exceed its fair value, the
fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill is calculated and an impairment loss equal to the excess is recorded. We evaluated goodwill using a Step Zero
analysis during the fourth quarter and determined that goodwill was not impaired. There were no impairment charges recognized related to goodwill or
intangible assets during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022.
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Leases

We determine if an arrangement is a lease or contains a lease at inception. Our lease agreements are generally for office facilities, and the
determination of whether such agreements contain leases generally does not require significant estimates or judgments. Our leases may also contain non-lease
components such as payments of maintenance, utilities, and taxes, which we have elected to account for separately, as these amounts are readily determinable.
At the commencement date of a lease, we recognize a liability to make lease payments and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the
lease term. The lease liability is measured at the present value of the minimum rental payments discounted using our incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) over
the lease term (or, if readily determinable, the rate implicit in the lease). The IBR is the rate of interest that we would have to pay to borrow on a collateralized
basis over a similar term and amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment. We determine our IBR by obtaining interest rates from
various external financing sources and made certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset leased. The right-of-use asset is measured
at cost, which includes the initial measurement of the lease liability and initial direct costs incurred and excludes lease incentives. We subleased a portion of our
office space and recognized rental income on a straight-line basis as an offset to other leases costs, net, which is allocated across cost of revenue and operating
expenses accordingly.

The lease term used to measure right-of-use lease assets and lease liabilities may include renewal options which are deemed reasonably certain to be
exercised. Operating lease costs are recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments are expensed as incurred. Our leases do not
contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are recorded for the expected tax consequences of temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and amounts recognized for income tax purposes. We periodically review the recoverability of deferred tax assets recorded on the
balance sheet and provide valuation allowances as deemed necessary to reduce such deferred tax assets to the amount that will, more likely than not, be
realized. We maintain a full valuation allowance on our net federal and state deferred tax assets.

Significant judgment is required in determining any valuation allowance recorded against deferred tax assets. In assessing the need for a valuation
allowance, we consider all available evidence for each jurisdiction including past operating results, estimates of future taxable income and the feasibility of
ongoing tax planning strategies. In the event we change our determination as to the amount of deferred tax assets that can be realized, we will adjust our
valuation allowance with a corresponding impact to income tax expense in the period in which such determination is made.

The amount of deferred tax provided is calculated using tax rates enacted at the balance sheet date. The impact of tax law changes is recognized in
periods when the change is enacted.

A two-step approach is applied in the recognition and measurement of uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The first
step is to determine if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained in an audit, including
resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely to be
realized upon ultimate settlement.

Our policy is to recognize interest and penalty expenses associated with uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense. We are
required to file tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various states.
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Revenue Recognition

We derive our revenue primarily from platform fees to access our software platform and professional services. Revenue is recognized when control
of these services transfers to our customers in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those services. Sales taxes
collected from customers and remitted to various governmental authorities are excluded from the measurement of the transaction price and presented on a net
basis in our consolidated statements of operations. Any balance collected and not paid is reflected as a liability on the balance sheets. The calculation of
revenue is dependent upon the effective design and operation of the controls over system interfaces as well as controls over the accuracy and completeness of
revenue. The process to extract information from systems and databases is manual.

Platform Revenue

Platform revenue primarily consists of fees that provide customers access to one or more of our modules and standard customer support. Our
contracts typically have initial terms of three years or longer, with continuous one-to-two-year automatic renewal periods. A majority of our platform revenue is
derived from contracts with our restaurant customers to provide our Order Platform solutions, which consist of any combination of our modules, including
Ordering, Dispatch, Rails, or any of our other Order suite add-on modules. The modules may be bundled as a package, or sold on an a la carte basis. We also
generate platform revenue from our Engage suite of tailored marketing solutions, which consist of our Guest Data Platform (“GDP”), Marketing, Sentiment,
Sync, and Host modules. Additionally, we generate platform revenue from our Olo Pay module, which became commercially available during 2022.

Our Order Platform and Engage solutions comprise a stand-ready obligation to provide access to the platform that is satisfied over the contract term.
We generally bill customers on a monthly basis, in arrears. Our contracts which provide bundled offerings of the Order Platform and Engage modules earn
monthly fixed fees in consideration for stand-ready access to our platform for these offerings. By contrast, our contracts where modules are sold a la carte
(“non-bundled”) earn monthly fixed fees for a specified quantity of orders processed on the platform, plus monthly overage fees. For contracts with variable
rates, we estimate this variable consideration using the expected value method based upon our estimates of the number of orders expected to be processed
under the contract. We allocate the variable consideration related to the monthly overages to the distinct month during which the related services were
performed, as those fees relate specifically to providing modules such as Ordering and Rails and represent the consideration we are entitled to for providing
access to the platform during that month. As a result, applicable fixed monthly fees and monthly overages are included in the transaction price and recognized
as revenue in the period in which the fees are generated. In non-bundled contracts where the Dispatch module is also offered, we collect a transaction fee from
the restaurant for each transaction processed, and revenue is recognized at the point that delivery of orders to the restaurants’ customers is facilitated. These
fees per transaction are included in the transaction price and recognized as revenue in the period in which the fees are generated.

In addition to the offerings above to our restaurant customers, we also generate revenue from our arrangements with third-party channels.
Specifically, we partner with delivery service partners (“DSPs”) to enable our restaurant customers to offer, manage, and expand delivery to their customers.
The Dispatch module connects restaurants with DSPs to facilitate the delivery of orders to the restaurants’ customers. We typically collect a per transaction fee
from the DSP. Revenue is recognized when we have arranged for a DSP to deliver the order to the end guest. In addition, our Rails module allows our
customers to control and manage menu availability and pricing and location information while directly integrating orders from third-party channels. We
typically receive a fee from the third-party channel for each transaction processed. No minimum monthly amounts or overage fees are charged to the third-
party channel in these arrangements.

Our Olo Pay module provides a fully-integrated, frictionless payment platform, enabling restaurants to grow and protect their digital business
through an improved customer payment experience, offering advanced fraud prevention designed to improve authorization rates for valid transactions, and
increase basket conversion. We typically collect a per transaction fee from the restaurant for orders processed using our Olo Pay module. Revenue is
recognized at the time of the transaction.
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Professional Services and Other Revenue

Professional services and other revenue primarily consists of fees for platform implementation services. The implementation fees in our contracts
are generally a fixed fee over the duration of the implementation services. Our customers benefit from our services as they are provided, and we use a cost-to-
cost measure of progress to recognize revenue from our implementation services.

In certain contracts, we engage third parties to assist in providing professional services to our customers. We determined we are the principal in
transferring these services to the customer and recognize revenue on a gross basis. We control the services being provided to our customer and are responsible
for ensuring that the services are performed and are acceptable to our customer. That is, we are responsible for fulfillment of the promise in the contract with
our customer, and we also have discretion in setting the price with our customer.

Contracts with Multiple Performance Obligations

Our contracts with customers may contain multiple performance obligations. We identify performance obligations in a contract with a customer
based on the goods and services that will be transferred to the customer that are capable of being distinct and that are separately identifiable from other
promises in the contract. If not considered distinct, the promised goods or services are combined with other goods or services and accounted for as a combined
performance obligation. Identifying distinct performance obligations in a contract requires judgment. Our performance obligations primarily include access to
our platform and its different modules and implementation services associated with the platform.

We have determined that the variable consideration allocation exception is generally applicable to our contracts, as the pricing for each service is
generally commensurate with the value delivered to the customer for the provision of that service. If we determine for specific contracts that the allocation
objective is not met, we analyze these contracts to determine whether a relative standalone selling price allocation should be performed.

All implementation services are generally distinct and accounted for as separate performance obligations. For contracts with multiple performance
obligations, the transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative standalone selling price basis. We determine standalone
selling price based on the price at which the distinct good or service is sold separately. If the standalone selling price is not observable through past
transactions, we estimate the standalone selling price taking into account available information such as market conditions, internally approved pricing, and
cost-plus expected margin guidelines related to the performance obligations.

Contract Balances

The timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers. We record a receivable when revenue is recognized upon
invoicing and payment will become due solely due to the passage of time. We record a contract asset when revenue is recognized prior to invoicing or payment
is contingent upon transfer of control of another separate performance obligation. We record unearned revenue when revenue is recognized subsequent to cash
collection. Unearned revenue that will be recognized during the succeeding 12-month period is recorded as current, and the remaining unearned revenue is
recorded as non-current. Contract assets that will be billed to the customer during the succeeding 12-month period are recorded as current and the remaining
contract assets are recorded as non-current.

Payment terms and conditions vary by contract type, although terms generally include a requirement for payment to be made within 30 days. We
elected the practical expedient to not assess whether a significant financing component exists if the period between when we transfer a promised good or
service to a customer and when the customer pays for that good or service is one year or less.

Cost of Revenue

Platform

Platform cost of revenue primarily consists of costs directly related to our platform services, including expenses for customer support and
infrastructure personnel, including salaries, payroll taxes, benefits, bonuses, and stock-based compensation, which we refer to as personnel costs, third-party
software licenses, hosting, amortization of capitalized internal-
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use software and developed technology, payment processing, and allocated overhead costs associated with delivering these services.

Professional services and other

Professional services and other cost of revenue primarily consists of the personnel costs of our deployment team associated with delivering these
services and allocated overhead.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development expenses primarily consist of engineering and product development personnel costs and allocated overhead costs.
Research and development costs exclude capitalized internal-use software development costs, as they are capitalized as a component of property and
equipment, net and amortized to platform cost of revenue over the term of their estimated useful life.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of sales and marketing costs, personnel costs for our sales and marketing teams, sales commissions,
amortization of customer relationships acquired through business combinations, promotional activities, and allocated overhead costs. Sales commissions earned
by our sales force are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected benefit period.

We expense all advertising costs when incurred. We incurred advertising expenses of approximately $1.0 million, $1.5 million, and $0.9 million
during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. Advertising expense is recorded as a component of sales and marketing expenses in
the consolidated statements of operations.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses primarily consist of personnel costs and contractor fees for finance, legal, human resources, information
technology, and other administrative functions. In addition, general and administrative expenses include litigation costs, net of recoveries, amortization of
trademarks, travel-related expenses, and allocated overhead.

Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges are comprised of severance costs, payroll taxes, benefits, and stock-based compensation expense associated with the
accelerated vesting of equity awards. These charges were incurred as a result of separate workforce reductions in the third quarter of 2024 and the second
quarter of 2023.

Restructuring charges were recorded under a one-time benefit arrangement and accounted for in accordance with ASC 420 Exit or Disposal Cost
Obligations. One-time termination benefits were expensed at the date the employees were notified. See “Note 17—Restructuring Charges” for additional
information on amounts recorded.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure compensation expense for all stock-based payment awards, including stock options, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), and performance-
based restricted stock units (“PSUs”) granted to employees, directors, and non-employees, as well as purchases under our 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
(“ESPP”), based on the estimated fair value of the awards on the date of grant. Compensation expense associated with stock options, RSUs, and the relative
total shareholder return PSUs awarded in 2024 (“Relative TSR PSUs”), is recognized ratably in earnings, generally over the period during which an employee
is required to provide service. Compensation expense associated with the PSUs awarded in 2023 (“2023 PSUs”) and the absolute total shareholder return PSUs
(“Absolute TSR PSUs”) is recognized using the accelerated attribution method over the period we expect the service and performance conditions under the
award will be achieved. Compensation expense associated with our ESPP is recognized over the offering period for the purchase rights issued under the plan.
We adjust compensation expense based on actual forfeitures as necessary.
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Time-Based Service Awards

Our stock options and RSUs generally vest ratably over a four-year period and the fair value of stock options and ESPP shares is estimated on the
date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. Awards with graded vesting features are recognized over the requisite service period for the entire
award. The determination of the grant date fair value of stock awards issued is affected by a number of variables and subjective assumptions, including (i) the
fair value of our common stock, (ii) the expected common stock price volatility over the expected life of the award, (iii) the expected term of the award, (iv)
risk-free interest rates, (v) the exercise price, and (vi) the expected dividend yield of our common stock.

We estimate the expected term based on the simplified method, which is the mid-point between the vesting date and the end of the contractual term
for each award. The risk-free interest rate is based on the United States Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant whose term is consistent with the
expected life of the award.

Expected dividend yield is zero percent, as we have not paid, and do not anticipate paying, dividends on our Class A common stock or Class B
common stock. Upon the exercise of a stock option award or the vesting of an RSU award, shares of either our Class A common stock or Class B common
stock are issued from authorized but unissued shares. The fair value for RSUs is calculated based on the stock price on the date of grant and our RSUs
generally vest ratably over a four-year period.

Performance-Based Awards

In 2024, we awarded market-based Absolute TSR PSUs and Relative TSR PSUs to executives that will vest over approximately three years based
upon achievement of (a) certain stock price targets and (b) our target total shareholder return (“TSR”), respectively. The Relative TSR PSUs will vest relative
to the TSR of companies in the Russell 2000 Index over the specified performance period. In each case, vesting will be subject to the executive’s continuous
service through the last day of the applicable performance period. Depending on achievement of the market-based metrics, the number of PSUs issued could
range from 0% to 200% of the target PSUs. The fair value of the 2024 PSUs is determined using a Monte Carlo simulation model on the date of the grant.

In 2023, we awarded PSUs (“2023 PSUs”), which have performance and service vesting requirements. The fair value for PSUs is calculated based
on the stock price on the date of grant and the PSUs vest depending on the achievement of certain financial metrics relative to the approved performance
targets. During the year ended December 31, 2024 we completed our assessment of the 2023 PSUs based on the actual financial metrics achieved relative to the
target financial metrics for the year ended December 31, 2023. The remaining eligible shares will vest according to the time-based service requirements,
subject to the applicable executive’s continued service as of each vesting date.

Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Shareholders

We compute net loss per share using the two-class method required for multiple classes of common stock and participating securities. The two-class
method requires income (loss) available to common stockholders for the period to be allocated between the common stock and participating securities based
upon their respective rights to receive dividends as if all income (loss) for the period had been distributed.

The rights, including the liquidation and dividend rights, of the Class A common stock and Class B common stock are substantially identical, other
than voting rights. Accordingly, the Class A common stock and Class B common stock shared proportionately in our net losses. No other participating
securities were issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Basic net loss per share attributable to Class A and Class B common stockholders is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to Class A and
Class B common stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of Class A and Class B common stock outstanding for the period. The diluted net loss
per share is computed by giving effect to all potentially dilutive securities outstanding for the period using the treasury stock method or the if-converted method
based on the nature of such securities. Because we reported losses attributable to common stockholders for all periods presented, all potentially dilutive
common stock is antidilutive for those periods.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to
Reportable Segment Disclosures, which requires public entities to disclose information about their reportable segments’ significant expenses and other segment
items on an interim and annual basis. Public entities with a single reportable segment are required to apply the disclosure requirements in ASU 2023-07, as well
as all existing segment disclosures and reconciliation requirements in ASC 280 on an interim and annual basis. ASU 2023-07 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2023, and for interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. Adoption of
the ASU is applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial statements. We adopted this ASU during the year ended December 31, 2024.
For further information regarding the Company’s Business Segments, please refer to “Note 15—Business Segments” of our consolidated financial statements
included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which requires public
entities, on an annual basis, to provide disclosure of specific categories in the rate reconciliation, as well as disclosure of income taxes paid disaggregated by
jurisdiction. ASU 2023-09 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. We do not expect that the adoption of
the new guidance will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income - Expense Disaggregation Disclosures,
which requires disclosure of disaggregated information about certain income statement expense line items in the notes to the financial statements on an interim
and annual basis. ASU 2024-03 will be effective for the annual reporting periods in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, with early adoption
permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of ASU 2024-03 will have on our consolidated financial statements.
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3. Revenue Recognition

The following table disaggregates revenue by type (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2024

Platform

Professional
Services and

Other Total
Timing of revenue recognition

Transferred over time $ 128,166  $ 3,384  $ 131,550 
Transferred at a point in time 153,388  —  153,388 

Total revenue $ 281,554  $ 3,384  $ 284,938 

Year Ended December 31, 2023

Platform

Professional
Services and

Other Total
Timing of revenue recognition

Transferred over time $ 100,639  $ 3,110  $ 103,749 
Transferred at a point in time 124,540  —  124,540 

Total revenue $ 225,179  $ 3,110  $ 228,289 

Year Ended December 31, 2022

Platform

Professional
Services and

Other Total
Timing of revenue recognition

Transferred over time $ 92,304  $ 4,111  $ 96,415 
Transferred at a point in time 88,989  —  88,989 

Total revenue $ 181,293  $ 4,111  $ 185,404 

Contract Balances

Contract Assets

As described in “Note 2–Significant Accounting Policies,” professional services revenue is generally recognized ratably over the implementation
period, beginning on the commencement date of each contract. Platform revenue is recognized as the services are delivered. We record a contract asset when
revenue recognized on a contract exceeds the billings. Our standard billing terms are monthly; however, the billings may not be consistent with the pattern of
recognition, based on when services are performed. Contract assets were $1.7 million and $0.8 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Unearned Revenue

Unearned revenue primarily consists of billings or payments received in advance of revenue recognition from subscription services and is
recognized as revenue when transfer of control to customers has occurred. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we recognized $1.5 million of revenue
related to contracts that were included in unearned revenue at December 31, 2023. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we recognized $1.9 million of
revenue related to contracts that were included in unearned revenue at December 31, 2022.

As of December 31, 2024, our remaining performance obligations were approximately $44.8 million, approximately 48% of which we expect to
recognize as revenue over the next 12 months, and substantially all of the remaining revenue will be recognized thereafter over the next 24 to 48 months. These
amounts only include contracts subject to a guaranteed fixed amount or the guaranteed minimum under variable contracts. Unrecognized revenue under
contracts disclosed above do not include (1) contracts with an original expected term of one year or less; (2) contracts for which variable consideration is
determined based
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on the customer’s subsequent sale or usage; or (3) agreements for which our right to invoice corresponds with the value provided to the customer.

Deferred Contract Costs

The following table summarizes the activity of current and non-current deferred contract costs (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2023
Balance at beginning of period $ 10,549  $ 7,022 

Capitalization of deferred contract costs 6,442  8,140 
Amortization of deferred contract costs (5,735) (4,613)

Balance at end of period $ 11,256  $ 10,549 

4. Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous
market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. We apply the following fair value hierarchy,
which prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value into three levels and bases the categorization within the hierarchy upon the lowest level of input that is
available and significant to the fair value measurement:

Level 1 inputs: Based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 inputs: Based on observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets
with insufficient volume or infrequent transactions (less active markets); or model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs are observable or can be
derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3 inputs: Based on unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology that are significant to the measurement of fair value of assets or
liabilities, and typically reflect management’s estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.
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The following tables present the costs, net unrealized gains (losses), and fair value by major security type for our investments as of December 31,
2024 and 2023 (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2024

Cost
Net Unrealized
Gains (Losses) Fair Value

Cash and cash
equivalents

Short-term
investments

Long-term
investments

Cash $ 151,820  $ —  $ 151,820  $ 151,820  $ —  $ — 
Level 1:

Money market funds 133,739  —  133,739  133,739  —  — 
Commercial paper 7,923  6  7,929  1,198  6,731  — 

Subtotal 141,662  6  141,668  134,937  6,731  — 
Level 2:

Certificates of deposit 23,291  13  23,304  —  23,304  — 
U.S. Government and agency
securities

45,668  (13) 45,655  —  23,660  21,995 

Corporate bonds 40,641  23  40,664  —  20,283  20,381 
Subtotal 109,600  23  109,623  —  67,247  42,376 

Level 3: —  —  —  —  —  — 
Total $ 403,082  $ 29  $ 403,111  $ 286,757  $ 73,978  $ 42,376 

As of December 31, 2023

Cost
Net Unrealized
(Losses) Gains Fair Value

Cash and cash
equivalents

Short-term
investments

Long-term
investments

Cash $ 130,566  $ —  $ 130,566  $ 130,566  $ —  $ — 
Level 1:

Money market funds 147,652  —  147,652  147,652  —  — 
Commercial paper 16,408  11  16,419  —  16,419  — 

Subtotal 164,060  11  164,071  147,652  16,419  — 
Level 2:

Certificates of deposit 15,366  21  15,387  —  15,387  — 
U.S. Government and agency
securities

49,393  (73) 49,320  —  33,198  16,122 

Corporate bonds 28,927  26  28,953  —  19,327  9,626 
Subtotal 93,686  (26) 93,660  —  67,912  25,748 

Level 3: —  —  —  —  —  — 
Total $ 388,312  $ (15) $ 388,297  $ 278,218  $ 84,331  $ 25,748 

Our assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis include long-lived assets and finite-lived intangibles, which are considered to be Level 3
inputs. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $0.6 million related to a portion of our internal-use software
that was non-recoverable. This amount was recorded in research and development expenses. In addition, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $0.6
million related to our operating lease right-of-use assets, as we committed in June 2024 to our plan to abandon our prior office space, and we relocated our
corporate headquarters back to One World Trade Center in July 2024. This amount was recorded in general and administrative expenses. No material
impairment charges were recorded during the year ended December 31, 2023. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we determined that the estimated fair
value of a portion of our internal-use software was non-recoverable, and we recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $0.5 million.” In addition, during the
year ended December 31, 2022, we entered into a sublease of our corporate headquarters, and in connection with this, we recorded a non-cash impairment
charge of $2.3 million related to our right-of-use asset and furniture and fixtures within the leased space.

Accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued expenses are stated at their carrying value, which approximates fair value due to the short time
to the expected receipt or payment date.
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5. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,
Estimated Useful Life

(in Years) 2024 2023

Computer and office equipment 3 - 5 $ 2,316  $ 1,800 
Capitalized internal-use software 3 44,163  30,288 
Furniture and fixtures 10 33  33 
Leasehold improvements Shorter of estimated useful life or remaining term of lease 59  45 

Total property and equipment 46,571  32,166 
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (20,253) (10,111)

Total property and equipment, net $ 26,318  $ 22,055 

Depreciation and amortization expense was approximately $10.5 million, $6.3 million, and $2.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2024,
2023, and 2022, respectively.

We recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 in connection with the sublease of our former
corporate headquarters, as we determined a group of assets in the leased space was no longer recoverable. This amount was recorded in general and
administrative expenses within the consolidated statement of operations.

Capitalized Internal-Use Software

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 gross capitalized costs related to internal-use software of $44.2 million and $30.3 million, respectively, were
included within property and equipment, net on the balance sheet, and such amounts are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the
software within platform cost of revenue. Amortization expense recorded for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 was $10.1 million, $5.9
million, and $1.7 million, respectively. Associated with the balances as of December  31, 2024, we expect our annual amortization expense for capitalized
internal-use software to be $10.7 million in 2025, $6.3 million in 2026, and $1.8 million in 2027.

We recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $0.6 million during the year ended December  31, 2024 related to a portion of our internal-use
software that was non-recoverable. We also recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $0.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2022 related to a
portion of our internal-use software that was abandoned. These amounts were recorded in research and development expenses within the consolidated
statement of operations.

6. Acquisitions

Omnivore Acquisition

On February 20, 2022, we signed a definitive agreement to acquire Omnivore Technologies, Inc. (“Omnivore”), a restaurant technology provider
that connects restaurants’ point-of-sale systems with technologies that improve efficiency and increase profitability. We closed the acquisition on March 4,
2022 for total consideration of approximately $49.3 million in cash, net of cash acquired and a post-closing working capital adjustment.

The operating results of Omnivore have been included in our consolidated statement of operations since the acquisition date. Actual results of
operations from the date of acquisition through December 31, 2023 and supplemental pro forma revenue and results of operations have not been presented
because the effects were not material to the consolidated financial statements.

We finalized the valuation of assets acquired and liabilities assumed for the acquisition of Omnivore during the year ended December 31, 2023. We
did not record any measurement period adjustments during the year ended December 31, 2023.
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Purchase Price Allocation

The acquisition was accounted for under the acquisition method in accordance with ASC 805, Business Combinations. The following table
summarizes the allocation of the purchase price (at fair value), including measurement period adjustments, of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed of
Omnivore (in thousands):

Final Purchase Price Allocation
Accounts receivable $ 451 
Other current assets 148 
Operating lease right-of-use asset 236 
Property and equipment 24 
Other assets, noncurrent 9 
Customer relationships 1,290 
Developed technology 4,410 
Trademark 150 
Goodwill 44,919 
Accounts payable (198)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (101)
Unearned revenue (226)
Operating lease liability, current (81)
Operating lease liability, noncurrent (177)
Deferred tax liability, net (1,519)

Total purchase price, net of cash acquired and post-closing working capital adjustment $ 49,335 

Customer relationships were measured at fair value using the multiple-period excess earnings method under the income approach. Significant inputs
used to measure the fair value include an estimate of projected revenue and costs associated with existing customers, and a discount rate of 11.0%.

Developed technology was measured at fair value using the relief-from-royalty method of the income approach. Significant inputs used to measure
the fair value include an estimate of projected revenue from existing technology, a pre-tax royalty rate of 20.0% and a discount rate of 11.0%.

Trademark was measured at fair value using the relief-from-royalty method under the income approach. Significant inputs used to measure the fair
value include an estimate of projected revenue from the trademark, a pre-tax royalty rate of 1.0% and a discount rate of 11.0%.

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits expected to arise from other intangible assets acquired that do not qualify for separate recognition,
including an experienced workforce that will help accelerate product development and go to market strategy, as well as expected future synergies generated by
integrating Omnivore’s products with those in our existing platform. None of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

We recorded $0.1 million in transaction related expenses, primarily related to compensation, advisory, legal, valuation, and other professional fees,
for the year ended December 31, 2023. The transaction related expenses are recorded primarily within the sales and marketing and general and administrative
expenses line items of the consolidated statements of operations.
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7. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The following table summarizes the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill (in thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2022 207,781 
Adjustments — 

Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 207,781 
Adjustments — 

Balance at December 31, 2024 $ 207,781 

The gross book value and accumulated amortization of intangible assets, net, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows (in thousands):

Weighted-average
Remaining Useful Life

(in years) Gross Carrying Value
Accumulated
Amortization Net Carrying Value

Developed technology 2.94 $ 14,595  $ (7,458) $ 7,137 
Customer relationships 4.88 10,921  (4,269) 6,652 
Trademarks 0.17 486  (478) 8 
Balance at December 31, 2024 $ 26,002  $ (12,205) $ 13,797 

Weighted-average
Remaining Useful Life

(in years) Gross Carrying Value
Accumulated
Amortization Net Carrying Value

Developed technology 3.94 $ 14,595  $ (5,025) $ 9,570 
Customer relationships 5.87 10,921  (2,904) 8,017 
Trademarks 0.96 486  (335) 151 
Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 26,002  $ (8,264) $ 17,738 

Amortization expense associated with the acquired intangible assets was $3.9 million, $4.0 million, and $3.8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 respectively.

As of December 31, 2024, estimated amortization related to the identifiable acquisition-related intangible assets expected to be recognized in future
periods was as follows (in thousands):

2025 $ 3,806 
2026 3,798 
2027 3,515 
2028 1,488 
2029 1,164 
Thereafter 26 
Total $ 13,797 

No goodwill or intangible asset impairment losses were recognized during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, or 2022.
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8. Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2024 2023
Accrued delivery service partner fees $ 35,841  $ 39,964 
Accrued compensation and benefits 9,733  9,148 
Professional and consulting fees 1,303  3,866 
Accrued taxes 1,830  1,068 
Accrued legal settlements —  9,000 
Sublease liability —  2,032 
Other 5,187  3,162 

Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 53,894  $ 68,240 

9. Line of Credit

On June 10, 2022, we entered into the Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement with Pacific Western Bank (now known as
Banc of California) related to a revolving credit and term loan facility (the “Second Amended and Restated LSA”).

The Second Amended and Restated LSA amended and restated the Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated February 11, 2020,
as amended (the “Prior LSA”) to, among other things, increase our available aggregate borrowing limit to $70.0 million and to provide the ability to request
Banc of California to enter into commitments to increase the credit extensions available to us under the Second Amended and Restated LSA to up to
$125.0 million (the “Accordion Facility”). The agreement is set to expire on May 12, 2025, however we intend to execute a new amendment to renew the
agreement prior to this expiration.

Borrowings under the Second Amended and Restated LSA accrue interest at a variable annual rate equal to (i) in the case of Formula Advances (as
defined in the Second Amended and Restated LSA), the greater of the variable rate of interest, per annum, most recently announced by Banc of California (the
“Prime Rate”) or 3.25% or (ii) in the case of Term Loans (as defined in the Second Amended and Restated LSA), the greater of the Prime Rate plus 0.25% or
3.50%. The Second Amended and Restated LSA provides for a success fee payable upon an acquisition of Olo or termination of the Second Amended and
Restated LSA (a “Success Fee Trigger”), in an amount equal to: (i) $400,000, if the Success Fee Trigger occurs prior to June 10, 2025; (ii) $200,000, if the
Success Fee Trigger occurs on or after June 10, 2025 and prior to June 10, 2026; and (iii) $0, if the Success Fee Trigger occurs on or after June 10, 2026. We
are also required to pay a fee of 1.0% of the difference between (i) the highest outstanding principal balance during the term of the Second Amended and
Restated LSA and (ii) $3.5 million if a Liquidity Event (as defined in the Second Amended and Restated LSA) occurs during the term and or within 24 months
after the termination of the Second Amended and Restated LSA. Our obligations under the Second Amended and Restated LSA are secured by substantially all
of our assets, including certain securities owned by us in any subsidiary.

The Second Amended and Restated LSA includes a financial covenant requiring compliance with certain minimum revenue amounts. In addition,
the Second Amended and Restated LSA contains representations and warranties generally consistent with the Prior LSA, as well as certain non-financial
covenants, including, but not limited to, limitations on our ability to incur additional indebtedness or liens, pay dividends, or make certain investments. We
were in compliance with these covenants as of December 31, 2024, and expect to remain in compliance for at least the upcoming twelve months.

The Second Amended and Restated LSA also contains events of default that include, among other things, non-payment defaults, covenant defaults,
insolvency defaults, cross-defaults to other indebtedness and material obligations,

(1)

(2)

(1) See “Note 14—Commitments and Contingencies” for details.
(2) We received restricted cash on behalf of the subtenant of our former corporate headquarters at One World Trade Center in advance of certain future rental obligations that will be due from the subtenant.
See “Note 10—Leases” for more details.
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judgment defaults, inaccuracy of representations and warranties, and a material adverse change. Any default that is not cured or waived could result in Banc of
California exercising its rights and remedies under the Second Amended and Restated LSA, including, but not limited to, the acceleration of the obligations
under the Second Amended and Restated LSA and related documentation, and would permit Banc of California to exercise remedies with respect to all of the
collateral that secured such obligations.

Banc of California has the right to terminate its obligation to make further advances to us immediately and without notice upon the occurrence and
during the continuance of an event of default. Upon our request, Banc of California will provide us a payoff letter providing for, among other things, repayment
of our obligations then outstanding, including the success fee, and for termination of Banc of California’s obligations to make additional credit extensions and
termination of the liens under the Second Amended and Restated LSA.

As of December 31, 2024, we had $68.6 million of commitments available under the Second Amended and Restated LSA, after consideration of
$1.4 million in our letter of credit on the lease of our corporate headquarters at One World Trade Center. As of December 31, 2024, we had no outstanding
borrowings under the line of credit, and no amounts have been drawn against our letter of credit.

Interest expense related to the line of credit was immaterial for each of the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022. Deferred financing
costs related to the Second Amended and Restated LSA were capitalized and are included within other current and non-current assets as of December 31, 2024.

10. Leases

Our operating lease portfolio consists of three non-cancelable operating leases of office space and the remaining lease term expiration dates span
from January 2025 to May 2030.

In 2024 we abandoned our office lease located at 99 Hudson St, New York, New York before the expiration of the lease term in March 2025 and
relocated our corporate headquarters (“Headquarters Lease”) back to One World Trade Center. We recorded an impairment of operating lease right-of-use
assets totaling $0.6 million during the year ended December  31, 2024 in connection with the abandonment of the former office space. This amount was
recorded in general and administrative expenses within the consolidated statement of operations. Currently, there are no operating leases where we believe it is
reasonably certain that we will exercise any option to extend the initial term.

The elements of lease expense were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Operating lease costs $ 3,091  $ 3,815  $ 3,459 
Other lease income (1,963) (2,513) (549)

Total lease costs $ 1,128  $ 1,302  $ 2,910 
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Other information related to operating leases were as follows (in thousands, except for years and percentages):

Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Cash paid for amounts included in the initial measurement of lease liabilities $ 3,710 $ 3,940 $ 3,606

Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2023
Weighted average remaining lease term (years) 5.34 6.08
Weighted average discount rate 5.53 % 5.59 %

As of December 31, 2024, the total remaining operating lease payments included in the measurement of lease liabilities were as follows (in
thousands):

2025 $ 3,106 
2026 2,960 
2027 2,960 
2028 2,960 
2029 2,960 
Thereafter 1,234 
Total future minimum lease payments 16,180 
Less: imputed interest (2,196)
Total $ 13,984 

In 2023, we abandoned our office lease located at 26 Broadway, New York, New York, resulting in a reduction of $0.3 million to operating lease
right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities, respectively and entered into an agreement with our landlord that provided for an early termination of the
lease.

We received restricted cash during 2023 on behalf of the subtenant of our headquarters lease in advance of certain rental obligations that were due
from the subtenant. The remaining balance we received on behalf of the subtenant of $2.0 million was included in cash and cash equivalents, with an equal and
offsetting liability in accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2023. During February 2024, the
subtenant surrendered the premises back to us and in connection with this, we recorded a lease termination benefit of $1.4  million within general and
administrative expenses.

In August 2022, we entered into a sublease agreement for the headquarters lease. We evaluated the associated assets for impairment, which included
the right-of-use asset and furniture and fixtures for the office space. We compared the expected future undiscounted cash flows attributable to the associated
assets to the carrying value and determined that they were impaired. Based on this evaluation, we determined that a portion of the right-of-use asset was no
longer recoverable and recorded a right-of-use asset impairment charge of $2.2 million for the year ended December  31, 2022. We also determined that
furniture and fixtures related to the space were no longer recoverable, and recorded an asset impairment charge for the carrying value of the assets of $0.1
million year ended December  31, 2022. We also recorded broker commission fees of $0.9 million in connection with entering into the sublease. These
impairment charges and commission expenses were recorded in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations.

95



Table Of Contents
OLO INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

11. Stockholders’ Equity

Class A common stock and Class B common stock reserved for future issuance consisted of the following:

As of December 31,
2024 2023

Shares available for grant under employee stock purchase plan 6,203,493  5,579,991 
Shares available for grant under equity incentive plan 29,543,305  25,029,007 
Restricted stock units issued and outstanding under equity incentive plan 8,868,310  9,545,036 
Performance-based restricted stock units issued and outstanding under equity incentive plan 2,079,376  395,545 
Options issued and outstanding under equity incentive plan 18,327,238  21,797,792 

Total common stock reserved for future issuance 65,021,722  62,347,371 

Repurchases of Common Stock

On September 7, 2022, our Board of Directors authorized a program to repurchase up to $100 million of our Class A common stock (the “2022
Stock Buyback Program”). We completed the 2022 Stock Buyback Program in the second quarter of 2024.

On April 30, 2024, the Board of Directors authorized a program to repurchase up to $100 million of our Class A common stock (the “2024 Buyback
Program”). Under the 2024 Buyback Program, we may repurchase shares of our Class A common stock from time to time on a discretionary basis through open
market repurchases, privately negotiated transactions, block purchases, or other means, and such repurchases will be structured to occur in compliance with
applicable securities laws. The timing and actual number of shares repurchased, if any, will be determined by the Board of Directors or a committee established
by the Board of Directors, depending on a variety of factors, including the Class A common stock price, trading volume, market conditions, our cash flow and
liquidity profile, the capital needs of the business, and other considerations. We expect to fund repurchases with existing cash on hand. The 2024 Buyback
Program has no expiration date and may be modified, suspended, or terminated at any time by the Board of Directors at its discretion. We have not made any
repurchases under the 2024 Buyback Program as of the year ended December 31, 2024.

In addition, open market repurchases of common stock could be made pursuant to our trading plans established pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), which would permit us to repurchase common stock at a time that we might otherwise be
precluded from doing so under insider trading laws or self-imposed trading restrictions.

The following table summarizes the share repurchase activity of our Class A common stock under the 2022 Stock Buyback Program noted above for
the periods presented:

Total Number of Shares
Purchased

Average Price Paid per
Share 

Repurchases of common stock for the year ended:
December 31, 2022 2,687,592  7.44 
December 31, 2023 8,849,632  6.54 
December 31, 2024 4,173,999  5.29 
Total 15,711,223  6.36 

Charitable Contributions

We donated 172,918 shares of our Class A common stock to the Olo for Good Fund at Tides Foundation and recognized $0.8 million as a non-cash
general and administrative expense in our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024.

(1)

(1) Average price paid per share excludes broker commission fees.
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We donated 172,918 shares of our Class A common stock to the Olo for Good Fund at Tides Foundation and recognized $1.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023.

Through December 31, 2024, we have donated a total of 864,590 shares of our Class A common stock. We expect to donate 1/10th of the total
remaining approved shares into the fund annually.

12. Stock-Based Compensation

Equity Incentive Plans

On March 5, 2021, our Board of Directors adopted our 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (“2021 Plan”). Prior to that date, we had established our 2015
Equity Incentive Plan (“2015 Plan”) and 2005 Equity Incentive Plan (“2005 Plan” and collectively with the 2021 Plan and 2015 Plan, the “Plans”). The 2021
Plan serves as the successor to the 2015 Plan and 2005 Plan and provides for the issuance of incentive and nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights
(“SARs”), restricted stock, RSUs, PSUs, and other awards, to employees, directors, consultants, and advisors. Pursuant to the evergreen provisions of the 2021
Plan, the Board of Directors approved an automatic increase of 8,168,075 additional shares of Class A common stock reserved and available for issuance under
the 2021 Plan effective as of January 1, 2024.

Stock options under the Plans were granted with contractual terms of up to ten years (or five years if granted to a greater than 10.0% stockholder)
and at prices no less than 100.0% of the fair value of the shares on the date of grant; provided, however, that (i) the exercise price of an incentive stock option
(“ISO”) and nonqualified stock option (“NSO”) granted to a greater than 10.0% stockholder were not less than 110.0% of the fair value of the shares on the
date of grant. Awards granted under the Plans generally vested over four years.

On March 13, 2021, our Board of Directors adopted a non-employee director compensation policy that became effective upon our IPO. The policy
provides for annual cash retainers for non-employee directors and an additional cash retainer for those non-employee directors that serve as chairpersons or
members of our audit, compensation, nominating and corporate governance, and other committees. Additionally, directors will have the option to receive their
annual retainer amounts in cash or equity. Each new non-employee director appointed to the Board of Directors after the IPO date will be granted an initial
RSU award with a value of $0.4 million subject to vesting over a three-year period.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the maximum number of shares authorized for issuance to participants under the Plans was 49,484,228 and
40,556,635, respectively. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the number of shares available for issuance to participants under the Plans was 29,543,305 and
25,029,007, respectively.

Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes the activity for the unvested RSUs during the year ended December 31, 2024:

Shares

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date Fair
Value

Unvested at December 31, 2023 9,545,036  $ 8.70 
Granted 4,913,298  5.19 
Vested (3,547,224) 8.75 
Forfeited and canceled (2,042,800) 8.21 
Unvested at December 31, 2024 8,868,310  6.85 

The total fair value of RSUs vested during year ended December 31, 2024 was $19.8 million. Future stock-based compensation for unvested RSUs
awarded as of December 31, 2024 was approximately $56.9 million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.46 years.
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Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units

In February 2023, we made grants to executives for the 2023 PSUs that will vest over three years based on the achievement of specified financial
targets at the end of a one-year performance period, subject to the executive’s continuous service. The target number of shares underlying the 2023 PSUs was
determined based on the higher of (a) the 30-trading day average price preceding the grant date or (b) the floor price as determined by the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors for the calendar year. Based on the actual financial metrics achieved relative to the target financial metrics for the year
ended December 31, 2023, the number of PSUs issued were 103.86% of the target PSUs. Accordingly, 193,366 shares vested for the year ended December 31,
2024 upon meeting the time-based vesting requirement. The remaining eligible shares will vest according to the time-based service requirements, subject to the
applicable executive’s continued service as of each vesting date. The fair value of the 2023 PSUs is calculated based on the stock price on the date of grant.

In March 2024, we made additional PSU grants to executives for the market-based Absolute TSR PSUs and Relative TSR PSUs that will vest over
approximately three years based upon achievement (a) certain stock price targets and (b) our target TSR, respectively. The Relative TSR PSUs will vest relative
to the TSR of companies in the Russell 2000 Index over the specified performance period. In each case, vesting will be subject to the executive’s continuous
service through the last day of the applicable performance period. Depending on achievement of the market-based metrics, the number of PSUs issued could
range from 0% to 200% of the target PSUs. The fair value of the 2024 PSUs is determined using a Monte Carlo simulation model on the date of the grant.

The following table summarizes the activity for the unvested PSUs during the year ended December 31, 2024:

Shares

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date Fair
Value

Unvested at December 31, 2023 395,545  $ 7.77 
Granted 2,089,588  6.89 
Vested (193,366) 7.77 
Forfeited and canceled (212,391) 7.43 
Unvested at December 31, 2024 2,079,376  6.08 

The total fair value of PSUs vested during the year ended December  31, 2024 was $1.1 million. Future stock-based compensation expense for
unvested PSUs awarded as of December 31, 2024 was approximately $9.4 million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.99
years.

Stock Options

The following summarizes our stock option activity for the periods indicated (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):

Number of
options

outstanding

Weighted-
average
exercise

price

Weighted-
average

remaining
contractual

term
(In years)

Aggregate
intrinsic

value
As of December 31, 2023 21,797,792  $ 4.35  3.69 $ 59,055 
Granted —  — 
Exercised (2,380,648) 2.56 
Forfeited and canceled (1,089,906) 12.63 
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2024 18,327,238  $ 4.08  2.82 $ 79,622 
Exercisable as of December 31, 2024 18,129,552  $ 3.97  2.75 $ 79,622 
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The following table summarizes the weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted, intrinsic value of options exercised, and fair value of
options vested for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted N/A N/A $ 4.87 
Intrinsic value of options exercised $ 8,403  $ 30,060  $ 66,326 
Total fair value of options vested $ 11,114  $ 18,368  $ 26,668 

Future stock-based compensation for unvested employee options granted and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 was $0.7 million and is expected
to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 0.90 years.

Valuation Assumptions

We estimated the fair value of stock options granted using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average
assumptions:

Year Ended
December 31,

2022
Expected term (in years) 5.24 - 6.00
Volatility 32% - 36%
Risk-free interest rate 1.62% - 2.87%
Dividend yield 0%
Fair value of underlying common stock $11.07 - $15.75

We elected to use the midpoint practical expedient to calculate the expected term.

2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On March 5, 2021, our Board of Directors and stockholders adopted our employee stock purchase plan (“ESPP”). The ESPP became effective
immediately prior to the IPO. The employee stock purchase plan (“ESPP”) was authorized by the Board of Directors for the issuance of 3,900,000 shares of our
Class A common stock pursuant to purchase rights granted to our employees or to employees of any of our designated affiliates. The number of shares of our
Class A common stock reserved for issuance automatically increase on January 1 of each calendar year through January 1, 2031, by the lesser of (1) 1.0% of
the total number of shares of our Class A common stock outstanding on December 31 of the preceding calendar year, or (2) 11,700,000 Class A common stock;
provided, that prior to the date of any such increase, our Board of Directors may determine that such increase will be less than the amount set forth in clauses
(1) and (2). Employees may contribute, normally through payroll deductions, up to 15% of their earnings for the purchase of our Class A common stock under
the ESPP. Our Class A common stock will be purchased for the accounts of employees participating in the ESPP at a price per Class A common share equal to
the lower of (a) 85% of the fair market value of our Class A common stock on the first trading date of an offering or (b) 85% of the fair market value of our
Class A common stock on the date of purchase. The current offering period began in December 2024 and ends in June 2025. Pursuant to the evergreen
provisions of the ESPP, the Board of Directors approved an automatic increase of 1,084,696 additional shares of Class A common stock reserved and available
for issuance under the ESPP effective as of January 1, 2023. As of December 31, 2024, a total of 6,203,493 shares were available for issuance to employees
under the ESPP. For the years ended December  31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, we recorded approximately $0.7 million, $1.2 million, and $1.5 million of
compensation expense associated with our ESPP, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The classification of stock-based compensation expense, which includes expense for stock options, RSUs, PSUs, SARs, and ESPP charges, by line
item within the consolidated statements of operations is as follows (in thousands):

99



Table Of Contents
OLO INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Cost of revenue - platform $ 5,240  $ 6,838  $ 5,457 
Cost of revenue - professional services and other 356  672  630 
Research and development 11,432  15,055  14,053 
General and administrative 19,962  20,813  20,339 
Sales and marketing 6,411  7,756  5,545 
Restructuring charges —  1,728  — 

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 43,401  $ 52,862  $ 46,024 

13. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of the following for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Current income tax provision:
Federal $ 155  $ —  $ — 
State 803  229  238 

Total current income tax provision 958  229  238 
Deferred income tax provision:

Federal —  —  (1,151)
State —  —  (368)

Total deferred income tax benefit —  —  (1,519)
Total income tax (benefit) provision $ 958  $ 229  $ (1,282)

A reconciliation of the U.S. statutory income tax rate to our effective tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Federal statutory rate 21.00 % 21.00 % 21.00 %
State and local taxes, net of federal benefit 1,033.73  0.25  2.23 
Acquisition-related deferred tax liability —  —  3.22 
Valuation allowance (4,647.99) (24.04) (17.66)
Stock-based compensation 2,442.63  7.82  6.34 
Executive compensation 2,551.99  (5.61) (7.24)
Other 168.21  0.19  (5.18)
Total provision and effective tax rate 1,569.57 % (0.39)% 2.71 %

The difference between income taxes at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate of 21% and the amounts reported for the year ended December 31,
2024 primarily relates to the full valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets and adjustments for stock-based compensation.
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Income Taxes

The components of our net deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Deferred tax assets:
Accrued expenses $ 1,591  $ 1,526 
Operating lease liabilities 3,532  4,269 
Stock-based compensation 17,307  15,315 
Net operating losses 64,785  72,505 
Tax credits 1,026  1,517 
Capitalized internal-use software 4,726  2,554 
Charitable stock donation 4,125  4,003 
Other 1,159  707 

Total deferred tax assets 98,251  102,396 
Less valuation allowance (88,810) (91,630)

Net deferred tax assets 9,441  10,766 
Unearned revenue (339) (147)
Operating lease right-of-use assets (2,452) (3,178)
Intangible assets (3,434) (4,438)
Deferred contract costs (2,843) (2,676)
Property and equipment (373) (327)

Net deferred tax liabilities (9,441) (10,766)
Total net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ —  $ — 

Assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets requires the determination of whether it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or all the deferred
tax assets will not be realized. In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including future
reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, loss carry-back and tax-planning strategies. Generally, more weight is
given to objectively verifiable evidence, such as the cumulative loss in recent years, as a significant piece of negative evidence to overcome. Accordingly, a full
valuation allowance has been established as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and no deferred tax assets and related tax benefits have been recognized in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements. The valuation allowance decreased $2.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2024 and increased
$16.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2023 from the valuation allowances that were recorded as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We
maintain a full valuation allowance on our net federal and state deferred tax assets for both years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, as we have concluded
that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

As of December  31, 2024 and 2023, we had approximately $254.0  million and $287.3  million of federal net operating losses, respectively.
Approximately all of the federal net operating losses will have an indefinite life.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had approximately $198.3 million and $211.4 million of state net operating losses, respectively. Of the state
net operating losses, some may follow the Tax Cut and Jobs Act and are indefinite-lived and most are definite-lived with various expiration dates beginning in
2025 through 2043. The federal research and development tax credits are approximately $1.0 million and $1.5 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. The federal research credits will begin to expire in 2039.

Utilization of the net operating loss carryforwards and credits may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to ownership changes that may
have occurred previously or that could occur in the future, as provided by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as well as similar state provisions.
Such annual limitation could result in the expiration of net operating losses and credits before their utilization.
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We file U.S. federal and state income tax returns with varying statutes of limitations. All tax years since inception remain open to examination due
to the carryover of unused net operating losses and tax credits.

We recognize interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of tax expense. We had not accrued any interest or
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022. The unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2024 and 2023 are not
material.

14. Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Proceedings

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines, and penalties and other sources are recorded when it is probable
that a liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. If we determine that a loss is reasonably possible, and the loss or range of loss
can be estimated, we will disclose the possible loss in the notes to our financial statements. Accounting for contingencies requires us to use judgment related to
both the likelihood of a loss and the estimate of the amount or range of loss. Legal costs incurred in connection with loss contingencies are expensed as
incurred.

On September 26, 2022, a class action lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York asserting claims
under the federal securities laws against us and certain of our executive officers (the “Securities Class Action”). On December 21, 2022, the Court appointed a
lead plaintiff and lead counsel on behalf of the class, following which the case was captioned Steamship Trade Association of Baltimore - International
Longshoremen’s Association Pension Fund v. Olo Inc., et al. (Case No.1:22-cv-08228-JSR). On August 9, 2023, lead plaintiff filed a second amended
complaint asserting claims on behalf of a class composed of all persons who purchased or otherwise acquired our securities between March 17, 2021 and
August 11, 2022, inclusive (the “Second Amended Complaint”). The Second Amended Complaint asserts a claim against all defendants for alleged violations
of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b5 promulgated thereunder and a claim under Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act against Mr. Glass, our Chief
Executive Officer, and Mr. Benevides, our Chief Financial Officer, as alleged controlling persons. The Second Amended Complaint alleges that defendants
made materially false and misleading statements concerning, among other things, our business relationship with the restaurant brand Subway, our financial
position, our enterprise market customers, and our publicly disclosed “active locations” counts, and that these alleged false and misleading statements caused
losses and damages for members of the class. The Second Amended Complaint seeks unspecified damages, interest, costs and attorneys’ fees, and other
unspecified relief that the Court deems appropriate. On August 24, 2023, we filed a motion to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint. On September 26,
2023, the Court issued a summary order granting in part and denying in part our motion to dismiss, dismissing the claims in the Second Amended Complaint to
the extent they are premised on misstatements about Subway, our financial prospects, and our prospects in the enterprise market, but permitting the remaining
claims concerning our publicly disclosed “active locations” counts to proceed. On December 1, 2023, the Court issued an opinion confirming its September 26,
2023, order granting in part and denying in part our motion to dismiss. Also on December 1, 2023, the Court entered an order certifying a class of stockholders
that purchased Olo’s Class A common stock between March 17, 2021 and August 11, 2022. On January 16, 2024, the parties reached an agreement to settle the
lawsuit, and lead plaintiff filed an unopposed motion for preliminary approval of the proposed class action settlement. The Court granted final approval of the
settlement on June 11, 2024. In connection with the agreement, we recorded an expense of $9.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2023 for the
anticipated settlement, which was recorded in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations. We maintain insurance coverage
for a portion of the settlement and legal and consulting fees, but we do not record anticipated insurance proceeds until all contingencies relating to the
insurance recovery have been removed, including an acknowledgment by the insurance company and our determination that recovery of the expected amount is
probable. During the year ended December  31, 2024, we recorded $12.1 million in recoveries under this insurance coverage, which was recorded within
general and administrative expenses.

On May 4, 2023, Cashondra Floyd, an alleged Olo stockholder, derivatively and on behalf of us as a nominal defendant, filed a complaint in the
U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York captioned Floyd v. Glass, et al. (Case No. 1:23-cv-03770) against certain of our directors and officers
based on substantially similar allegations as in the Securities Class Action. On May 25, 2023, the plaintiff voluntary dismissed her complaint and refiled in the
Court of the Chancery of the State of Delaware (C.A. No. 2023-0560-KSJM) (the “Floyd Derivative Complaint”).

On November 16, 2023, Alexander A. Balleh and Neil Ahearne, alleged Olo stockholders, derivatively and on behalf of us as a nominal defendant,
filed a complaint in the Court of the Chancery of the State of Delaware captioned Balleh v.

102



Table Of Contents
OLO INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Glass, et al. (C.A. No. 2023-1165-KSJM) (the “Balleh Derivative Complaint”) against certain of our directors and officers also based on substantially similar
allegations as in the Securities Class Action.

On January 11, 2024, J. Brandon Giuda and Katrina Giuda, alleged Olo stockholders, derivatively and on behalf of us as a nominal defendant, filed
a complaint in the Court of the Chancery of the State of Delaware captioned Giuda v. Glass, et al. (C.A. No. 2024-0025-KSJM) (the “Giuda Derivative
Complaint”) against certain of our directors and officers also based on substantially similar allegations as in the Securities Class Action.

On November 13, 2024, the Court consolidated the Floyd Derivative Complaint, the Balleh Derivative Complaint, and the Giuda Derivative
Complaint into a single action (the “Consolidated Derivative Action”). On December 2, 2024, plaintiffs in the Consolidated Derivative Action designated an
operative complaint (the “Consolidated Derivative Complaint”) against certain of our directors and officers (the “Derivative Defendants”). The Consolidated
Derivative Complaint alleges that, beginning in approximately March 2021 through at least November 2023, the Derivative Defendants caused our alleged
issuance of materially false and misleading statements concerning our business relationship with the restaurant brand Subway and our publicly disclosed
“active locations” counts. The Consolidated Derivative Complaint asserts a single claim for breaches of fiduciary duty against the Derivative Defendants. The
Consolidated Derivative Complaint seeks a judgment against the Derivative Defendants in favor of us for the amount of damages sustained by us as a result of
the Derivative Defendants’ breaches of fiduciary duties; directing us to take all necessary actions to reform and improve our corporate governance and internal
procedures to comply with applicable laws and to protect us and our shareholders from a repeat of the damaging events alleged in the Consolidated Derivative
Complaint; awarding us restitution from the Derivative Defendants and ordering disgorgement of all profits, benefits and other compensation obtained by the
Derivative Defendants; awarding plaintiffs the costs and disbursements of the action, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, accountants’ and experts’ fees, costs
and expenses; and granting such other relief that the Court deems just and proper. On January 16, 2025, the Derivative Defendants filed a motion to dismiss the
Consolidated Derivative Complaint. Plaintiffs are due to file an opposition to the motion to dismiss by March 3, 2025.

On May 15, 2024, Richard Scarantino (the “Scarantino Plaintiff”), an alleged Olo stockholder, filed a class action and derivative complaint on
behalf of Olo stockholders and on behalf of us as a nominal defendant, in the Court of the Chancery of the State of Delaware captioned Scarantino v. Glass, et
al. (C.A. No. 2024-0517-KSJM) (the “Scarantino Complaint”) against our Board of Directors (the “Scarantino Director Defendants”), our Chief Executive
Officer (the “Scarantino Officer Defendant”), The Raine Group LLC, RPII Order LLC, and Raine Associates II LP (collectively, “The Raine Group” and
together with Olo, the Scarantino Director Defendants, and the Scarantino Officer Defendant, the “Scarantino Defendants”). The Scarantino Complaint alleged
that the Director Defendants and Officer Defendant breached their fiduciary duties by authorizing the 2024 Buyback Program, which could result in The Raine
Group having majority voting control over Olo. The Scarantino Complaint asserted a direct and a derivative claim for breaches of fiduciary duty against the
Scarantino Director Defendants and the Scarantino Officer Defendant. The Scarantino Complaint also asserted that The Raine Group aided and abetted the
Scarantino Director Defendants’ and Scarantino Officer Defendant’s breaches of fiduciary duty. On June 11, 2024, our Board of Directors agreed, through
unanimous written consent (the “Board Resolutions”) that, among other things, the 2024 Buyback Program shall be carried out in such a way that our
repurchases pursuant thereto do not cause The Raine Group’s ownership of Olo’s outstanding voting stock to exceed 49.9% and to take appropriate measures to
the best of their ability to ensure that repurchases pursuant to the 2024 Buyback Program do not cause The Raine Group’s ownership of our outstanding voting
stock to exceed 49.9%. The Scarantino Plaintiff subsequently agreed that the Board Resolutions would render the Scarantino Complaint moot. On June 12,
2024, the Scarantino Defendants moved to dismiss the Scarantino Complaint. On June 21, 2024, the parties filed a stipulation and proposed order dismissing
the Scarantino Complaint with prejudice, which the Court granted on June 24, 2024. The Court retained jurisdiction of the lawsuit solely for the purpose of
adjudicating an application for attorneys’ fees in connection with the claims asserted in the Scarantino Complaint. On August 2, 2024, the Court entered a
Stipulation and Order providing that the Scarantino Plaintiff’s action will be dismissed with prejudice and the case will be closed, subject to the Company
filing an affidavit with the Court confirming that a notice of settlement has been issued. The Company filed an affidavit with the Court on August 6, 2024. We
recorded $0.6 million of litigation-related expenses related to this matter for the year ended December 31, 2024. This amount was recorded in general and
administrative expenses within the consolidated statement of operations.

We have also received, and may in the future continue to receive, other claims from third parties asserting, among other things, infringement of their
intellectual property rights. Future litigation may be necessary to defend ourselves or our customers by determining the scope, enforceability and validity of
third-party proprietary rights or to establish our proprietary rights. Defending such proceedings is costly and can impose a significant burden on management
and employees. The results of
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any current or future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense
and settlement costs, diversion of management resources, and other factors.

Non-cancelable Purchase Commitments

We have $35.5 million of non-cancelable purchase commitments as of December 31, 2024, primarily related to cloud computing, SaaS, in which the
commitments are due over the course of the next three years. These purchase commitments are not recorded as liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets as
of December 31, 2024 as we have not yet received the related services. The amounts included in the following table were limited to the non-cancelable portion
of the agreement terms or the minimum cancellation fees.

Our future payments under the non-cancelable purchase commitments as of December 31, 2024 were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Amount
2025 $ 12,100 
2026 12,600 
2027 10,600 
Thereafter 230 

Total future minimum payments $ 35,530 

15. Business Segments

The CODM uses net loss to assess financial performance and allocate resources. The measure of segment assets is reported on our consolidated
balance sheets as total assets. The CODM uses net loss to make key operating decisions, such as the allocation of budget between cost of revenue, research and
development, general and administrative and sales and marketing expenses. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we did not have assets located outside of the
United States and international revenue recognized during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 was not material.
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The following table presents selected financial information with respect to the Company’s single operating segment for the years ended December
31, 2024, 2023 and 2022:

Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
(in thousands)

Revenue $ 284,938  $ 228,289  $ 185,404 

Less:
Cost of revenue 110,240  73,194  47,891 
Research and development 56,053  58,266  59,078 
General and administrative 40,508  39,846  41,991 
Sales and marketing 45,194  38,723  26,685 
Restructuring charges 2,396  6,848  — 
Stock-based compensation expense and related payroll tax expense 44,337  52,666  46,865 

        Capitalized internal-use software and intangible amortization 14,018  9,878  5,446 
Certain litigation-related expenses, net of recoveries (11,431) 21,590  — 
Interest income (19,280) (17,237) (4,592)
Other segment items 3,800  2,802  8,008 

Net loss $ (897) $ (58,287) $ (45,968)

16. Net Loss per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

A reconciliation of net loss available to common stockholders and the number of shares in the calculation of basic loss per share is as follows (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Numerator:
Net loss attributable to Class A and Class B common stockholders—basic and diluted $ (897) $ (58,287) $ (45,968)

Denominator:
Weighted-average Class A and Class B common shares outstanding—basic and diluted 162,608,353  162,993,686  161,303,397 

Net loss per share attributable to Class A and Class B common stockholders—basic and diluted $ (0.01) $ (0.36) $ (0.28)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(2)

(1) Amount excludes the following as applicable: Stock-based compensation expense and related payroll tax expense; Capitalized internal-use software and intangible amortization; certain litigation-related
expenses, net of recoveries; and other non-significant segment expenses, net.
(2) Includes depreciation from property and equipment of $0.4 million, $0.4 million, and $0.6 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. Other segment
items also include items such as non-cash impairments, disposals on assets, charitable donation of class A common stock, certain severance costs, acquisition-related transaction costs, interest expense,
other income (expense), net, and provision (benefit) for income taxes.
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The following securities were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders for the periods presented,
because including them would have been anti-dilutive (on an as-converted basis):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Outstanding stock options 18,327,238  21,797,792  29,859,096 
Outstanding RSUs and PSUs 10,947,686  9,940,581  4,559,917 
Outstanding shares estimated to be purchased under ESPP 177,252  263,601  284,705 

Total 29,452,176  32,001,974  34,703,718 

17. Restructuring Charges

On September 20, 2024, we announced a reduction of workforce by approximately 9% to reorganize our business to better focus our investments on
customer needs and to support our long-term growth objectives (the “2024 Restructuring Plan”).

We incurred charges of $2.4  million in connection with the 2024 Restructuring Plan for the year ended December  31, 2024, consisting of the
following: $2.0 million related to severance expense and payroll taxes, and $0.4 million related to other employee benefits. These expenses were recorded
within the restructuring charges line item of the consolidated statement of operations.

The following table summarizes the restructuring liabilities, which are recorded within accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheets, as of December 31, 2024 (in thousands):

Balance at January 1, 2024 $ — 
Charges 2,396 
Payments (2,396)

Balance at December 31, 2024 $ — 

The actions associated with the 2024 Restructuring Plan were fully completed during the year ended December 31, 2024 and we do not expect to
incur any material additional charges under this plan.

On June 14, 2023, we announced a workforce reduction impacting approximately 11% of our workforce as part of our efforts to reorganize our
business units to better focus our investments on customer needs and to support our long-term growth objectives (the “2023 Restructuring Plan”).

We incurred charges of $6.8  million in connection with the 2023 Restructuring Plan for the year ended December  31, 2023, consisting of the
following: $4.5 million related to severance expense and payroll taxes, $1.7 million related to stock-based compensation expense due to the acceleration of
equity awards, and $0.6 million related to other employee benefits. These expenses were recorded within the restructuring charges line item of the consolidated
statement of operations.

The following table summarizes the restructuring liabilities, which are recorded within accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheets, as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Balance at January 1, 2023 $ — 
Charges 6,848 
Payments (6,848)

Balance at December 31, 2023 $ — 

The actions associated with the 2023 Restructuring Plan were fully completed during the year ended December 31, 2023 and we do not expect to
incur any material additional charges under this plan.

106



Table Of Contents
OLO INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

18. Related Party Transactions

Two of our board members have ownership interests in companies to which we provide services, including our chief executive officer who serves
on the board of directors of one of these companies and receives an annual cash retainer for service on such board. During the years ended December 31, 2024,
2023, and 2022, we generated approximately $2.2 million, $1.5 million, and $1.0 million of revenue, respectively, from these customers. As of December 31,
2024 and 2023, the outstanding accounts receivable from the related parties was $0.8 million and $0.6 million, respectively.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act), as of December 31, 2024. Based on this evaluation, our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December  31, 2024, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide
reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC rules and forms and (ii) accumulated and communicated to our management, including
our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Except as otherwise described herein, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f) under the Exchange Act, during the quarter ended December 31, 2024 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate “internal control over financial reporting,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Our management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2024 based on the criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission. As a result, our management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective at December 31, 2024.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or
our internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. The design of any system of
controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in
achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or
fraud may occur and not be detected.

Auditor Report

The public accounting firm that audited the financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K has issued an attestation report on the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, other than as described in the statements below, none of our directors or officers (as defined in
Rule 16a-1(f) of the Exchange Act) adopted, terminated or modified a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement (as such terms
are defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K).
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On November 12, 2024, Zuhairah Washington, a member of our Board of Directors, entered into a trading plan pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 of the
Exchange Act that provides for the sale of an aggregate of up to 11,000 shares of our Class A common stock pursuant to the terms of the plan. The plan will
terminate on December 31, 2025, subject to early termination for certain specified events set forth in the plan. The trading arrangement is intended to satisfy
the affirmative defense in Rule 10b5-1(c).

RSU Amendments

The following is intended to provide the required disclosure pursuant to Item 5.02(e) of Form 8-K.

On February 21, 2025, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors approved amendments to all RSUs, including any performance-based
RSUs, that provide for time-based vesting, the Time RSUs, of Peter Benevides, our Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to the Company’s 2021 Equity Incentive
Plan, as amended, the 2021 Plan. The amendments to the Time RSUs amend the vesting schedule to provide for certain single-trigger acceleration benefits,
such that 100% of any then-outstanding and unvested Time RSUs shall be deemed vested in full immediately prior to a Change in Control (as defined in the
2021 Plan), subject to the Mr. Benevides’ Continuous Service (as defined in the 2021 Plan) with the Company through the consummation of such Change in
Control.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item, including information about our Directors, Executive Officers, Audit Committee, and Code of Conduct, will be included
in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC, within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December
31, 2024, and is incorporated herein by reference.

We have adopted an insider trading policy applicable to our directors, officers, employees, and other covered persons, and have implemented a process for the
company that we believe is reasonably designed to promote compliance with insider trading laws, rules and regulations, and the New York Stock Exchange
listing standards. Our insider trading policy is filed as Exhibit 19.1 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item will be included in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the
SEC, within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item will be included in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the
SEC, within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item will be included in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the
SEC, within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this item will be included in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the
SEC, within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The documents listed in the Exhibit Index of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are incorporated by reference or are filed with this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, in each case as indicated therein.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Number Description Filing Date
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s

Form 8-K (File No. 001-40213) filed on March 22, 2021).
March 22, 2021

3.2 Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40213) filed on June 26, 2024).

June 26, 2024

3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K (File No.
001-40213) filed on March 22, 2021).

March 22, 2021

4.1 Form of Class A Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Form S-1/A (File No.
333-253314) filed on March 8, 2021).

March 8, 2021

4.2 Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated as of April 28, 2020, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 (File No. 333-253314) filed on February 19, 2021).

February 19, 2021

4.3 Description of Capital Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No.
001-40213) filed on February 25, 2022).

February 25, 2022

10.1+ Separation Agreement and Release, by and between Registrant and Diego Panama, dated January 21, 2025. Filed herewith

10.2+ Advisor Agreement, by and between Registrant and Diego Panama, dated January 21, 2025. Filed herewith

10.3 Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, by and between Registrant and Pacific Western Bank, dated February 11,
2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 (File No. 333-253314) filed on February 19, 2021).

February 19, 2021

10.4 Lease Agreement between WTC Tower 1 LLC and the Registrant, dated as of June 11, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.4 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 (File No. 333-253314) filed on February 19, 2021).

February 19, 2021

10.5+ 2005 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 (File No. 333-253314) filed on
February 19, 2021).

February 19, 2021

10.6+ 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 (File No. 333-253314) filed on
February 19, 2021).

February 19, 2021

10.7+ 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant’s Form S-1/A (File No. 333-253314) filed
on March 15, 2021).

March 15, 2021

10.8+ Forms of Stock Option Grant Notice, Stock Option Agreement, and Notice of Exercise under the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 (File No. 333-253314) filed on February 19, 2021).

February 19, 2021

10.9+ Forms of Stock Option Grant Notice, Stock Option Agreement, Notice of Exercise, Stock Appreciation Right Grant Notice and
Stock Appreciation Right Agreement under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the
Registrant’s Form S-1 (File No. 333-253314) filed on February 19, 2021).

February 19, 2021

10.10† + Forms of Stock Option Grant Notice, Stock Option Agreement, and Notice of Exercise under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant’s Form S-1/A (File No. 333-253314) filed on March 8, 2021).

March 8, 2021

10.11† + Forms of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice and Award Agreement under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrant’s Form S-1/A (File No. 333-253314) filed on March 8, 2021).

March 8, 2021
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10.12+ Forms of Indemnity Agreement entered into by and between Registrant and each director and executive officer (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant’s Form S-1/A (File No. 333-253314) filed on March 8, 2021).

March 8, 2021

10.13+ Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, by and between Registrant and Noah Glass, dated January 1, 2021 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 (File No. 333-253314) filed on February 19, 2021).

February 19, 2021

10.14+ 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Registrant’s Form S-1/A (File No. 333-
253314) filed on March 15, 2021).

March 15, 2021

10.15+ Executive Bonus Policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Registrant’s Form S-1/A (File No. 333-253314) filed on
March 15, 2021).

March 15, 2021

10.16† # Delivery Network Agreement, dated March 30, 2017, by and between the Registrant and DoorDash, Inc., as amended
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Registrant’s Form S-1/A (File No. 333-253314) filed on March 15, 2021).

March 15, 2021

10.17† # Restated Delivery Network Agreement, dated April 22, 2021, by and between the Registrant and DoorDash, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40213) filed on August 10, 2021).

August 10, 2021

10.18 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, by and between Registrant and Pacific Western Bank,
dated April 29, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40213) filed on
August 10, 2021).

August 10, 2021

10.19# Standby Letter of Credit, by and among the Registrant, Pacific Western Bank and DoorDash Inc., as beneficiary, dated May 6,
2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40213) filed on August 10, 2021).

August 10, 2021

10.20 Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, by and between Olo Inc. and Pacific Western Bank,
dated August 13, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40213) filed on
November 9, 2021).

November 9, 2021

10.21 Third Amendment and Joinder to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, by and between Registrant, Wisely, LLC,
and Pacific Western Bank, dated December 9, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K (File
No. 001-40213) filed on February 25, 2022).

February 25, 2022

10.22+ Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, by and between Registrant and Peter Benevides, dated January 1, 2021
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40213) filed on May 10, 2022).

May 10, 2022

10.23 Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, by and between Registrant, Wisely, LLC, and Pacific
Western Bank, dated January 13, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-
40213) filed on May 10, 2022).

May 10, 2022

10.24 Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, by and between Registrant, Wisely, LLC, and Pacific
Western Bank, dated March 3, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-
40213) filed on May 10, 2022).

May 10, 2022

10.25† Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, by and between Registrant, Wisely, LLC, Omnivore Technologies,
Inc., and Pacific Western Bank, dated June 10, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K (File
No. 001-40213) filed on June 15, 2022).

June 15, 2022

10.26+ Separation Agreement and Release, by and between Registrant and Marty Hahnfeld, dated May 9, 2022 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40213) filed on August 11, 2022).

August 11, 2022

10.27+ Advisor Agreement, by and between Registrant and Marty Hahnfeld, dated May 9, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40213) filed on August 11, 2022).

August 11, 2022

10.28+ Employment Agreement, by and between Registrant and Diego Panama, dated April 26, 2022 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40213) filed on August 11, 2022).

August 11, 2022

10.29 Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, by and between Registrant, Wisely, LLC, and Pacific
Western Bank, dated May 9, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40213)
filed on August 11, 2022).

August 11, 2022

10.30# First Amendment to the Restated Delivery Network Agreement, by and between Registrant and DoorDash, Inc, dated July 30,
2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40213) filed on August 11, 2022).

August 11, 2022
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10.31# Second Amendment to the Restated Delivery Network Agreement, by and between Registrant and DoorDash, Inc., dated April 4,
2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40213) filed on August 11, 2022).

August 11, 2022

10.32+ Separation Agreement and Release, by and between the Registrant and Nithya B. Das, dated January 17, 2023 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No, 001-40213) filed on May 9, 2023).

May 9, 2023

10.33+† Forms of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice and Award Agreement under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40213) filed on May 9, 2023).

May 9, 2023

10.34+ Employment Agreement, by and between Registrant and Robert Morvillo, dated April 3, 2023 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40213) filed on August 1, 2023).

August 1, 2023

10.35# First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, by and between Registrant, Wisely, LLC,
Omnivore Technologies, Inc., and Pacific Western Bank, dated April 18, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40213) filed on August 1, 2023).

August 1, 2023

10.36+ Employment Agreement, by and between Registrant and Joanna Lambert, dated May 23, 2023 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40213) filed on August 1, 2023).

August 1, 2023

10.37+ Employment Agreement, by and between Registrant and Sherri Manning, dated June 20, 2023 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40213) filed on August 1, 2023).

August 1, 2023

10.38# DoorDash Data License Addendum, by and between the Registrant and DoorDash, Inc., dated August 3, 2023 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No, 001-40213) filed on November 6, 2023).

November 6, 2023

10.39+ Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy, dated November 1, 2023 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K (File No. 001-40213) filed on February 21, 2024).

February 21, 2024

10.40# Third Amendment to the Restated Delivery Network Agreement, by and between the Registrant and DoorDash, Inc., effective
March 30, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40213) filed on May 7,
2024).

May 7, 2024

10.41# Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, by and between Registrant, Wisely, LLC,
Omnivore Technologies, Inc., and Banc of California, dated April 25, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40213) filed on July 31, 2024).

July 31, 2024

10.42+ Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy, dated July 31, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40213) filed on November 7, 2024).

November 7, 2024

19.1 Insider Trading Policy of the registrant. Filed herewith

21.1 List of subsidiaries of the registrant. Filed herewith

23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent registered public accounting firm. Filed herewith

24.1 Power of Attorney (included in signature pages hereto).

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Filed herewith

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Filed herewith

32.1* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Furnished herewith

97 Compensation Recovery Policy, dated November 27, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 97 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K
(File 001-40213) filed on February 21, 2024).

February 21, 2024

101.INS XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are
embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

Filed herewith

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document Filed herewith

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document Filed herewith
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101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document Filed herewith

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document Filed herewith

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document Filed herewith

104 Cover Page with Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL with applicable taxonomy extension information contained in
Exhibit 101).

_____________________________
+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
* The certifications furnished in Exhibit 32.1 hereto are deemed to accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K and will not be deemed “filed” for purposes of

Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.
# Portions of this exhibit (indicated by asterisks) have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K because the registrant has determined they

are not material and is the type of information that the registrant treats as private or confidential.
†      Certain schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. The registrant hereby undertakes to furnish supplementally a copy of any

omitted exhibit or schedule upon request by the SEC.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Olo Inc.

February 25, 2025

_____________________/s/ Noah H. Glass_____________________
Noah H. Glass

Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose individual signature appears below hereby authorizes and appoints Noah H. Glass and Peter Benevides, and each of them, with
full power of substitution and resubstitution and full power to act without the other, as his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent to act in his or her
name, place and stead and to execute in the name and on behalf of each person, individually and in each capacity stated below, and to file any and all
amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and
every act and thing, ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them or their or his substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or
cause to be done by virtue thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
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February 25, 2025

_____________________/s/ Noah H. Glass_____________________
Noah H. Glass

Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer); Director

February 25, 2025

____________________/s/ Peter Benevides_____________________
Peter Benevides

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)

February 25, 2025

___________________/s/ David Cancel_____________________
David Cancel

Director

February 25, 2025

___________________/s/ Brandon Gardner_____________________
Brandon Gardner

Director

February 25, 2025

_____________________/s/ David Frankel_____________________
David Frankel

Director

February 25, 2025

_____________________/s/ Lee Kirkpatrick___________________
Lee Kirkpatrick

Director

February 25, 2025

_____________________/s/ Daniel Meyer_____________________
Daniel Meyer

Director

February 25, 2025

_____________________/s/ Colin Neville_____________________
Colin Neville

Director

February 25, 2025

__________________/s/ Linda Rottenberg_____________________
Linda Rottenberg

Director

February 25, 2025

_______________/s/ Zuhairah Washington_____________________
Zuhairah Washington

Director
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Exhibit 10.1

SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND RELEASE

This Separation Agreement and Release (“Agreement”) is made by and between Diego Panama (“Employee”) and Olo Inc.
(the “Company”) (collectively referred to as the “Parties” or individually referred to as a “Party”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Employee is employed by the Company;

WHEREAS, Employee signed an Employment Agreement with the Company, effective July 5, 2022 (the “Employment
Agreement”);

WHEREAS, Employee signed an Employee Confidential Information and Invention Assignment Agreement with the
Company on June 21, 2022 (the “Confidentiality Agreement”);

WHEREAS, the Company and Employee have entered into restricted stock unit award agreements and performance-based
restricted stock unit award agreements (the “Equity Award Agreements”) granting Employee the right to receive restricted stock
units (“RSUs”) and performance-based restricted stock units (“PSUs”) subject to the terms and conditions of the Company’s 2021
Equity Incentive Plan the (the “Equity Incentive Plan”) and the respective Equity Award Agreement;

WHEREAS, Employee separated from employment with the Company effective December 31, 2024 (the “Separation Date”);

WHEREAS, the Company desires to have Employee available for ongoing advice and knowledge transfer regarding its go-
to-market initiatives following the Separation Date pursuant to a written agreement (the “Advisor Agreement”);

WHEREAS, the Parties wish to resolve any and all disputes, claims, complaints, grievances, charges, actions, petitions, and
demands that the Employee may have against the Company and any of the Releasees as defined below, including, but not limited to,
any and all claims arising out of or in any way related to Employee’s employment with or separation from the Company; and

WHEREAS, regardless of whether Employee enters into this Agreement, the Company shall pay Employee all earned wages,
as well as unpaid and properly documented expenses, in each case that have accrued to and/or been incurred by Employee through
the Separation Date. Except as provided in this Agreement, Employee’s participation in all benefits and incidents of employment,
including, but not limited to, the accrual of bonuses, vacation, and paid time off, will cease as of the Separation Date.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises made herein, the Company and Employee hereby agree as
follows:

COVENANTS
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1. Consideration. In consideration of Employee’s execution of this Agreement and Employee’s fulfillment of all of its terms and
conditions, and provided that Employee does not revoke the Agreement under the Acknowledgement of Waiver of Claims Under
ADEA Section below, the Company agrees as follows:

a. Payment. The Company agrees to pay Employee $412,500, less tax withholding, corporate advances, and other
applicable deductions, which is the equivalent of nine (9) months of the Employee’s base pay, in equal installments on the
Company’s regular payroll schedule over the nine-month period beginning with the first regularly scheduled payroll date following
April 1, 2025.

b. COBRA Subsidy. If Employee is eligible for and elects COBRA continuation coverage, beginning April 1, 2025, the
Company shall pay the same portion of premiums that it pays for active employees for the same level of health coverage as in effect
for Employee on the Separation Date until December 31, 2025, unless Employee is eligible for group medical care coverage through
other employment. Employee agrees to notify the Company promptly if Employee becomes eligible for group medical care coverage
through another employer. Employee also agrees to respond promptly and fully to any reasonable requests for information by the
Company concerning Employee’s eligibility for such coverage. Employee may continue coverage after December 31, 2025, at
Employee’s own expense for the remainder of the COBRA continuation period, subject to continued eligibility. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, if the Company determines at any time that its payments pursuant to this paragraph may be taxable income to the
Employee, it may convert such payments to payroll payments directly to Employee.

c. Commissions. The Company agrees to pay Employee a lump sum equal to Employee’s earned and unpaid
commissions under the Company’s Sales Compensation Plan through the Separation Date, less any amounts already paid to
Employee and payable on the later of (i) the date the first installment of the payment under Section 1(a) herein is payable and (ii) the
date that commissions for the applicable period are payable to other employees of the Company, except for the portion of
commissions calculated according to the Company’s 2024 bonus structure, as approved by the Company’s compensation committee,
which will be payable on the date the Company pays 2024 annual cash bonuses to other executives of the Company.

d. General. Employee acknowledges that without this Agreement, Employee is otherwise not entitled to the
consideration listed in this Section 1.    

2. Stock. The Parties agree that for purposes of determining the number of shares of the Company’s common stock to which
Employee is entitled, Employee will be considered to have vested only in the number of RSUs and PSUs listed in Employee’s equity
trading account with the Company’s equity management platform vendor, and in accordance with the vesting schedule set forth in
the respective Equity Award Agreement. Employee acknowledges that as of the Separation Date, Employee will have vested only in
that number and no more. The settlement of Employee’s vested RSUs and PSUs will continue to be governed by the terms and
conditions of the Equity Incentive Plan and the Equity Award Agreement, as applicable.
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3. Benefits. Employee’s health insurance benefits will cease on the last day of the month in which the Separation Date occurs,
subject to Employee’s right to continue Employee’s health insurance under COBRA or comparable state law, if applicable.
Employee’s participation in all other benefits and incidents of employment, including, but not limited to, the accrual of bonuses,
vacation, and paid time off, but excluding the settlement of RSUs and PSUs, will cease as of the Separation Date.

4. Payment of Salary and Receipt of All Benefits. Employee acknowledges and represents that, other than the consideration set
forth in this Agreement, the Company and its agents has paid or provided all salary, wages, bonuses, accrued vacation/paid time off,
notice periods, premiums, leaves, housing allowances, relocation costs, interest, severance, outplacement costs, fees, reimbursable
expenses, commissions, stock, RSUs, PSUs, vesting, and any and all other benefits and compensation due to Employee.

5. Release of Claims. Employee agrees that the foregoing consideration represents settlement in full of all outstanding
obligations owed to Employee by the Company and any of its current, future and former parents, subsidiaries, divisions, affiliates
and related entities and its and their predecessors, successors and assigns, and any and all of its and their current, future and former
officers, directors, employees, agents, investors, attorneys, shareholders, members, administrators, benefit plans, plan administrators,
professional employer organization or co-employer, insurers and trustees (individually and collectively, the “Releasees”). Employee,
on Employee’s own behalf and on behalf of Employee’s respective heirs, family members, executors, agents, and assigns
(collectively, the “Employee Releasors”), hereby and forever releases the Releasees from, and agrees not to sue concerning, or in any
manner to institute, prosecute, or pursue, any claim, complaint, charge, duty, obligation, demand, or cause of action relating to any
matters of any kind, whether presently known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, that any Employee Releasor may possess or
have possessed against any of the Releasees arising from any omissions, acts, facts, or damages that have occurred up until and
including the Effective Date of this Agreement, including, without limitation:

a. any and all claims relating to or arising from Employee’s employment relationship with the Company or any other
Releasee and the termination of that relationship;

b. any and all claims relating to, or arising from, Employee’s right to purchase, or actual purchase of shares of stock of the
Company or any other Releasee, including, without limitation, any claims for fraud, misrepresentation, breach of
fiduciary duty, breach of duty under applicable state corporate law, and securities fraud under any state or federal law;

c. any and all claims for wrongful discharge of employment; termination in violation of public policy; discrimination;
harassment; retaliation; breach of contract, both express and implied; breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing,
both express and implied; promissory estoppel; negligent or intentional infliction of emotional distress; fraud; negligent
or intentional misrepresentation; negligent or intentional interference with contract or prospective economic advantage;
unfair business practices; defamation; libel; slander; negligence; personal injury; assault; battery; invasion of privacy;
false imprisonment; conversion; and disability benefits;
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d. any and all claims for violation of any federal, state, county or municipal statute, including, but not limited to, Title VII
of the Civil Rights Act of 1964; the Civil Rights Act of 1991; the Rehabilitation Act of 1973; the Americans with
Disabilities Act of 1990; the Equal Pay Act; the Fair Labor Standards Act; the Fair Credit Reporting Act; the Age
Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967; the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act; the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974; the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act; the Family and Medical Leave
Act; the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act; the Washington Industrial Welfare Act; the
Washington Law Against Discrimination; the Washington Family Leave Act; the Washington Leave Law; the
Washington Minimum Wage Requirements and Labor Standards Act; Title 49 of the Revised Code of Washington; the
Washington Equal Pay Opportunity Act; and the Washington Fair Chance Act; all including any amendments and their
respective implementing regulations; and any other federal, state, local, or foreign law (statutory, regulatory, or
otherwise) that may be legally waived and released; however, the identification of specific statutes is for purposes of
example only, and the omission of any specific statute or law will not limit the scope of this general release in any
manner;

e. any and all claims for violation of the federal or any state constitution;

f. any and all claims arising out of any other federal, state or local laws or regulations relating to employment or
employment discrimination;

g. any claim for any loss, cost, damage, or expense arising out of any dispute over the nonwithholding or other tax
treatment of any of the proceeds received by Employee as a result of this Agreement; and

h. any and all claims for attorneys’ fees and costs.

Employee agrees that the release set forth in this section will be and remain in effect in all respects as a complete general release as
to the matters released. This release does not extend to any obligations incurred under this Agreement. This release does not release
claims that cannot be released as a matter of law, including any protected activity, outlined in the section titled “Protected Activity,”
below. This release does not extend to any right Employee may have to unemployment compensation benefits or workers’
compensation benefits. Employee represents that Employee has made no assignment or transfer of any right, claim, complaint,
charge, duty, obligation, demand, cause of action, or other matter waived or released by this Section.

6. Acknowledgment of Waiver of Claims under ADEA. Employee acknowledges that Employee is waiving and releasing any
rights Employee may have under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 (“ADEA”) against the Releasees, and that this
waiver and release is knowing and voluntary. Employee agrees that this waiver and release does not apply to any rights or claims
that may arise under the ADEA after the Effective Date of this Agreement. Employee acknowledges that the consideration given for
this waiver and release is in addition to anything of value to which Employee was already entitled. Employee further acknowledges
that Employee has been advised by this writing that: (a) Employee should consult with an attorney prior to executing this
Agreement; (b) Employee has twenty-
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one (21) calendar days within which to consider this Agreement (the twenty-second (22nd) calendar date, the “Due Date”); (c)
Employee has seven (7) days following Employee’s execution of this Agreement to revoke this Agreement; (d) this Agreement will
not be effective until after the revocation period has expired; and (e) nothing in this Agreement prevents or precludes Employee from
challenging or seeking a determination in good faith of the validity of this waiver under the ADEA, nor does it impose any condition
precedent, penalties, or costs for doing so, unless specifically authorized by federal law. In the event Employee signs this Agreement
and returns it to the Company before the Due Date, Employee hereby acknowledges that Employee has freely and voluntarily chosen
to waive the time period allotted for considering this Agreement. Employee acknowledges and understands that revocation must be
accomplished by a written notification to the undersigned Company representative that is received prior to the Effective Date. The
Parties agree that changes, whether material or immaterial, do not restart the running of the 21-day period for reviewing the
Agreement or extend the Due Date.

7. No Pending or Future Lawsuits. Employee represents that Employee has no lawsuits, claims, or actions pending in
Employee’s name, or on behalf of any other person or entity, against the Company or any of the other Releasees. Employee also
represents that Employee does not intend to bring any claims on Employee’s own behalf or on behalf of any other person or entity
against the Company or any of the other Releasees.

8. No Right to Employment. Employee understands and agrees that, as a condition of this Agreement, Employee will not be
entitled to any employment with the Company, and Employee hereby waives any right, or alleged right, of employment or re-
employment with the Company.

9. Confidentiality. Employee agrees to maintain in complete confidence the negotiation and existence of this Agreement, the
contents and terms of this Agreement, and the consideration for this Agreement (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Separation
Information”). Except as required by law, Employee may disclose Separation Information only to Employee’s immediate family
members, the Court in any proceedings to enforce the terms of this Agreement, Employee’s counsel, and Employee’s accountant and
any professional tax advisor to the extent that they need to know the Separation Information in order to provide advice on tax
treatment or to prepare tax returns, and must prevent disclosure of any Separation Information to all other third parties. Employee
agrees that Employee will not publicize, directly or indirectly, any Separation Information. This section entitled “Confidentiality”
will not be construed to limit Employee’s rights under the National Labor Relations Act.

Nothing in this Agreement, including, specifically, the sections herein entitled “Confidentiality,” “No Third Party Cooperation,” and
“Communications,” is intended to or will prevent Employee from disclosing information that Employee has a right to disclose under
applicable law, including but not limited to, Employee discussing or disclosing information relating to conduct that Employee
reasonably believes to be illegal discrimination, illegal harassment, illegal retaliation, a wage and hour violation, sexual assault, that
is recognized as illegal under Washington state, federal, or common law, or that is recognized as against a clear mandate of public
policy, and that occurs at the workplace, at work-related events coordinated by or through the employer, between employees, or
between an employer and an employee, whether on or off the employment premises.
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10. Trade Secrets and Confidential Information/Company Property. Employee reaffirms and agrees to observe and abide by the
terms of the Confidentiality Agreement, specifically including the provisions therein regarding nondisclosure of the Company’s trade
secrets and confidential and proprietary information, noncompetition, and nonsolicitation of Company employees. Employee agrees
that the above reaffirmation and agreement with the Confidentiality Agreement will constitute a new and separately enforceable
agreement to abide by the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement, entered and effective as of the Effective Date. Employee
specifically acknowledges and agrees that any violation of the restrictive covenants in the Confidentiality Agreement will constitute
a material breach of this Agreement. Employee’s signature below constitutes Employee’s certification under penalty of perjury that
Employee has returned all documents and other items provided to Employee by the Company, developed or obtained by Employee
in connection with Employee’s employment with the Company, or otherwise belonging to the Company, including, but not limited
to, all passwords to any software or other programs or data that Employee used in performing services for the Company. Nothing in
this Agreement shall be construed to prevent disclosure of confidential information as may be required by applicable law or
regulation, including information related to Employee’s exercise of protected rights under Section 7 of the National Labor Relations
Act (“NLRA”).

11. No Third Party Cooperation. Employee agrees that Employee will not knowingly encourage, counsel, or assist any attorneys
or their clients in the presentation or prosecution of any disputes, differences, grievances, claims, charges, or complaints by any third
party against any of the Releasees, unless under a subpoena or other court order to do so or as related directly to the ADEA waiver in
this Agreement. Employee agrees both to immediately notify the Company upon receipt of any such subpoena or court order, and to
furnish, within three (3) business days of its receipt, a copy of such subpoena or other court order. If approached by anyone for
counsel or assistance in the presentation or prosecution of any disputes, differences, grievances, claims, charges, or complaints
against any of the Releasees, Employee shall state no more than that Employee cannot provide counsel or assistance.

12. Cooperation with the Company. Employee agrees that Employee will assist and cooperate with the Company in connection
with the defense or prosecution of any claim that may be made against or by the Company or any Releasees, or in connection with
any ongoing or future investigation or dispute or claim of any kind involving the Company, including meeting with the Company’s
counsel, any proceeding before any arbitral, administrative, judicial, legislative, or other body or agency, including testifying in any
proceeding to the extent such claims, investigations or proceedings relating to services performed or required to be performed by
Employee, pertinent knowledge possessed by Employee, or any act or omission by Employee. Employee further agrees to perform
all acts and execute and deliver any documents that may be reasonably necessary to carry out the provisions of this paragraph. The
Company shall reimburse Employee for any reasonable expenses incurred in connection with such cooperation including counsel
retained by Employee if necessary.

13. Advisor Agreement. As additional consideration for Employee’s promises herein and to facilitate an efficient and effective
transition and knowledge transfer, the Company agrees to offer Employee a written Advisor Agreement under which Employee will
provide advice to the Company on go-to-market initiatives as an independent contractor. The Advisor Agreement will take effect
January 1, 2025, and continue through March 31, 2025, unless terminated earlier by the Parties pursuant to its terms.
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14. Communications. Employee agrees to refrain from any defamatory or maliciously disparaging conduct toward any of the
Releasees, and agrees to refrain from any tortious interference with the contracts and relationships of any of the Releasees,
including, but not limited to, anonymous or named reviews, tweets, posts, or other comments published on the Internet. Employee
affirms that Employee has not disparaged the Company from the date Employee received this Agreement through the date Employee
signs this Agreement. Employee furthers agrees that, by no later than the Effective Date, Employee shall delete or otherwise remove
any and all disparaging public comments or statements that Employee made prior to the Effective Date about or relating to the
Company, including, but not limited to, comments in online forums or on websites (including, but not limited to, Facebook,
Glassdoor, Yelp, and LinkedIn). Employee shall direct any inquiries by potential future employers to the Company’s human
resources department, which will use its best efforts to provide only the Employee’s last position and dates of employment.
Employee agrees to revise and update publicly available information, including professional and social networking websites such as
LinkedIn and Facebook, within one (1) week of the Separation Date to remove any indication that Employee is employed by the
Company. Employee’s violation of this provision will be a material breach of this Agreement.

This provision does not prevent Employee from disclosing or discussing conduct, or the existence of a settlement involving conduct,
that the employee reasonably believed to be illegal harassment, illegal discrimination, illegal retaliation, wage and hour violations, or
sexual assault, that is recognized as illegal under Washington state, federal, or common law, or that is recognized as against a clear
mandate of public policy, which occurred in the workplace, at work-related events coordinated by or through Employer, between
employees, or between Employer and an employee, whether on or off the employment premises.

15. Breach. In addition to the rights provided in the “Attorneys’ Fees” section below, Employee acknowledges and agrees that
any material breach of this Agreement, unless such breach constitutes a legal action by Employee challenging or seeking a
determination in good faith of the validity of the waiver herein under the ADEA, or of any provision of the Confidentiality
Agreement will entitle the Company immediately to recover and/or cease providing the consideration provided to Employee under
this Agreement and to obtain damages, except as provided by law, provided, however, that the Company will not recover One
Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of the consideration already paid pursuant to this Agreement and such amount will serve as full and
complete consideration for the promises and obligations assumed by Employee under this Agreement and the Confidentiality
Agreement.

16. No Admission of Liability. Employee understands and acknowledges that this Agreement constitutes a compromise and
settlement of any and all actual or potential disputed claims by Employee. No action taken by the Company hereto, either previously
or in connection with this Agreement, will be deemed or construed to be (a) an admission of the truth or falsity of any actual or
potential claims or (b) an acknowledgment or admission by the Company of any fault or liability whatsoever to Employee or to any
third party.

17. Costs. The Parties shall each bear their own costs, attorneys’ fees, and other fees incurred in connection with the preparation
of this Agreement.
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18. ARBITRATION. THE PARTIES AGREE THAT ANY AND ALL DISPUTES ARISING OUT OF THE TERMS OF THIS
AGREEMENT, THEIR INTERPRETATION, AND ANY OF THE MATTERS HEREIN RELEASED, WILL BE SUBJECT TO
ARBITRATION IN NEW YORK COUNTY, BEFORE THE JUDICIAL ARBITRATION AND MEDIATION SERVICE (“JAMS”)
UNDER ITS EMPLOYMENT ARBITRATION RULES (“JAMS RULES”) AND THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON. THE ARBITRATOR MAY GRANT INJUNCTIONS AND OTHER RELIEF IN SUCH DISPUTES. THE
ARBITRATOR WILL ADMINISTER AND CONDUCT ANY ARBITRATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE
STATE OR COMMONWEALTH IN WHICH EMPLOYEE PRIMARILY PERFORMED SERVICES FOR THE COMPANY AND
THE ARBITRATOR WILL APPLY THE SUBSTANTIVE AND PROCEDURAL LAWS OF THE STATE OR COMMONWEALTH
IN WHICH EMPLOYEE PRIMARILY PERFORMED SERVICES FOR THE COMPANY TO ANY DISPUTE OR CLAIM,
WITHOUT REFERENCE TO ANY CONFLICT-OF-LAW PROVISIONS OF ANY JURISDICTION. TO THE EXTENT THAT
THE JAMS RULES CONFLICT WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OR COMMONWEALTH IN WHICH EMPLOYEE
PRIMARILY PERFORMED SERVICES FOR THE COMPANY, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OR COMMONWEALTH IN
WHICH EMPLOYEE PRIMARILY PERFORMED SERVICES FOR THE COMPANY WILL TAKE PRECEDENCE. THE
DECISION OF THE ARBITRATOR WILL BE FINAL, CONCLUSIVE, AND BINDING ON THE PARTIES TO THE
ARBITRATION. THE PARTIES AGREE THAT THE PREVAILING PARTY IN ANY ARBITRATION WILL BE ENTITLED TO
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF IN ANY COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION TO ENFORCE THE ARBITRATION AWARD. THE
PARTIES TO THE ARBITRATION SHALL EACH PAY HALF THE COSTS AND EXPENSES OF SUCH ARBITRATION
(UNLESS REQUIRED OTHERWISE BY APPLICABLE LAW), AND EACH PARTY SHALL SEPARATELY PAY FOR ITS
RESPECTIVE COUNSEL FEES AND EXPENSES; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT THE ARBITRATOR MAY AWARD
ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND COSTS TO THE PREVAILING PARTY, EXCEPT AS PROHIBITED BY LAW. THE PARTIES
AGREE THAT PUNITIVE DAMAGES WILL BE UNAVAILABLE IN ARBITRATION. THE PARTIES HEREBY AGREE TO
WAIVE THEIR RIGHT TO HAVE ANY DISPUTE BETWEEN THEM RESOLVED IN A COURT OF LAW BY A JUDGE OR
JURY. NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING, THIS SECTION WILL NOT PREVENT EITHER PARTY FROM SEEKING
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF (OR ANY OTHER PROVISIONAL REMEDY) FROM ANY COURT HAVING JURISDICTION OVER
THE PARTIES AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THEIR DISPUTE RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE
AGREEMENTS INCORPORATED HEREIN BY REFERENCE. THE EMPLOYEE UNDERSTANDS THAT THE EMPLOYEE
MAY ONLY BRING CLAIMS IN THE EMPLOYEE’S INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY, AND NOT AS A PLAINTIFF OR CLASS
MEMBER IN ANY PURPORTED CLASS PROCEEDING OR ANY PURPORTED REPRESENTATIVE PROCEEDING. THE
EMPLOYEE AGREES THAT THE EMPLOYEE WILL NOT ASSERT A CLASS OR COLLECTIVE ACTION AGAINST THE
COMPANY OR ANY OTHER RELEASEE IN ARBITRATION, IN COURT OR OTHERWISE, NOR WILL THE EMPLOYEE
JOIN AS A MEMBER OF A CLASS OR COLLECTIVE ACTION. THE ARBITRATOR IS NOT EMPOWERED TO
CONSOLIDATE CLAIMS OF DIFFERENT INDIVIDUALS INTO ONE PROCEEDING, TO HEAR ARBITRATION AS A
CLASS ARBITRATION OR TO ADJUDICATE THE ENFORCEABILITY OF THIS CLASS ACTION WAIVER PROVISION. A
COURT, NOT AN ARBITRATOR, WILL DETERMINE WHETHER ANY CLAIMS MUST PROCEED ON A CLASS,
COLLECTIVE OR REPRESENTATIVE BASIS. SHOULD ANY PART OF THE ARBITRATION
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AGREEMENT CONTAINED IN THIS PARAGRAPH CONFLICT WITH ANY OTHER ARBITRATION AGREEMENT
BETWEEN THE PARTIES, THE PARTIES AGREE THAT THIS ARBITRATION AGREEMENT WILL GOVERN.

19. Authority. The Company represents and warrants that the undersigned has the authority to act on behalf of the Company and
to bind the Company and all who may claim through it to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Employee represents and
warrants that Employee has the capacity to act on Employee’s own behalf and on behalf of all who might claim through Employee to
bind them to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Each Party warrants and represents that there are no liens or claims of lien
or assignments in law or equity or otherwise of or against any of the claims or causes of action released herein.

20. Protected Activity.

a. Claims Not Released. Employee is not waiving any rights Employee may have to: (a) Employee’s vested benefits under
any qualified pension plan of the Company as of the Separation Date; (b) benefits and/or the right to seek benefits under
applicable workers’ compensation statutes and/or unemployment compensation statutes; (c) pursue claims which by law
cannot be waived by signing this Agreement; (d) mandatory indemnification and expense reimbursement under the
Company’s corporate governance documents as well as coverage under the Company’s existing directors’ and officers’
liability insurance policy with respect to claims relating to matters that occur through the Separation Date; and (e)
enforce this Agreement and/or challenge the validity of this Agreement.

b. Governmental Agencies. Nothing in this Agreement prohibits or prevents Employee from filing a charge with or
participating, testifying, or assisting in any investigation, hearing, or other proceeding before the U.S. Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission, the National Labor Relations Board or a similar agency enforcing federal, state
or local employment-related laws. However, to the maximum extent permitted by law, Employee agrees that if such an
administrative claim is made to such an agency, Employee will not be entitled to recover any individual monetary relief
or other individual remedies. In addition, nothing in this Agreement prohibits Employee from: (1) reporting possible
violations of federal law or regulations, including any possible securities laws violations, to any governmental agency or
entity, including but not limited to the U.S. Department of Justice, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, the
U.S. Congress, or any agency Inspector General; (2) making any other disclosures that are protected under the
whistleblower provisions of federal law or regulations; (3) exercising Employee’s rights under Section 7 of the NLRA;
or (4) otherwise fully participating in any federal whistleblower programs, including but not limited to any such
programs managed by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and/or the Occupational Safety and Health
Administration. Moreover, nothing in this Agreement prohibits or prevents Employee from receiving individual
monetary awards or other individual relief by virtue of participating in such federal whistleblower programs.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Employee agrees to take all reasonable precautions to prevent any unauthorized use or
disclosure of any information that may constitute Company
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confidential information under the Confidentiality Agreement to any parties other than the relevant government
agencies.

c. Collective/Class Action Waiver. If any claim is not subject to release, to the extent permitted by law, Employee waives
any right or ability to be a class or collective action representative or to otherwise participate in any putative or certified
class, collective or multi-party action or proceeding based on such a claim in which the Company or any other Releasee
identified in this Agreement is a party.

d. Defend Trade Secrets Act. Pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, Employee is notified that an individual
will not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or state trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret
that (i) is made in confidence to a federal, state, or local government official (directly or indirectly) or to an attorney
solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law, or (ii) is made in a complaint or other
document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if (and only if) such filing is made under seal. In addition, an individual
who files a lawsuit for retaliation by an employer for reporting a suspected violation of law may disclose the trade secret
to the individual’s attorney and use the trade secret information in the court proceeding, if the individual files any
document containing the trade secret under seal and does not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order.

21. No Representations. Employee represents that Employee has had an opportunity to consult with an attorney, and has
carefully read and understands the scope and effect of the provisions of this Agreement. Employee has not relied upon any
representations or statements made by the Company that are not specifically set forth in this Agreement. Employee acknowledges
that there has been an opportunity to negotiate the terms of this Agreement and that the Agreement will not be interpreted as an
employer promulgated agreement.

22. Waiver. No Party will be deemed to have waived any right, power or privilege under this Agreement or any provisions hereof
unless such waiver has been duly executed in writing and delivered to the Party to be charged with such waiver. The failure of any
Party at any time to insist on performance of any of the provisions of this Agreement will in no way be construed to be a waiver of
such provisions, nor in any way to affect the validity of this Agreement or any part hereof. No waiver of any breach of this
Agreement will be held to be a waiver of any other subsequent breach.

23. Severability. In the event that any provision or any portion of any provision hereof or any surviving agreement made a part
hereof becomes or is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction or arbitrator to be illegal, unenforceable, or void, this Agreement
will continue in full force and effect without said provision or portion of provision, and such provision or portion of provision will
be modified and enforced to the greatest extent permitted by law.

24. Attorneys’ Fees. Except with regard to a legal action challenging or seeking a determination in good faith of the validity of
the waiver herein under the ADEA, in the event that either Party brings an action to enforce or effect its rights under this Agreement,
the prevailing Party will be entitled to recover
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its costs and expenses, including the costs of mediation, arbitration, litigation, court fees, and reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred in
connection with such an action.

25. Entire Agreement. Except as expressly set forth herein, this Agreement represents the entire agreement and understanding
between the Company and Employee concerning the subject matter of this Agreement, and supersedes and replaces any and all
prior agreements and understandings between Employee, on the one hand, and Company, on the other hand, concerning the subject
matter of this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, the Confidentiality Agreement, and, if applicable, any Equity Incentive Plan
and Equity Award Agreement, survive and remain in effect. To the extent any term of this Agreement contradicts or supersedes the
Employment Agreement, this Agreement shall govern.

26. No Oral Modification.This Agreement may only be amended in a writing signed by Employee and the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer.

27. Governing Law.The Agreement is governed by the laws of the State of Washington, without regard to conflicts of law
principles.

28. Effective Date. Employee understands that this Agreement will be null and void if not executed by Employee, and returned to
the Company, by the Due Date. Each Party has seven (7) days after that Party signs this Agreement to revoke it. This Agreement
will become effective on the eighth (8th) day after Employee signed this Agreement, so long as it has been signed by the Parties and
has not been revoked by either Party before that date (the “Effective Date”).

29. Counterparts.This Agreement may be executed in counterparts that may be executed, exchanged, and delivered by facsimile,
photo, email, PDF, Docusign, Adobe Acrobat Sign or a similarly accredited secure signature service, or other electronic
transmission or signature.Each counterpart will be deemed an original and all of which counterparts taken together will have the
same force and effect as an original and will constitute an effective, binding agreement on the part of each of the undersigned.

30. Voluntary Execution of Agreement.Employee understands and agrees that Employee executed this Agreement voluntarily,
without any duress or undue influence on the part or behalf of the Company or any third party, with the full intent of releasing all of
Employee’s claims against the Company and any of the other Releasees.Employee acknowledges that:

a. Employee has read this Agreement;

b. Employee has been represented in the preparation, negotiation, and execution of this Agreement by legal counsel of
Employee’s own choice or has elected not to retain legal counsel;

c. Employee understands the terms and consequences of this Agreement and of the releases it contains; and

d. Employee is fully aware of the legal and binding effect of this Agreement.
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[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the respective dates set forth below.

        DIEGO PANAMA, an individual

Dated: 1/20/2025    /s/ Diego Panama
        Diego Panama

        OLO INC.

Dated: 1/21/2025    /s/ Robert Morvillo

        By:    Robert Morvillo
            Chief Legal Officer
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ADVISOR AGREEMENT

This Advisor Agreement (“Advisor Agreement”) is made as of December 31, 2024 (the “Effective Date”), by and between
Olo Inc. (hereafter “Olo” or the “Company”) and Diego Panama (hereafter “Advisor”). The Company and Advisor are sometimes
referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.”

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, Advisor has extensive experience and skill that Advisor exercises independently on an independent contractor
basis; and

WHEREAS, the Company desires to engage Advisor on a non-exclusive basis to perform certain services and to create
certain work product for the Company, pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties agree that in exchange for the compensation described herein, the Company and Advisor
agree to the following independent contractor terms:

1. TERM OF AGREEMENT.

1.1. Advisor’s Services under this Agreement will start January 1, 2025. Absent an effective written extension executed by
both Parties and wherein reference is made to this Advisor Agreement, or an earlier termination pursuant to this section, this Advisor
Agreement will automatically terminate on March 31, 2025 (the “Initial Term”, including any extension period, the “Term”).

1.2. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party may terminate this Agreement, immediately before the end of the Term, if
the other party materially breaches the Agreement. In addition, this Agreement will terminate immediately upon the death or
incapacity of Advisor. In the event of any such termination, the Company shall pay Advisor only those fees to reflect those Services
(as defined below) actually performed by Advisor at the time of termination.

1.3. In the event that either Party will cease conducting business in the normal course, become insolvent, make a general
assignment for the benefit of creditors, suffer or permit the appointment of a receiver for its business or assets or will avail itself of,
or become subject to, any proceeding under any federal or state statute or any other statute of any state relating to bankruptcy,
insolvency or the protection of rights of creditors, then (at the option of the other Party), this Agreement will terminate and be of no
further force and effect.

1.4. Any of Advisor’s or the Company’s obligations under this Agreement that, by their nature, survive the termination of
this Agreement, including, but not limited to, those obligations related to indemnification, confidentiality, and innovations and
intellectual property, will continue, regardless of the reason for such termination.

2.  ADVISOR DUTIES. Attached hereto as Schedule A is a description of the services to be provided by Advisor pursuant to
the terms of this Advisor Agreement.



3. COMPENSATION

3.1. Attached hereto as Schedule B is a description of the compensation terms for all services to be performed by Advisor
pursuant to this Advisor Agreement.

3.2. Advisor and the Company acknowledge that disputes about entitlement to payment under this Advisor Agreement
may occur. Both Advisor and the Company agree that the Company will have the sole discretion to determine whether payment
under this Advisor Agreement is due.

3.3. Advisor shall be responsible for all expenses related to the performance of services under this Advisor Agreement,
including all travel-related expenses (e.g., air travel, mileage, meals, lodging) and business supplies/equipment (e.g., computer(s),
cell phone(s), Internet service, business cards).

3.4. Advisor shall also be responsible for all federal, state, and local income tax payments, including self-employment
taxes, related to compensation paid pursuant to Schedule B for services provided by Advisor and any workers hired and utilized by
Advisor. Advisor acknowledges that because they are being retained as an independent contractor, the Company may not make any
withholdings for amounts paid or accrued pursuant to Schedule B, except as the Company deems necessary to comply with
applicable law.

3.5. Advisor acknowledges their responsibility to maintain at their own cost all required insurance related to the
performance of services under this Advisor Agreement, including any necessary workers’ compensation or unemployment insurance.

3.6. Advisor shall indemnify and hold the Company harmless for any claims, losses, costs, fees, liabilities, damages, or
injuries suffered by the Company arising out of Advisor’s breach of this section, including any attorneys’ fees incurred by the
Company pertaining to any such claims. Specifically, in the event any state or federal taxing agency challenges the characterization
of any sums to be received under this Advisor Agreement, Advisor agrees to repay the Company for any taxes, penalties, surcharges,
withholdings and/or interest resulting from any such agency action.

4. CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR STATUS

4.1. Advisor and the Company acknowledge and agree that Advisor is being retained as an independent contractor.
Advisor expressly acknowledges that during the Term, Advisor will not be an employee of the Company with respect to Services.
Advisor shall act in accordance with this status and shall not hold themselves out as an employee of the Company with respect to
their advisor services. Advisor will not be entitled to any benefits afforded to the Company’s employees by virtue of this contractor
relationship, including health insurance, workers’ compensation, disability insurance, pension benefits, vacation, or sick pay. To the
extent Advisor is provided with any or all such benefits pursuant to a collateral employment relationship, any such benefits will
cease upon the cessation of that employment relationship.
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4.2. Advisor will determine the method, details, and means of performing the services described in Schedule A. With the
exception of compliance with legal requirements, customer specifications, and generally ethical business practices, the Company
understands and agrees that it retains no right to control the Advisor, Advisor’s agents, employees, or assistants in the performance of
the services described in Schedule A.

4.3. The Company acknowledges and understands that during the term of this Advisor Agreement, Advisor may contract
with other entities to perform similar Advisor services, so long as such activity is consistent with their confidentiality, non-
competition, and non-solicitation obligations outlined below. Specifically, and without limiting the scope of any other provision of
this Advisor Agreement, the Parties acknowledge that during the Term, Advisor is prohibited from offering advisor services related
to any company that competes with the Company.

4.4. The Company also acknowledges that Advisor has the right to hire or retain others to perform the Services. In the
event Advisor retains others to perform such Services, Advisor shall promptly disclose that fact to the Company. Advisor agrees to
indemnify and hold harmless the Company against any loss or damages, including attorney fees, resulting from Advisor’s decision to
employ or retain others to provide Services.

4.5. Advisor is and shall always remain exclusively responsible for:

(a) the payment of all salaries, taxes, contributions, pay in lieu of notice and/or severance pay, and any other costs arising as
a consequence of the employment or the termination of employment of any of the Advisor’s employees, and

(b) any other obligations and payments to any of the Advisor’s employees, or to the federal or provincial government or any
agency or subdivision thereof, in accordance with any applicable federal or provincial laws or regulations, whether as a
result of activities performed pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise including, but not limited to, the following: income
taxes, unemployment or employment insurance, workers’ safety and insurance, workers’ compensation, and employer health
tax.

4.6. It is expressly understood and agreed that, in performing the Services, Advisor and any of the Advisor’s employees or
third parties will be acting and shall act at all times as independent contractors only and that this Agreement will not constitute
Advisor or any of the Advisor’s employees, as a principal, employee, agent, assignee, subcontractor, partner or joint venturer of or
with the Company and that no such relationship will arise or subsist between Advisor or any of the Advisor’s employees and the
Company during the Term, including any extension or renewal thereof.

5. ADVISOR’S REPRESENTATIONS AND INDEMNITIES

5.1. Advisor represents that they are fully authorized to enter into and to perform under this Advisor Agreement without
conflicting with any of Advisor’s other commitments, agreements, or understandings.

3



5.2. Advisor shall and does hereby indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Company, and the Company’s officers,
directors, employees and shareholders from and against any and all claims for damages for personal injury or property damages, or
any other claims, demands, damages, costs or expenses, including attorney fees and costs, that the Company may incur or suffer as a
result of Advisor’s performance of services under this Agreement.

5.3. Advisor further agrees to indemnify the Company against, and hold the Company harmless from, any claim,
proceeding, action, cause of action, suit or demand brought for the recovery of damages, losses, taxes or payments of any kind
whatsoever or any order, penalty, interest, or tax that may be assessed or levied against it and any costs and legal fees related thereto
(hereinafter the “Claim”) arising from either a finding of deemed employment of Advisor or any of their employees by the Company,
or the employment, termination or use of any person by Advisor for the purpose of performing or discharging Advisor’s obligations
pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, any Claims arising under any federal or state laws or regulations and any
Claims which arise as a result of Advisor’s failure or delay to make any payments or to file any return or information required by any
laws or regulations.

5.4. Advisor further acknowledges that the Company will not carry general liability insurance to cover losses relating to
any alleged negligent acts committed by Advisor or Advisor’s employees or agents during the performance of the services described
in Schedule A. Advisor agrees that they are responsible for obtaining at their own expense all required insurance policies with
respect to the services described in Schedule A.

6. CONFIDENTIALITY PROVISIONS

6.1. Advisor acknowledges the Company is engaged in a highly competitive business and that the Company has expended
considerable time, money, and effort in the development of proprietary Confidential Information that is vital to its continued success
and profitability. Advisor has and will continue to be enabled to acquire confidential business information about the Company and its
actual and prospective customers. Advisor further agrees that the Company has taken reasonable measures to protect the same, and
that the confidentiality provisions of this Advisor Agreement are a reasonable means through which the Company can protect such
interests with regard to Advisor.

6.2. As used in this Advisor Agreement, the term “Confidential Information” means: (a) proprietary or trade secret
information of the Company; (b) information marked or designated by the Company as confidential; (c) information, whether or not
in written form and whether or not designated as confidential, that is known to Advisor as being treated by the Company as
confidential; (d) information, whether or not in written form and whether or not designated as confidential, that Advisor should
reasonably recognize as being treated by the Company as confidential; and (e) information provided to the Company by third parties
that the Company is obligated to keep confidential. Advisor understands that Confidential Information includes, but is not limited to:
(a) information regarding the Company’s sales and marketing strategies; (b) the identity, history, needs, contracts, profitability and
preferences of the Company’s customers and prospective customers; (c) customer lists; and (d)  other financial and technical
information relating to the Company’s business. The Company acknowledges the notion of Confidential
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Information does not include any of the foregoing items which have become publicly known and generally available through no
wrongful act of Advisor or others who were under confidentiality obligations as to the item or items involved. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Parties acknowledge Confidential Information may include unique aggregations of otherwise publicly known or
generally available information developed by the Company.

6.3. Advisor agrees not to disclose Confidential Information, directly or indirectly, to any third person without the express
written consent of the Company at any time following the Effective Date of this Advisor Agreement, except where such disclosure is
necessary for the performance of Advisor’s activities on behalf of the Company. Advisor further represents that prior to the Effective
Date of this Advisor Agreement, Advisor has not disclosed Confidential Information to any third person except in circumstances
where such disclosure was necessary for the performance of Advisor’s activities on behalf of the Company.

6.4. Advisor agrees that they will not copy, transmit, reproduce, summarize, quote, or make any commercial or other use
whatsoever of Confidential Information following the cessation of this Advisor Agreement, except in circumstances where such
disclosure is necessary for the performance of Advisor’s activities on behalf of the Company.

6.5. On termination of this Advisor Agreement, Advisor will: (1) promptly return to the Company (or destroy if
specifically requested and authorized by the Company in writing) all documents and materials in any form, including electronic, in
Advisor’s possession, custody or control which contain or reference Confidential Information; and, thereafter (2) certify under oath
to the Company, if requested, that Advisor does not possess any documents or materials containing or referencing Confidential
Information and that Advisor has not transmitted the same to any third party.

7. RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS

7.1. Advisor and the Company agree that in order to protect and preserve the goodwill and other value of the Company
following the execution of this Advisor Agreement, it is necessary for Advisor’s activities to be reasonably restricted during and
following the termination of this Advisor Agreement. As such, the Parties agree to the following restrictive covenants:

7.1.1. Non-Competition. During the effective period of this Advisor Agreement and for a period of twelve (12)
months following the termination of this Advisor Agreement for any reason, Advisor shall not, directly or indirectly, as an individual,
owner, manager, contractor, consultant, or employee, provide the same or similar services as those outlined in Schedule A to any
person or business entity that competes, directly or indirectly, with the Company. Without limiting the scope of the foregoing,
Advisor specifically agrees that for a period of twelve (12) months following the termination of this Advisor Agreement, Advisor
will not directly or indirectly provide advisor services in competition with the Company with respect to Advisor’s activities under
this Advisor Agreement. Advisor acknowledges this non-competition provision is executed as part of a valid independent contractor
relationship.
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7.1.2. Customer Non-Solicitation. During the effective period of this Advisor Agreement and for a period of twelve
(12) months following the termination of this Advisor Agreement, Advisor shall not, directly or indirectly, as an individual, owner,
manager, contractor, consultant, or employee, solicit, divert or take away or attempt to solicit, divert or take away any customer of
the Company with whom Advisor had contact, or about whom Advisor gained the Company’s Confidential Information, during the
effective dates of this Advisor Agreement. The Parties agree this customer non-solicitation provision is limited to the goods and
services offered by the Company during the effective dates of this Advisor Agreement.

7.1.3. Employee Non-Solicitation. During the effective period of this Advisor Agreement and for a period of twelve
(12) months following the termination of this Advisor Agreement, Advisor shall not, directly or indirectly, as an individual, owner,
manager, contractor, consultant, or employee, encourage any employee of the Company to leave the employ of the Company, or to
otherwise alter the nature of any employment relationship with the Company. This employee non-solicit provision applies regardless
of whether Advisor initiates contact.

7.2. Advisor has carefully read and considered the non-compete and non-solicitation provisions set forth above and agrees
they are fair, reasonable and reasonably required to protect the Company’s protectable business interests. Advisor agrees that
compliance with the non-compete and non-solicitation provisions will not prevent Advisor from earning a livelihood both during and
after the termination of this Advisor Agreement.

7.3. If any part of the non-compete or non-solicitation clauses are found by a court to be unreasonable or otherwise
unenforceable, any such portion will nevertheless be enforced to the greatest extent such court will deem reasonable, and, in such
event, it is the Parties’ intention that the court reform such portion in order to make it enforceable. In the event of such judicial
reformation, the Parties agree to be bound by the confidentiality, non-compete and non-solicitation provisions as reformed in the
same manner and to the same extent as if they had agreed to such reformed agreement in the first instance.

7.4. In the event that Advisor breaches any provision of the non-compete or non-solicitation provisions set forth above,
the corresponding restrictive period(s) will be tolled and suspended during any period of Advisor’s breach.

8. INJUNCTIVE RELIEF. Advisor agrees that if they violate the confidentiality, non-compete or non-solicitation provisions
set forth above, the Company will suffer irreparable harm, for which money damages would not fully compensate the Company.
Advisor agrees that temporary, preliminary and permanent injunctions are appropriate remedies for a breach or threatened breach of
the confidentiality, non-compete or non-solicitation provisions set forth above and that these remedies will be in addition to, and not
in limitation of, any other rights or remedies to which the Company is or may be entitled. Advisor further agrees that in the event a
court issues a temporary or preliminary injunction, the Company shall not be required to post a bond.
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9. GOVERNING LAW AND INTERPRETATION. This Advisor Agreement will be governed and conformed in accordance
with the laws of the State of New York without regard to its conflict or choice of law provisions. If any provision of this Advisor
Agreement is declared illegal or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, the Parties agree the court will have the
authority to modify, alter or change the provision(s) in question to make the Advisor Agreement legal and enforceable. If any
provision of this Advisor Agreement cannot be modified to be enforceable, such provision will immediately become null and void,
leaving the remainder of this Advisor Agreement in full force and effect.

10. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Advisor Agreement expresses, embodies, and supersedes all previous understandings and
agreements, whether written or oral, between the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and fully and finally sets forth the
entire agreement between the Parties hereto with respect to Advisor providing advisor services to the Company. This Advisor
Agreement may not be modified, altered, or changed except upon express written consent of both Parties, wherein specific reference
is made to this Advisor Agreement.

11. BINDING EFFECT. This Advisor Agreement will be binding upon Advisor, Advisor’s heirs, executors and administrators,
and upon the Company and its successors and assigns, and will inure to the benefit of the Company, and its successors and assigns.
This Advisor Agreement may not be assigned by Advisor. This Advisor Agreement may be enforced by the Company’s successors
and assigns.

12. AVAILABLE REMEDIES. In addition to any other remedies available under this Advisor Agreement, or pursuant to
applicable law, the Parties agree that should either Party be compelled to commence legal action because of a suspected violation of
this Advisor Agreement, the prevailing party to any such action will be entitled to an award of its attorneys’ fees and costs, including
expert costs, through and including any appeal(s).

13. NON-WAIVER. The failure of either the Company or Advisor to exercise in any instance any right under this Advisor
Agreement will not constitute a waiver of the same or any other right, power, or privilege in any other instance. Any waiver must be
in writing and signed by the party against whom a waiver is alleged.

14. CONSTRUCTION. The headings contained in this Advisor Agreement are for convenience only and do not constitute part
of and will not be used to interpret this Advisor Agreement. The language in all parts of this Advisor Agreement will be in all cases
construed according to its fair meaning and not strictly for or against the Company or Advisor because that party or that party’s legal
representative drafted it.

15. COUNTERPARTS. This Advisor Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original
and each of which will together constitute one and the same agreement. This Advisor Agreement will not become enforceable until
executed by the Company.

16. NOTICE. Any notice, demand or request with respect to this Advisor Agreement will be in writing (including by email) and
will be effective when delivered. Any party may change its

7



address for such communications by giving notice to the other party in conformity with this section.

17. OPPORTUNITY TO CONSIDER. Advisor acknowledges that they have read and understand this Agreement and that they
have had the opportunity to obtain independent legal advice with respect to it.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Advisor and the Company have executed this Advisor Agreement:

DIEGO PANAMA                     OLO INC.

        

/s/ Diego Panama                     /s/ Robert Morvillo

By: Robert Morvillo, Chief Legal Officer

Date: 1/20/2025                     Date: 1/21/2025
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Schedule A

The advisor services to be provided by Advisor will include the provision of advice to the Company on go-to-market initiatives (the
“Services”), working with Noah Glass. Prior to the start of each calendar month, Advisor shall provide the Company with hours of
availability to be mutually agreed upon in good faith between both Parties.
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Schedule B

1) Monthly Fee. The Company shall pay Advisor a fee in the amount of $45,833 per month, payable on the last business day of
each calendar month during the Term. The Company has the right to dispute in good faith whether payment is due under the
Advisor Agreement. Payment by the Company will be by wire transfer to the bank account of Advisor on file with the
Company. Payments made to Advisor will be reported using IRS form 1099.

2) COBRA Subsidy. If Advisor is eligible for and elects COBRA continuation coverage based on Advisor’s previous
employment with the Company, the Company shall pay the same portion of premiums that it pays for active employees for
the same level of health coverage as was in effect for Advisor on the date of his previous separation of employment from the
Company, unless Advisor is eligible for group medical care coverage through other employment. Advisor agrees to notify the
Company promptly if Advisor becomes eligible for group medical care coverage through another employer. Advisor also
agrees to respond promptly and fully to any reasonable requests for information by the Company concerning Advisor’s
eligibility for such coverage. If the Company determines at any time that its payments pursuant to this paragraph may be
taxable income to Advisor, it may convert such payments to payments directly to Advisor.

3) Bonus. The Company shall pay Advisor a lump sum equal to the 2025 annual cash bonus Advisor would have earned if
Advisor was an executive in 2025 (excluding the commissions component), which will be prorated to the term of this
Advisor Agreement and payable in April of 2025. The prorated bonus will be calculated according to Advisor’s 2024
executive bonus structure (excluding the commissions component), with the 2025 targets as approved by the Compensation
Committee. Attainment of the targets will be based on the Company’s performance for the first three months of 2025.

4) Continued Equity Vesting. All existing unvested restricted stock unit (“RSU”) and performance-based restricted stock unit
(“PSU”) awards (together, the “Equity Awards”) which have previously been awarded to Advisor prior to the Effective Date
of this Advisor Agreement will continue vesting for the duration of the Term. Upon termination of this Advisor Agreement
for any reason, such Equity Awards will cease vesting.

a) The settlement of Advisor’s vested RSUs and PSUs will continue to be governed by the terms and conditions of the
applicable RSU and PSU award agreements, Mobo Systems, Inc. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, Olo Inc. 2015 Equity
Incentive Plan, and Olo Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Equity Award Agreements”), each as amended from
time to time.

b) Advisor is advised to seek tax guidance from Advisor’s personal tax advisors with regard to the potential change in
tax treatment of Advisor’s vested RSUs and PSUs. The Company may withhold taxes and other amounts in
connection with
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Advisor’s equity vesting as the Company deems necessary to comply with applicable law. Continued vesting of the
Equity Awards shall not alter or affect Advisor’s status as an independent contractor beginning on the Effective Date.

c) The Parties agree that for purposes of determining the number of RSUs and PSUs that will be settled to Advisor upon
vesting, Advisor will be considered to have vested only up to the earlier of March 31, 2025, or the date of termination
of the Advisor Agreement.

12



Exhibit 19.1

Olo Inc.

Insider Trading Policy

Approved by the Board of Directors
December 30, 2024

Policy Principles

1. Personnel of Olo Inc. or its subsidiaries (“Olo”) are responsible for understanding the obligations that come with having access to
material nonpublic information and wanting to transact in Olo securities or the securities of other publicly traded companies.

2. Olo personnel who are aware of material nonpublic information relating to Olo or another publicly traded company may not engage in
transactions in such company’s securities except as permitted by this policy and applicable law.

3. Olo personnel may not disclose material nonpublic information outside of Olo unless the disclosure is made in accordance with a
specific Olo policy that authorizes such disclosure.

4. Olo personnel may not disclose material nonpublic information to persons within Olo whose jobs do not require them to have that
information.

5. Olo personnel may not recommend the purchase or sale of any Olo securities.

6. Changes to this policy require approval by Olo’s Board of Directors or a duly appointed committee of the Board of Directors.

Policy Q&A

Policy Scope and Purpose

Q:     Why have an insider trading policy?

A:         During the course of your relationship with Olo, you may receive material information that is not yet publicly available (“material
nonpublic information”) about Olo or other companies with which Olo has business relationships. Material nonpublic information may
give you, or someone to whom you pass that information, a leg up over others when deciding whether to buy, sell, or otherwise transact
in Olo’s securities or the securities of another publicly traded company. This policy sets forth guidelines with respect to transactions in
Olo securities or the securities of another publicly traded company by persons subject to this policy.

Q:     Who is subject to this policy?

A:     This policy applies to you and all other employees, directors, contractors, and designated consultants of Olo. This policy also applies to
members of your immediate family, persons with whom you share a household, persons who are your economic dependents, and, unless
otherwise determined by Olo, any other individuals or entities whose transactions in securities you influence, direct, or control
(including, e.g., a venture or other investment fund, if you influence, direct, or control transactions by the fund). However, this Policy
does not apply to any entity that
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invests in securities in the ordinary course of its business (e.g., a venture or other investment fund) if (and only if) such entity has
established its own insider trading controls and procedures in compliance with applicable securities laws with respect to trading in the
Company’s securities. The foregoing persons who are deemed subject to this policy are referred to in this policy as “Related Persons.”
You are responsible for making sure that your Related Persons comply with this policy.

    In addition, if you are an officer or director of the Company, or an employee or designated consultant of the Company described on Appendix
A (“Specified Personnel”), you and your Related Persons are subject to the quarterly trading blackout periods described below.

Q:     Whose responsibility is it to comply with this policy?

A:     Persons subject to this policy have ethical and legal obligations to maintain the confidentiality of information obtained in connection with
its services for Olo and to not engage in transactions in Olo’s securities or the securities of other publicly traded companies while aware
of material nonpublic information. Each individual is responsible for making sure that he or she and his or her Related Persons comply
with this policy. In all cases, the responsibility for determining whether an individual is aware of material nonpublic information rests
with that individual, and any action on the part of Olo or any employee or director of Olo pursuant to this policy (or otherwise) does not
in any way constitute legal advice or insulate an individual from liability under applicable securities laws. You could be subject to severe
legal penalties and disciplinary action by Olo for any conduct prohibited by this policy or applicable securities laws.

Q:     What transactions are subject to this policy?

A:        This policy applies to all transactions in securities issued by Olo or securities of other publicly traded companies, as well as derivative
securities that are not issued by Olo, such as exchange-traded put or call options or swaps relating to Olo’s securities. Accordingly, for
purposes of this policy, the terms “trade,” “trading,” and “transactions” include not only purchases and sales of Olo’s common stock in
the public market but also any other purchases, sales, transfers, or other acquisitions and dispositions of common or preferred equity,
options, warrants, and other securities (including debt securities) and other arrangements or transactions that affect economic exposure to
changes in the prices of these securities.

Insider Trading and Material Nonpublic Information

Q:    What is insider trading?

A:     Generally speaking, insider trading is the buying or selling of stocks, bonds, futures, or other securities by someone who possesses or is
otherwise aware of material nonpublic information about the securities or the issuer of the securities or disclosing material nonpublic
information to others who may trade on the basis of that information. Insider trading also includes trading in derivatives (such as put or
call options) where the price is linked to the underlying price of a company’s stock. It does not matter whether the decision to buy or sell
was influenced by the material nonpublic information, how many shares you buy or sell, or whether it has an effect on the stock price.
Bottom line: If you are aware of material nonpublic information about Olo or another publicly traded company and you trade in Olo’s or
such other company’s securities, or you disclose material nonpublic information to others who may trade on the basis of that
information, you have broken the law.
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Q:     Why is insider trading illegal?

A:     If company insiders are able to use their confidential knowledge to their financial advantage, other investors would not have confidence in
the fairness and integrity of the market. This ensures that there is an even playing field by requiring those who are aware of material
nonpublic information to refrain from trading.

Q:     What is material information?

A:     It is not always easy to figure out whether you are aware of material nonpublic information. But there is one important factor to determine
whether nonpublic information you know about a public company is material: whether the information could be expected to affect the
market price of that company’s securities or to be considered important by investors who are considering trading that company’s
securities. If the information makes you want to trade, it would probably have the same effect on others. Keep in mind that positive
information, negative information, or even confirmation that certain information hasn’t changed, can be material.

Q:     What are examples of material information?

A:    There is no bright-line standard for assessing materiality; rather, materiality is based on an assessment of all of the facts and circumstances,
and is often evaluated by relevant enforcement authorities with the benefit of hindsight. Depending on the specific details, the following
items may be considered material nonpublic information until publicly disclosed within the meaning of this policy. There may be other
types of information that would qualify as material information as well; use this list merely as a non-exhaustive guide:

● financial results or forecasts;

● acquisitions, dispositions or other strategic transactions;

● events regarding our securities (e.g., repurchase plans, stock splits, public or private equity or debt offerings, or changes in our
dividend policies or amounts);

● major contracts or contract cancellations;

● gain or loss of a significant customer;

● pricing changes;

● new product releases;

● significant product problems or security incidents; and

● top management or control changes;

● financial restatements or significant writeoffs;

● employee layoffs;
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● a disruption in Olo’s operations or breach or unauthorized access of its property or assets, including its facilities or information
technology infrastructure;

● proxy fights;

● actual or threatened major litigation, SEC or other investigations, or a major development in or the resolution of any such litigation
or investigation;

● impending bankruptcy;

● communications with government agencies; and

● notice of issuance of patents.

Q:     When is information considered public?

A:     The prohibition on trading when you have material nonpublic information lifts once that information becomes publicly disseminated. But
for information to be considered publicly disseminated, it must be widely disseminated through a press release, a filing with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), or other widely disseminated announcement. Once information is publicly
disseminated, it is still necessary to afford the investing public with sufficient time to absorb the information. Generally speaking,
information will be considered publicly disseminated for purposes of this policy only after two full trading days have elapsed since the
information was publicly disclosed. For example, if we announce material nonpublic information before trading begins on Wednesday,
then information would be considered to be publicly disseminated by the time trading begins on Friday; if we announce material
nonpublic information after trading ends on Wednesday, then information would be considered to be publicly disseminated by the time
trading ends on Friday. Depending on the particular circumstances, Olo may determine that a longer or shorter waiting period should
apply to the release of specific material nonpublic information. Any disclosure of nonpublic information, material or otherwise, must be
done in accordance with Olo’s Corporate Disclosure Policy.

Q:     Who can be guilty of insider trading?

A:         Anyone who buys or sells a security while aware of material nonpublic information, or provides material nonpublic information that
someone else uses to buy or sell a security, may be guilty of insider trading. This applies to all individuals, including officers, directors,
and others who don’t even work at Olo. Regardless of who you are, if you know something material about the value of a security that not
everyone knows and you trade (or convince someone else to trade) in that security, you may be found guilty of insider trading.

Q:     What if I am aware of material nonpublic information when I trade, but the reason I trade is because of something else, like to pay
medical bills?

A:         The prohibition against insider trading is absolute. It applies even if the decision to trade is not based on such material nonpublic
information. It also applies to transactions that may be necessary or justifiable for independent reasons (such as the need to raise money
for an emergency expenditure) and also to very small transactions. All that matters is whether you are aware of any material nonpublic
information relating to Olo (or another publicly traded company) at the time of the transaction.
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Q:     Do the U.S. securities laws take into account mitigating circumstances, like avoiding a loss or planning a transaction before I had
material nonpublic information?

A:     No. The U.S. federal securities laws do not recognize any mitigating circumstances to insider trading. In addition, even the appearance of
an improper transaction must be avoided to preserve Olo’s reputation for adhering to the highest standards of conduct. In some
circumstances, you may need to forgo a planned transaction even if you planned it before becoming aware of the material nonpublic
information. So, even if you believe you may suffer an economic loss or sacrifice an anticipated profit by waiting to trade, you must
wait.

Q:     What if I don’t buy or sell anything, but I tell someone else material nonpublic information and he or she buys or sells?

A:     That is called “tipping.” You are the “tipper” and the other person is called the “tippee.” If the tippee buys or sells based on that material
nonpublic information, both you and the “tippee” could be found guilty of insider trading. In fact, if you tell family members who tell
others and those people then trade on the information, those family members and the “tippee” might be found guilty of insider trading
too. To prevent this, you may not discuss material nonpublic information about the company with anyone outside Olo, including
spouses, family members, friends, or business associates (unless the disclosure is made in accordance with Olo’s policies regarding the
protection or authorized external disclosure of information regarding Olo). This includes anonymous discussions on the internet about
Olo or companies with which Olo does business.

    You can be held liable for your own transactions, as well as the transactions by a tippee and even the transactions of a tippee’s tippee. For
these and other reasons, no employee, director, or designated consultant of Olo (or any other person subject to this policy) may either
(a) recommend to another person that they buy, hold, or sell Olo’s securities or the securities of another publicly traded company at
any time or (b) disclose material nonpublic information to persons within Olo whose jobs do not require them to have that material
nonpublic information, or outside of Olo to other persons (unless the disclosure is made in accordance with Olo’s policies regarding
the protection or authorized external disclosure of information regarding Olo).

Q:     What if I don’t tell someone inside information itself; I just tell him or her whether to buy or sell?

A:     That is still tipping, and you can still be responsible for insider trading. You may never recommend to another person that they buy, hold, or
sell securities or any derivative security of Olo or any publicly traded company while in possession of material nonpublic information,
since that could be a form of tipping.

Q:     Does this policy or the insider trading laws apply to me if I work outside the U.S.?

A:        Yes. The same rules apply to U.S. and foreign employees and consultants. The SEC (the U.S. government agency in charge of investor
protection), and the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (a private regulator that oversees U.S. securities exchanges) routinely
investigate trading in a company’s securities conducted by individuals and firms based abroad. In addition, as an Olo director, employee,
or consultant, our policies apply to you no matter where you work.
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Q:     Am I restricted from trading securities of any companies other than Olo, for example a customer or competitor of Olo?

A:     Yes. U.S. insider trading laws generally restrict everyone aware of material nonpublic information about a company from trading in that
company’s securities, regardless of whether the person is directly connected with that company, except in limited circumstances.
Therefore, if you have material nonpublic information related to another company, you should not trade in that company’s securities or
give trading advice about that company, tip or disclose that information, pass it on to others, or engage in any other action to take
advantage of that information. You should be particularly conscious of this restriction if, through your position at Olo, you sometimes
obtain sensitive, material information about other companies and their business dealings with Olo.

Q:     So when can I buy or sell my Olo securities?

A:     If you are aware of material nonpublic information, you may not buy or sell Olo common stock until two full trading days have elapsed
since the information was publicly disclosed. At that point, the information is considered publicly disseminated for purposes of our
insider trading policy. For example, if we announce material nonpublic information before trading begins on Wednesday, then you may
execute a transaction in our securities on Friday; if we announce material nonpublic information after trading ends on Wednesday, then
you may execute a transaction in our securities on Monday. Even if you are not aware of any material nonpublic information, you
may not trade our common stock during any trading “blackout” period that applies to you. This insider trading policy describes
the quarterly trading blackout period, and additional event-driven trading blackout periods (which may apply to you even if the quarterly
trading blackout periods do not) may be announced by email.

Blackout Periods

Q:     What is a quarterly trading blackout period?

A:        To minimize the appearance of insider trading among our officers, directors, Specified Personnel, and their Related Persons, we have
established “quarterly trading blackout periods” during which they—regardless of whether they are aware of material nonpublic
information or not—may not conduct any trades in Olo securities. That means that, except as described in this policy, all officers,
directors, Specified Personnel, and their Related Persons will be able to trade in Olo securities only during limited open trading window
periods that generally will begin after two full trading days have elapsed since the public dissemination of Olo’s annual or quarterly
financial results and end at the beginning of the next quarterly trading blackout period. Of course, even during an open trading window
period, you may not (unless an exception applies) conduct any trades in Olo securities if you are otherwise in possession of material
nonpublic information.

Q:     What are Olo’s quarterly trading blackout periods?

A:    Each “quarterly trading blackout period” will generally begin at the end of the day that is the 15  day of the third month of each fiscal
quarter and end after two full trading days have elapsed since the public dissemination of Olo’s financial results for that quarter.

Q:     Can Olo’s quarterly trading blackout periods change?

th
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A.     The quarterly trading blackout period may commence early or may be extended if, in the judgment of the Chief Financial Officer or Chief
Legal Officer, there exists undisclosed information that would make trades by Olo officers, directors, Specified Personnel, or their
Related Persons inappropriate. It is important to note that the fact that the quarterly trading blackout period has commenced early or has
been extended should be considered material nonpublic information that should not be communicated to any other person.

Q:    Does Olo have blackout periods other than quarterly trading blackout periods?

A:     Yes. From time to time, an event may occur that is material to Olo and is known by only a few directors, officers, and/or employees. So
long as the event remains material and nonpublic, the persons designated by the Chief Financial Officer or Chief Legal Officer may not
trade in Olo’s securities. In that situation, Olo will notify the designated individuals that neither they nor their Related Persons may trade
in Olo’s securities. The existence of an event-specific trading blackout should also be considered material nonpublic information and
should not be communicated to any other person.

Q:         If I am subject to a blackout period and I have an open order to buy or sell Olo securities on the date a blackout period
commences, can I leave it to my broker to cancel the open order and avoid executing the trade?

A:         No, unless it is in connection with a 10b5-1 Trading Plan (as defined below). If you have any open orders when a blackout period
commences other than in connection with a 10b5-1 Trading Plan, it is your responsibility to cancel these orders with your broker. If you
have an open order and it executes after a blackout period commences not in connection with a 10b5-1 Trading Plan, you will have
violated this insider trading policy and may also have violated insider trading laws.

Q:    Am I subject to trading blackout periods if I am no longer an employee, director, or consultant of Olo?

A:         It depends. If your employment with Olo ends during a trading blackout period, you will be subject to the remainder of that trading
blackout period. If your employment with Olo ends on a day that the trading window is open, you will not be subject to the next trading
blackout period. However, even if you are not subject to our trading blackout period after you leave Olo, you should not trade in Olo
securities or the securities of another publicly traded company if you are aware of material nonpublic information. That restriction stays
with you as long as the information you possess is material and not publicly disseminated within the meaning of this insider trading
policy.

Q:    Are there any exceptions to this policy?

A:    There are no exceptions to this policy, except as specifically noted below.

Q:      Can I exercise options granted to me by Olo, or participate in an Olo employee stock purchase plan, during a trading blackout
period or when I possess material nonpublic information?

A:     Yes. You may purchase shares by exercising your options or participating in an Olo employee stock purchase plan, but you may not sell the
shares (even to pay the exercise price or any taxes due) during a trading blackout period or any time that you are aware of material
nonpublic
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information. To be clear, you may not effect a broker-assisted cashless exercise (because these cashless exercise transactions include a
market sale) during a trading blackout period or any time that you are aware of material nonpublic information

Q:    What tax withholding transactions are not restricted by this policy?

A:      This policy does not apply to the surrender of shares directly to Olo to satisfy tax withholding obligations as a result of the issuance of
shares upon exercise of options or settlement of restricted stock units issued by Olo. Of course, any market sale of the stock received
upon exercise or settlement of any such equity awards remains subject to all provisions of this policy whether or not for the purpose of
generating the cash needed to pay the exercise price or pay taxes.

Q:     Are mutual fund shares holding Olo common stock subject to the trading blackout periods?

A:     No. You may trade in mutual funds holding Olo stock at any time.

Q:    What are the rules that apply to 10b5-1 Automatic Trading Programs?

A:    Under Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”), any person may establish a trading plan under
which a broker is instructed to buy and sell Olo securities based on pre-determined criteria (a “Trading Plan”). So long as a Trading
Plan is properly established and amended, purchases and sales of Olo securities pursuant to that Trading Plan are not subject to this
policy. To be properly established or amended, a person’s Trading Plan must be established or amended in compliance with the
requirements of Rule 10b5-1 of the Exchange Act and any applicable 10b5-1 trading plan guidelines of Olo at a time when they were
unaware of any material nonpublic information relating to Olo and when such person were not otherwise subject to a trading blackout
period. Moreover, all Trading Plans to be adopted or amended by directors, officers, Specified Personnel, and/or their Related Persons
must be reviewed and approved by Olo in accordance with Olo’s Section 16 Compliance Program before being established to confirm
that the Trading Plan complies with all pertinent company policies and applicable securities laws. See “Pre-Clearance of Transactions in
Olo Stock” below.

Q:     Can I gift stock while I possess material nonpublic information or during a trading blackout period?

A:        You may not donate or make any other transfer of Olo securities without consideration when you are not permitted to trade unless the
donee agrees not to sell the securities until you are permitted to sell pursuant to this insider trading policy. In addition to charitable
donations or gifts to family members, friends, trusts or others, this prohibition applies to distributions to limited partners by limited
partnerships that are subject to this policy. Because of the potential for the appearance of impropriety, as a general matter gifts should
only be made when you are not in possession of material nonpublic information and not subject to a trading blackout period. For
example, charities that receive gifted stock typically immediately sell the stock into the public market, potentially subjecting you to
“tipper” liability if you were in possession of material nonpublic information at the time of the gift.

Q;     Are purchases of Olo stock in a 401(k) plan allowed by this policy?

A:     This policy does not apply to purchases of Olo’s securities in Olo’s 401(k) plan resulting from your periodic contribution of money to the
plan pursuant to your payroll deduction election. This
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policy does apply, however, to certain elections you may make under the 401(k) plan, including: (a) an election to increase or decrease
the percentage of your periodic contributions that will be allocated to the Olo stock fund; (b) an election to make an intra-plan transfer of
an existing account balance into or out of the Olo stock fund; (c) an election to borrow money against or receive a distribution from your
401(k) plan account if the loan or distribution will result in a liquidation of some or all of your Olo stock fund balance; and (d) an
election to pre-pay a plan loan if the pre-payment will result in allocation of loan proceeds to the Olo stock fund.

Margin Accounts, Pledging Shares, Hedging and Other Speculation in Olo Stock

Q:     Can I purchase Olo securities on margin or hold them in a margin account?

A:     No. “Purchasing on margin” is the use of borrowed money from a brokerage firm to purchase our securities. Holding our securities in a
margin account includes holding the securities in an account in which the shares can be sold to pay a loan to the brokerage firm. You
may not purchase our common stock on margin or hold it in a margin account at any time.

Q:     Can I pledge my Olo shares as collateral for a loan?

A:     No. Pledging your shares as collateral for a loan could cause the pledgee to transfer your shares during a trading blackout period or when
you are otherwise aware of material nonpublic information. As a result, you may not pledge your shares as collateral for a loan.

Q:     What is problematic about margin accounts and pledged securities?

A:     Securities held in a margin account as collateral for a margin loan may be sold by the broker without the customer’s consent if the customer
fails to meet a margin call. Similarly, securities pledged (or hypothecated) as collateral for a loan may be sold in foreclosure if the
borrower defaults on the loan. Because a margin sale or foreclosure sale may occur at a time when the pledgor is aware of material
nonpublic information or otherwise is not permitted to trade in Olo’s securities, Olo employees, directors, and designated consultants are
prohibited from holding Company securities in a margin account or otherwise pledging Olo’s securities as collateral for a loan.

Q:     Can I hedge my ownership position in Olo?

A:        No. Hedging or monetization transactions, including through the use of financial instruments such as prepaid variable forwards, equity
swaps, collars, and exchange funds are prohibited by this insider trading policy. Since such hedging transactions allow you to continue to
own Olo’s securities obtained through employee benefit plans or otherwise, but without the full risks and rewards of ownership, you may
no longer have the same objectives as Olo’s other shareholders. Therefore, this insider trading policy prohibits you from engaging in any
such transactions.

Q:    Why are hedging transactions prohibited?

A:     Such transactions may permit a person subject to this policy to continue to own Olo’s securities obtained through employee benefit plans or
otherwise, but without the full risks and rewards of ownership. When that occurs, the person may no longer have the same objectives as
Olo’s other stockholders. Therefore, all persons subject to this policy are prohibited from engaging in any such transactions.
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Q:     Am I allowed to trade derivative securities of Olo’s common stock?

A:     No. You may not trade in derivative securities related to our common stock, which include publicly traded call and put options. In addition,
you may not engage in short selling of our common stock at any time.

Q:    What are derivative securities?

A:     “Derivative securities” are securities other than common stock that are speculative in nature because they permit a person to leverage their
investment using a relatively small amount of money. Examples of derivative securities include “put options” and “call options.” These
are different from employee options and other equity awards granted under our equity compensation plans, which are not derivative
securities for purposes of our policy.

Q:    What is short selling?

A:    “Short selling” is profiting when you expect the price of the stock to decline, and includes transactions in which you borrow stock from a
broker, sell it, and eventually buy it back on the market to return the borrowed shares to the broker. Profit is realized if the stock price
decreases during the period of borrowing.

Q:    Why does Olo prohibit trading in derivative securities and short selling?

A:     Many companies with volatile stock prices have adopted similar policies because of the temptation it represents to try to benefit from a
relatively low-cost method of trading on short-term swings in stock prices, without actually holding the underlying common stock, and
encourages speculative trading. We are dedicated to building stockholder value; short selling our common stock conflicts with our values
and would not be well-received by our stockholders.

Q:     What if I purchased publicly traded options or other derivative securities before I became subject to this policy?

A:     The same rules apply as for employee stock options. You may exercise the publicly traded options at any time, but you may not sell the
securities during a trading blackout period or at any time that you are aware of material nonpublic information.

Q:     What are the concerns about standing and limit orders?

A:     Standing and limit orders (except standing and limit orders under approved Trading Plans, as discussed above) create heightened risks for
insider trading violations similar to the use of margin accounts. There is no control over the timing of purchases or sales that result from
standing instructions to a broker, and as a result, the broker could execute a transaction when an Olo employee, director, or designated
consultant is in possession of material nonpublic information. Olo therefore discourages placing standing or limit orders on Olo’s
securities. If a person subject to this policy determines that they must use a standing order or limit order (other than under an approved
Trading Plan as discussed above), the order should be limited to a short duration, and the person using such standing order or limit order
is required to cancel such instructions immediately in the event restrictions are imposed on their ability to trade pursuant to the
“Quarterly Trading Blackouts” and “Event-Specific Trading Blackouts” provisions above.
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Pre-Clearance of Transactions in Olo Stock

Q:    Who is required to pre-clear and provide advance notice of transactions?

A:    In addition to the requirements above, officers, directors, and other applicable members of management who have been notified that they
are subject to pre-clearance requirements face a further restriction: Even during an open trading window, they may not engage in any
transaction in Olo’s securities without first obtaining pre-clearance of the transaction from Olo’s Chief Financial Officer or Chief Legal
Officer or their designee at least two business days in advance of the proposed transaction. He or she will then determine whether the
transaction may proceed and, if so, will direct the Compliance Coordinator (as identified in Olo’s Section 16 Compliance Program) to
help comply with any required reporting requirements under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act. Pre-cleared transactions not completed
within two business days will require new pre-clearance. Olo may choose to shorten this period.

Q:     Are individuals subject to pre-clearance required to provide advanced notice of stock option exercises?

A:         Yes. Persons subject to pre-clearance must also give advance notice of their plans to exercise an outstanding stock option to the
Compliance Coordinator. Once any transaction takes place, the officer, director, or applicable member of management must immediately
notify the Compliance Coordinator so that Olo may assist in any Section 16 reporting obligations.

Q:     What additional requirements apply to individuals subject to Section 16?

A:     Officers and directors, who are subject to the reporting obligations under Section 16 of the Exchange Act, should take care to avoid short-
swing transactions (within the meaning of Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act) and the restrictions on sales by control persons (Rule 144
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended), and should file all appropriate Section 16(a) reports (Forms  3, 4, and 5), which are
described in Olo’s Section 16 Compliance Program, and any notices of sale required by Rule 144.

Other Information

Q:    What happens if I violate our insider trading policy?

A:     Violating our policies may result in disciplinary action, which may include termination of your employment or other relationship with Olo.

Q:    What are the sanctions if I trade on material nonpublic information or tip off someone else?

A:     In addition to disciplinary action by Olo—which may include termination of employment—you may be liable for civil sanctions for trading
on material nonpublic information. The sanctions may include the return of any profit made or loss avoided as well as penalties of up to
three times any profit made or any loss avoided. Persons found liable for tipping material nonpublic information, even if they did not
trade themselves, may be liable for the amount of any profit gained or loss avoided by everyone in the chain of tippees, as well as a
penalty of up to three times that amount. In addition, anyone convicted of criminal insider trading could face prison and additional fines.
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Q:    What is “loss avoided”?

A:     If you sell common stock or a related derivative security before negative news is publicly announced, and as a result of the announcement,
the stock price declines, you have avoided the loss caused by the negative news.

Q:     Who should I contact if I have questions about our insider trading policy or specific trades?

A:     You should contact our Chief Legal Officer.

Q:     Do changes to this policy require approval by Olo’s Board of Directors?

A:    Yes. Changes to this policy require approval by Olo’s Board of Directors or a duly appointed committee of the Board of Directors.
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Appendix A

Specified Personnel
(Non-Officer Employees and Designated Consultants Subject to Quarterly Trading Blackout Periods)

All Olo employees
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LIST OF OLO INC. SUBSIDIARIES

Name of Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Omnivore Technologies, Inc. Delaware
Wisely, LLC Delaware



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-264077 and 333-264074 on Form S-3 and
Registration Statement Nos. 333-254375, 333-254377, 333-263055, 333-270015, and 333-277225 on Form S-8 of our reports dated
February 25, 2025, relating to the financial statements of Olo Inc., and the effectiveness of Olo Inc.’s internal control over financial
reporting appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
New York, New York
February 25, 2025



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a), AS ADOPTED

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Noah H. Glass, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Olo Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.



Date: February 25, 2025 By: /s/ Noah H. Glass
Noah H. Glass
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a), AS ADOPTED

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Peter Benevides, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Olo Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.



Date: February 25, 2025 By: /s/ Peter Benevides
Peter Benevides
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and Section 1350
of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350), as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2022, Noah H. Glass,
Chief Executive Officer of Olo Inc. (the “Company”), and Peter Benevides, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies that, to the best of
his knowledge:

1. The Company’s Annual Report on Form  10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, to which this certification is attached as
Exhibit 32.1 (the “Periodic Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. The information contained in the Periodic Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

Date: February 25, 2025

/s/ Noah H. Glass
Noah H. Glass
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Peter Benevides
Peter Benevides
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)

This certification accompanies the Annual Report on Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is
not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act (whether made before or
after the date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.


